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PROSPECTUS 

NHST Media Group AS 

A Norwegian private limited liability company with registration number 914 744 121 

Rights issue of up to 312,500 Offer Shares in NHST Media Group AS at an Offer Price of NOK 160 per 

share and with a Subscription Period from 10 June 2020 to 24 June 2020  

This prospectus (the "Prospectus") has been prepared in connection with a share issue by NHST Media Group AS 

("NHST" or the "Company", and taken together with its subsidiaries, the "NHST Group" or the "Group") of up to 

312,500 new shares in the Company, each with a par value of NOK 10 (the "Offer Shares"), at a subscription price 

of NOK 160 per Offer Share raising gross proceeds of up to NOK 50,000,000 (the "Rights Issue"). The Rights Issue 

is directed towards the Company's shareholders as of 5 June 2020 as registered in the Norwegian Central Securities 

Depository (the "VPS") on 9 June 2020 (the "Record Date") pursuant to the two days' settlement procedure in VPS 

(the "Shareholders").  

The Shareholders will be granted non-transferable subscription rights (the "Subscription Rights") in the Rights 

Issue that, subject to certain limitations based on applicable laws and regulations, provide a right to subscribe for, 

and be allocated, Offer Shares at the Subscription Price. The Shareholders will be granted one (1) subscription right 

for every 3.9781 existing shares rounded down to the nearest whole subscription right. Each Subscription Right will, 

subject to certain limitations based on applicable laws and regulations, give the right to subscribe for, and be 

allocated, one Offer Share. Over-subscription is permitted, but subscription without Subscription Rights is not 

permitted. 

The Subscription period for the Offer Shares commences on or about 10 June 2020 and expires on or about 24 June 

2020 at 16:00 hours (CEST) (the "Subscription Period"), subject to any extensions. The subscription price per 

Offer Share (the "Offer Price") is NOK 160. 

Bonheur ASA, Must Invest AS, Falck Frås AS, Gunvor Røed, Amble Investment AS, AS Straen and M&G Invest AS 

(collectively the "Underwriters") have committed to subscribe for the number of Offer Shares covered by its 

Subscription Rights (84.7% of the total number of Subscription Rights) and has underwritten the remaining part of 

the Rights Issue. 

The Offer Shares will when issued be registered in the VPS in book-entry form and are expected to be delivered to 

the subscriber's VPS account on or about 7 July 2020. The Company's shares (the "Shares") are not subject to public 

trading. The Offer Shares will have equal rights and rank pari passu with the Company's Shares. 

Investing in the Company's Shares, including the Offer Shares, involves a high degree of risk. See Section 

7 "Risk factors". 

2 June 2020 

This Prospectus is a national prospectus (Norwegian: nasjonalt prospekt) and has been registered with the Norwegian Register of 

Business Enterprises in accordance with section 7-8 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act for reasons of public verifiability, but 

neither the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway (Norwegian: Finanstilsynet) (the "Norwegian FSA") nor any other public 

authority has carried out any form of review, control or approval of the Prospectus. This Prospectus does not constitute an EEA-

prospectus, as defined in section 7-1 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. 
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

This prospectus dated 2 June 2020 (the "Prospectus") has been prepared by NHST in connection with the Rights 

Issue. The Prospectus has been prepared to comply with the Norwegian Securities Trading ACT of 29 June 2007 no. 

75 (the "Norwegian Securities Trading Act") section 7-7 and related legislation and regulations. The Prospectus 

has been prepared solely in the English language. The Prospectus has not been approved by the Norwegian FSA or 

any other public authority, but has been registered with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises for reasons 

of public verifiability, pursuant to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act section 7-8. The Prospectus is not subject to, 

and has not been prepared to comply with the EU Prospectus Regulation (Regulation 2017/1129 of the European 

Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017) and related legislation. 

Prospective investors are expressly advised that an investment in the Offer Shares entails a high degree 

of risks and that they should therefore read this Prospectus in its entirety, including but not limited to 

Section 7 "Risk factors", when considering an investment in the Offer Shares. The contents of this 

Prospectus are not to be construed as legal, financial or tax advice. Each reader should consult his, her 

or its own legal advisor, independent financial advisor or tax advisor for legal, financial or tax advice. 

In making an investment decision, prospective investors must rely on their own examination, and analysis of, and 

enquiry into the Group and the terms of the Rights Issue, including the merits and risks involved. Neither the 

Company nor any of its representatives or advisors is making any representation to any subscriber of the Offer 

Shares regarding the legality of an investment in the Offer Shares by such subscriber under the laws applicable to 

such subscriber. 

Prospective investors should assume that the information appearing in the Prospectus is accurate only as at the date 

on the front cover of the Prospectus, regardless of the time of delivery of the Prospectus or the Offer Shares. The 

business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects of the Company could have changed materially 

since that date. The Company expressly disclaims any duty to update this Prospectus except as required by applicable 

law. Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor any sale made hereunder shall under any circumstances imply that 

there has been no change in the Company’s affairs or that the information set forth in this Prospectus is correct as 

at any date subsequent to the date hereof. 

All inquiries relating to this Prospectus must be directed to the Company. No other person is authorised to give 

information, or to make any representation, in connection with the Rights Issue or this Prospectus. If any such 

information is given or made, it must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Company or its advisors. 

No action has been, or will be, taken in any jurisdiction other than Norway by the Company that would permit an 

offering of the Offer Shares, or the possession or distribution of any documents relating thereto, or any amendment 

or supplement thereto, in any country or jurisdiction where specific action for such purpose is required. Accordingly, 

this Prospectus may not be used for the purpose of, and does not constitute, an offer to sell or issue, or a solicitation 

of an offer to buy or apply for, any securities in any jurisdiction in any circumstances in which such offer or solicitation 

is not lawful or authorised. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus may come are required by the Company 

to inform themselves about and to observe such restrictions. The Company shall not be responsible or liable for any 

violation of such restrictions by prospective investors. 

The securities described herein have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 

1933 as amended (the "U.S. Securities Act"), or with any securities authority of any state of the United 

States. Accordingly, the securities described herein may not be offered, pledged, sold, resold, granted, 

delivered, allotted, taken up, or otherwise transferred, as applicable, in the United States, except in 

transactions that are exempt from, or in transactions not subject to, registration under the U.S. Securities 

Act and in compliance with any applicable state securities laws.  

The Prospectus and the Rights Issue are subject to Norwegian Law. Any dispute arising in respect of or in connection 

with this Prospectus or the Rights Issue is subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts with Oslo 

District Court as legal venue in the first instance.  
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2 GENERAL INFORMATION 

2.1 Third Party Information 

Certain Sections of this Prospectus contain reproduction of information sourced from third parties. To the best 

knowledge of the Company, such third-party information has been accurately reproduced. As far as the Company is 

aware and able to ascertain from information published by the relevant third party, no facts have been omitted which 

would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. 

2.2 Forward-looking information 

This Prospectus contains forward-looking statements relating to, inter alia, the business, strategy, the potential 

benefits of the Company's products, future operations, future progress and timing of development and 

commercialisation activities, future size and characteristics of the markets that could be addressed by the Company's 

products, expectations related to the use of proceeds from the Rights Issue, future financial performance results, 

projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of the Company and/or the industry in which it operates.  

Forward-looking statements concern future circumstances and results and other statements that are not historical 

facts, and may be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as the terms "anticipate", "assume", 

"believe", "can", "could", "estimate”, ”expect", "forecast", "intend", "may", "might", "plans", "should", "projects", 

"will", "would", "seek to" or, in each case, their negative, or similar expressions. Such forward-looking statements 

involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause the actual results, performance 

or achievements of the Group, or, as the case may be, the industry, to materially differ from any future results, 

performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking 

statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Group's present and future business strategies and 

the environment in which the Group will operate. 

Prospective investors in the Shares are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future 

performance and that the Group's actual financial position, operating results and liquidity, and the development of 

the industry in which the Group operates, may differ materially from those made in, or suggested, by the forward-

looking statements contained in this Prospectus. The Company cannot guarantee that the intentions, beliefs or 

current expectations upon which its forward-looking statements are based will occur. Neither the Company nor any 

of its officers or employees provide any assurance that the assumptions underlying such forward-looking statements 

are free from errors, nor does any of them accept any responsibility for the future accuracy of the opinions expressed 

in this Prospectus or the actual occurrence of the forecasted developments. The Company assumes no obligation, 

except as required by law, to update any forward-looking statements or to conform these forward-looking statements 

to its actual results. Given the aforementioned uncertainties, prospective investors are cautioned not to place undue 

reliance on any of these forward-looking statements. 
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3 PRESENTATION OF THE COMPANY AND ITS BUSINESS 

3.1 About NHST Media Group AS 

The Company's legal and commercial name is NHST Media Group AS. 

NHST is a Norwegian private limited liability company, registered in the Norwegian Registry of Business Enterprises 

with registration number 914 744 121 and LEI number 549300NO0PQLN5HQD409, subject to the Norwegian Private 

Limited Company Act.  

The Company was incorporated on 1 January 1980, under the previous name "A/S Norges Handels og 

Sjøfartstidende". On 2 February 2007, the name was changed to "NHST Media Group AS". NHST's registered office 

is at Christian Krohgs gate 16, N.0186 Oslo, Norway, and its postal address is Postboks 1182 Sentrum, N-0107 Oslo. 

The Company's telephone number is + 47 22 00 10 00. 

The Company's business, as stated in the articles of association, is to be an independent publishing house with a 

primary focus on industry and commerce related publications and related activities with the main purpose to promote 

the interest of business.  

3.2 Overview of the Group's business 

3.2.1 General  

The NHST Group is a Norwegian media group that owns and operates business-oriented Norwegian and international 

publications, a digital public relations ("PR") and communications platform and a company providing media 

monitoring services. The Group's headquarters are located in Oslo, Norway. The business is operated through 

subsidiaries in Norway and abroad. Below is an overview of the Group's structure reflecting that during May-June 

2020 the Group will transfer the ownership of Mention SAS from Mynewsdesk AS to NHST Media Group AS and 

transfer all operating entities under the Mynewsdesk umbrella to Mynewsdesk AB. All companies are 100% owned 

subsidiaries unless specified with % of ownership. The Norwegian publication segment is marked in light blue, global 

publications are marked in navy and the SaaS segment is marked in red and yellow. Companies without operations 

are marked in grey.  

 

The NHST Group aims to be the best and leading provider of business news in Norway and a world leader in the  

market segments shipping, seafood, and energy. All of the Group's publications are to be characterised by journalistic 

thoroughness and quality, as well as by an ability to find exclusive news that will surprise and involve its users. 

NHST is continuously developing its products and services. In the last years the main focus of the development has 

been a shift from paper-based publications towards digital solutions. Digital solutions are being developed both in 
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relation to the Group's publications and through further development and expansion of the global Software-as-a-

Service ("SaaS") segment of the Group. See Section 3.3 "Material events in the Group the las two years" for further 

information about the business development of the Group.  

The three business segments of the Group are Norwegian publications, global publications and SaaS, as described in 

further detail below under Section 3.2.2 "The Company's products".  

3.2.2 The Company's products 

3.2.2.1 Norwegian Publications 

The Norwegian publication segment consists of the daily newspaper Dagens Næringsliv ("DN") and the weekly 

newspaper Morgenbladet. Both publications are distributed both on paper and digitally. 

DN is the flagship publication of the Group and represented about 54% of the total turnover of the Group in 2019. 

DN is the leading business newspaper in Norway, following key players and companies in the financial and business 

sectors. The publication includes the weekend magazines D2 and Magasinet. DN has a broad editorial focus, covering 

business, finance and politics with the main focus on Norway. DN has won the SKUP-prize (the Norwegian equivalent 

to the Pulitzer prize) two out of the last three years for investigative journalism.   

During 2019, DN went through a major reorganization aiming to ensure better utilization of editorial resources, speed 

up the development of digital products and improve the offering to selected audience target groups. In parallel, DN 

experienced a sharp drop in advertising revenues and responded with a cost reduction program, including manning 

reductions of around 25 positions in both editorial and commercial functions. 

In January and February 2020, DN had a positive development in both income and profit compared to the same 

period in 2019. Following the impact from the COVID-19 pandemic since March, advertising revenues have fallen 

significantly, while user revenues have grown well. 

Morgenbladet is a weekly Norwegian independent newspaper publishing daily digital updates with its main focus on 

politics, culture and research, leading in its fields.  

Morgenbladet also implemented a cost reduction program in 2019, including a manning reduction involving 8 

employees. Morgenbladet also experienced a decline in advertising revenues in early 2020, but for Morgenbladet, 

advertising is less important as a source of revenue compared to the other NHST Group publications. Stable 

subscription revenues, increased press subsidy and a reduced cost base all contributed to an improved financial 

performance in the first quarter of 2020.   

On 2 June 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with Mentor Medier AS to sell its shareholding in 

Morgenbladet. For further information see Section 3.3 below.  

3.2.2.2 Global Publications 

The global publications segment includes publications within the following three sectors: shipping, energy and 

seafood.  

The shipping section consists of TradeWinds, a leading shipping news provider, and the flagship within the NHST 

Group's global publications. 

The energy section includes the Group's news publications covering the energy area globally and nationally, and 

consists of three newspapers:  

• Upstream is a weekly published newspaper and is the world's leading paid-for oil and gas industry 

publication.  

• Recharge is an important provider of news in the field of renewable energy and is increasingly 

recognized globally.  

• Europower provides quality news and market analysis in Norwegian to players in and around the power 

and energy industries in Norway.  
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The seafood section includes news publications that cover fisheries, aquaculture and seafood internationally and in 

Norway. The seafood section includes the following publications: 

• Intrafish.com, a publication providing quality information for the seafood, fish farming and fishing 

industry worldwide. 

• Fiskeribladet, Norway's largest news provider for fisheries and aquaculture covering the Nordic countries, 

Russia and the main seafood markets of the world. 

• Intrafish.no, a publication covering the aquaculture market in Norwegian.   

• Tekfisk covers research and technology within the seafood industry, in cooperation with Intrafish and 

Fiskeribladet. 

The global publications segment has during the last two years performed an extensive uplift of digital platforms, 

enabling a significant growth of digital subscribers and readers. This is an important foundation for the future growth 

of subscription and digital advertising revenue. 

The changes have been supported by organisational changes, where the English language brands are now supported 

by shared subscriptions- marketing- and event teams, providing scale economies. Singapore, Stamford, London and 

Oslo have been the main prioritized offices for building new centralized functions.    

The main objective for the global publications is to increase digital subscription and advertisement revenues through 

outstanding journalism and analysis. Since the outbreak of the corona-virus, the global publications segment have 

already launched 8 different events and digital webinars from the common event-department across all brands. 

Global publication will continue to use this platform to improve the meeting places for the various industries by 

introducing new events and ensuring that the Group's editorial brands continue to be the focal points of these 

industries.   

3.2.2.3 Software-as-a-Service  

The Group's SaaS business segment includes the subsidiaries Mynewsdesk AB ("Mynewsdesk") and Mention 

Solutions SAS ("Mention") and their subsidiaries.  

Mynewsdesk, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, was founded in 2003 and is headquartered in Stockholm, 

Sweden. Mynewsdesk offers its clients a digital PR and communication platform with associated services. The market 

is primarily focused on the Nordic region, Germany, Austria and Switzerland (the DACH countries). Mynewsdesk had 

a total of approximately 4,300 customers at the end of the first quarter 2020. Mynewsdesk successfully completed 

a significant turnaround, reducing the cost base by MSEK 50 during the first half of 2019. During the first quarter of 

2020 Mynewsdesk had its biggest product launch in the history of the company. A new permanent CEO, Louise 

Barnekow, was hired in September 2019.    

Mention, founded in 2012, provides a media monitoring application with a main focus on social media. The product 

lets the user scour the web, social media and more for market insights. By monitoring the web, social media, forums, 

and blogs users can gain insight and learn more about their brand, product or industry; live from anywhere. Mention 

is headquartered in Paris, France, and has a global market focus. Mention focuses on small and medium sized 

businesses and had a total of approximately 3,000 paying customers globally, concentrated on Europe and North 

America, at the end of the first quarter 2020. A new permanent CEO, Jean-Philippe Baert, was hired in November 

2019. The company is currently going through a restructuring, and the plan is to be profitable by the end 2020. 

3.2.3 Market overview 

3.2.3.1 General 

The NHST Group is mainly involved in two markets: i) the market for business-oriented news, and ii) the market for 

PR distribution and media monitoring services.  

The following are the main general characteristics of the markets that the Group is involved in: 

• The markets are predominantly business to business markets 

• User revenues - predominantly subscriptions - make up an increasing share of revenues and comprised 

78% of total revenues in Q1 2020 
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• Digital revenues are growing and paper-based revenues are declining both for user revenues and 

advertising revenues 

3.2.3.2 The publications market 

Publication revenues are generated from two principal sources: subscriptions and advertising.  

The publication market has the last decade been characterised by changing business models, both globally and in 

Norway. Newspaper circulation figures have fallen – mainly due to a consistent migration of news consumption from 

printed papers to online news services – leading to a reduction in copy sales revenues. This has led to a distinct shift 

to and growth in digital publications and solutions. However, the growth in digital revenues in the publishing market 

does not fully compensate for the decline in print revenues for the industry.  

The level of competition in business journalism is rising in Norway, and several competitors have recently announced 

planned investments within this market segment.  

Nevertheless, subscription revenues in total have historically been relatively stable and not very exposed to short 

term swings in demand and economic activity. 

The number of digital subscriptions has grown rapidly the past years, and for the NHST Group the revenues from 

digital subscribers grew considerably in 2019. The revenues from paper based and combined subscriptions, on the 

contrary, have decreased, in correspondence with the general trend.  

Advertising, both in paper publications and in online publications, is highly sensitive to the general economic climate 

both globally and in the various economies where the Group is selling its products.  

The market for advertising, in particular paper-based advertising, has shown a negative development the last years 

and the Group experienced a significant drop in advertising revenues during 2019. This was the main reason for 

several cost reductions programs implemented in 2019.  

The advertising market, which traditionally has been an important source of revenue for printed media, is 

characterised by competition from international competitors with a strong position in digitally distributed advertising.  

3.2.3.3 The market for PR distribution and media monitoring  

Mynewsdesk and Mention are both engaged in the market broadly described as "marketing technology", providing 

services to commercial customers for distributing news and PR, measuring the impact of PR and generally monitoring 

the profile of client companies or products in media in general and in social media specifically.  

Mynewsdesk mainly operates in the market for PR distribution and services. The PR market is consistently changing, 

and throughout the last years, several new platforms and channels for distributing PR have emerged, such as social 

media, blogs, and influencers. The geographical focus of Mynewsdesk is the European market, especially the Nordic 

Market. Throughout 2019, the Nordic market for PR services underwent consolidation, with several companies 

entering into acquisitions, mergers or strategic alliances, and the level of competition intensified. Mynewsdesk 

responded to this trend in the marketplace by continuing to focus on improving its product and service line-up for 

customers.   

Mention mainly engages in the market for social media monitoring and social media content publishing, a rapidly 

maturing market. Significant and rapid rise in the penetration of multiple digital platforms, growing adoption of media 

monitoring tools for marketing, communication, and industry trend analysis, expansion of social media content 

volume, increasing social media users, rising time spent on social media, growing internet penetration, huge 

investments in digital advertising, rising number of smartphone users, and increasing use of mobile phones to access 

social media will be major factors driving the global media monitoring software market.1 To maintain its market share 

and keep up with the development in the market, Mention is expanding its product suite while focusing its market 

strategy on mid-sized customers. North America and Europe are expected to have the highest market growth and 

 

1 Zion, Market Research, Global Media Monitoring Software Market Will Reach over USD 7.236 Million by 2027, 

https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2019/05/14/1823571/0/en/Global-Media-Monitoring-Software-Market-Will-Reach-

Over-USD-7-236-Million-By-2027-Zion-Market-Research.html (6 May 2020) 
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the two largest media monitoring markets in the upcoming years. Mention has a global market focus, with a majority 

of its paying customers located in North America and Europe.  

This Group's SaaS segment mainly generates revenues through service subscriptions from small and medium-sized 

companies.  

3.2.3.4 Recent developments 

Both the news markets and the PR distribution and media monitoring markets are affected by the current market 

situation and general economic climate resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. The authorities in a number of 

countries have implemented strong measures since the discovery of the virus in January 2020, which will lead to a 

lower level of economic activity globally. Thus, the activity and development in these markets in 2020 is likely to 

deviate from the trends under more stable market conditions. The demand for advertising has declined since the 

outbreak, whereas the interest in and demand for news on the COVID-19 situation and its consequences across all 

sectors of society, has been high. The markets for conferences and events, which is a sub-segment of the advertising 

market, have dropped sharply due to the COVID-19 situation. The effect on long term demand in relation to news 

media subscriptions and other areas of business, such as subscriptions in the SaaS segment, is uncertain. The 

ramifications on the Group are difficult to estimate as there is still considerable uncertainty in relation to the duration 

and extent of the outbreak of the pandemic.   

3.3 Material events in the Group the las two years 

The Group completed two large strategic transactions in 2018, i) the sale of Nautisk Forlag AS' business and ii) the 

acquisition of Mention, as described below:  

• In 2018, NHST completed the sale of Nautisk Forlag AS's business to StormGeo AS. Nautisk Forlag AS' 

business includes sale of maritime charts, electronic maritime charts, maritime GPS systems and 

electronics and maritime publications. The predecessor of Nautisk Forlag AS has been a part of the NHST 

Group for 130 years. The sale was based on indications in the market that Nautisk Forlag AS' business 

would better grow as part of StormGeo AS' business, as it would make Nautisk Forlag AS part of a broader 

maritime solutions provider. As of the completion of this transaction, the Group does no longer operate 

within the nautical business segment.  

• Mynewsdesk's acquisition of 85% of the shares in Mention was completed in August 2018. In October 

2019, Mynewsdesk acquired an additional 9.7% of the shares and now holds 94.7% of the shares in 

Mention. With respect to the remaining approximately 5%, a mutual call and put option gives Mynewsdesk 

the right and obligation to acquire these shares in 2021 at a formula-based price. The amount remaining 

from the call option is 1.1 million EUR, which is accrued for in the Group.  

Furthermore, in June 2019, NHST acquired the remaining shares (altogether 33.4%) in its subsidiary Fiskeribladet AS 

from the Norwegian Fishermen's Sales Organization, and Fiskeribladet AS is therefore now a wholly owned subsidiary 

of NHST.  

In 2019, the NHST group completed a significant reorganisation of DN. The reorganisation was implemented to 

facilitate a leaner, more responsive organisation oriented around key customer segments. A cost reductions program 

was also implemented, and all employees at DN was in September 2019 offered severance packages. A total of 25 

employees accepted the severance packages, and terminated their employment in Q4, 2019.  

The Group also implemented a cost reduction program at Morgenbladet, by offering severance packages to all the 

employees. Eight out of the 30 employees at Morgenbladet, accepted the offer and terminated their employment 

mainly during Q4, 2019.  

Mynewsdesk underwent a larger-scale restructuring in 2019. Sales activities were concentrated around the chosen 

core markets of Scandinavia and the DACH countries. The company's headcount was reduced from 215 at the 

beginning of 2019 to 143 as of 31 December 2019. This profitability initiative helped Mynewsdesk turn a loss in 2018 

around to a profit in 2019 and was the single most important factor accounting for the SaaS segment's improved 

profitability.  
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On 2 June 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with Mentor Medier AS to sell its shareholding in 

Morgenbladet. The completion of the transaction is subject to certain conditions, i.a. completion of due dilligence 

procedures and clarification of pre-emptive rights by certain other shareholders in Morgenbladet. It is expected that 

the transaction will be completed within the beginning of August 2020. The transaction is expected to result in a 

limited capital gain for the Company. 

3.4 Investments in the coming 12-months 

The Group will continue to invest in the development of digital products in both the media units and the SaaS units 

in order to respond to the trend of declining demand for paper-based publications and grow for digitally distributed 

products and services. The investment level going forward is not likely to be materially different from 2019. The 

NHST Group will also prioritise active business development in order to reinforce its position as an attractive, leading 

media company.  

3.5 Related party transactions 

The Company supplies IT, financial and management services to Group companies, which are invoiced in proportion 

to the companies' use of the services. In addition, the Group companies are charged a share of the common expenses 

proportionate with either their use of IT and/or financial services or their number of employees. Other than this, 

there are no commercial agreements with related parties. 

3.6 Material agreements 

The Company is not party to any agreement vital to the business of the Group as of the date of this Prospectus, 

other than agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business such as office lease agreements, IT service 

agreements and print and distribution agreements, which can be replaced with similar agreements from a different 

service provider should any of the agreements be terminated for any reason. 

3.7 Financial information 

3.7.1 General 

The information in this Section 3.7 "Financial information" should be read together with, and is qualified in its entirety 

by reference to, the historical consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended on 31 December 2019 and 

31 December 2018, and the interim financial statements for the three months ending 30 March 2020. 

For the financial year 2019, the NHST Group showed operating income of NOK 1,199 million and an operating result 

before depreciations and amortizations (EBITDA) of NOK 28.7 million. Included in the EBITDA are NOK 42.7 million 

of one-off restructuring costs related to manning reductions implemented during 2019 in most of the business areas. 

Excluding one offs, the EBITDA was NOK 71.3 million, corresponding to an EBITDA margin of 5.9%. The 

corresponding numbers for 2018 were an EBITDA excluding one offs of NOK 49.7 million and a margin of 3.8%. 

3.7.2 Recent developments 

Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and concerns about the global economy, there has been heightened 

uncertainty about market conditions and financial results. Thus, the focus throughout the first few months of 2020 

has been to implement measures to reduce the impact of these events on the Group's business and finances. It is 

not possible to predict the extent and duration of the outbreak of the pandemic and its impacts on the general 

economy, but the Group's activities and investments in the coming 12-month period is likely to be significantly 

impacted by this.  

During the first quarter of 2020, the main effects of COVID-19 on the financial numbers of the Group can be 

summarized as follows: 

• Demand for news was increasing as evidenced by increased traffic on the websites of the publications 

and by a significant increase in trial subscriptions, in particular digital subscriptions. 

• The advertising market started to decline in Asia early in the quarter, and both advertising and PR 

distribution dropped significantly in Europe in March 

• Consolidated revenues in Q1 were down NOK 10 million compared to last year, driven by lower 

advertising income 
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• Due to a changed market outlook for the short to medium term, goodwill related to the purchase of 

Mention in 2018 was amortised in the amount of NOK 80.6 million 

At the end of the first quarter the Group had total assets of NOK 729.6 million, net financial assets (cash less 

interest-bearing debt) of NOK 44 million and a book equity of NOK minus 20 million. The Board is of the opinion 

that the fair market values of the assets of the group clearly exceeds the liabilities and that the going concern 

assumption applied for the 2019 financial statements is still valid. 

3.7.3 Government support in Norway due to the COVID-19 pandemic 

The Norwegian Government announced government support for the media industry (the Media Package"), some 

days prior to the publication of the Revised National Budged (RNB) in May 2020, as a response to the COVID-19 

pandemic. The Media Package allows media companies which have had a total drop in total revenues of at least 20% 

in the period March 1 through June 15, 2020, as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak, to apply for compensation. The 

media companies can be compensated up to 60% of the decrease in revenue during the period, limited upwards to 

NOK 15 million. The compensation is adjusted for any layoffs by journalists and savings / support from other COVID-

19 measures (not specified). The framework for the scheme is limited upwards to NOK 300 million. If the total 

amount of the application exceeds the limit for the scheme, the companies will receive a percentage reduction in the 

compensation. The government support will be revised by the European Competition Authorities (ESA), and be 

subject to negotiations in the Norwegian Parliament during May and June 2020. A final solution is expected around 

mid-June 2020. 

For the Group, support under the Media Package is primarily relevant for DN. DN has experienced a significant drop 

in revenues in the relevant time period, and may be eligible for compensation under the Media Package. Due to the 

20% trigger level, the outcome for DN is uncertain. If DN qualifies for compensation it may receive support of up to 

NOK 15 million. No assurance can be made that DN will qualify to receive support under the Media Package or as to 

the amount DN will receive if DN is considered qualified for the Media Package.  

3.7.4 Financing and future prospects  

During April and May 2020, the Group has renegotiated the existing bank loan facility with DNB to incorporate the 

following main terms: 

• Final maturity extended by one year, to year end 2022 

• Leverage covenant suspended in 2020 

• Minimum cash covenant increased with effect in 2020  

• Absolute EBITDA covenant will apply in 2021 

• Leverage covenant re-introduced from 1 January 2022 

The Board is of the opinion, that upon successful completion of the Rights Issue and with the renegotiated loan 

facility in place, the Group has sufficient capital resources and sound liquidity. Going forward, the NHST Group will 

prioritise investments in the development of digital products, as well as active business development in order to 

reinforce its position as an attractive, leading media group.  

 

  



Prospectus – NHST Media Group AS 

 

14278409/2  14 

4 COMPANY MANAGEMENT AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

4.1 The management 

The management of the Company (the "Management") comprise the following persons:  

Name Current position 

Hege Yli Melhus Ask ................................................................  CEO (Chief Executive Officer) 

Baard Haugen ........................................................................  CFO (Chief Financial Officer) 

Petter Irgens Gustafson ...........................................................  CTO (Chief Technology Officer) 

Amund Djuve .........................................................................  

Divisions Head, Norwegian Publications and Publisher 

DN 

Trond Sundnes .......................................................................  Division Head/CEO, NHST Global Publications 

Louise Barnekow .....................................................................  Division Head/CEO, Mynewsdesk 

Helle Øverbye .........................................................................  Chief People and Communication Officer (leaving) 

4.2 Board of directors 

The Company's Board consist consists of the following persons: 

Name Current position 

Anette S. Olsen ......................................................................  Chair of the board 

Richard Olav Aa ......................................................................  Deputy chair of the board 

Anne Britt Berentsen ...............................................................  Board member 

Eva Hessen ............................................................................  Board member (employee elected) 

Espen Linderud .......................................................................  Board member (employee elected) 

Patrik Hofbauer ......................................................................  Board member 

Selin Haxha ............................................................................  Board member (employee elected) 

4.3 Other information 

None of the members of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer have during the last five 
years preceding the date of this Prospectus:  

• been presented with any convictions related to indictable offences or convictions related to fraudulent 

offences;  

• received any official public incrimination and/or sanctions by any statutory or regulatory authorities 

(including designated professional bodies) or ever been disqualified by a court from acting as a member 

of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies of a company or from acting in the management 

or conduct of the affairs of any company; or  

• been declared bankrupt or been associated with any bankruptcy, receivership, liquidation or companies 

put into administration in his capacity as a founder, director or senior manager of a company. 
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5 CORPORATE INFORMATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE SHARES 

5.1 Description of the Shares and the share capital 

The share capital of the Company as at the date of this Prospectus is NOK 12,879,250, divided into 1,287,925 Shares, 

each with a par value of NOK 10. 

5.2 Shareholder structure as per 27 May 2020 

The table below shows the 20 largest shareholders as at 27 May 2020, as registered in VPS: 

# Shareholders Number of Shares Percent 

1 Bonheur ASA ..........................................................  695,386 53.99 

2 Must Invest AS .......................................................  280,075 21.75 

3 AS Thomas Fredrik Olsen .........................................  28,290 2.20 

4 Falck Frås AS .........................................................  23,513 1.83 

5 Sjøgress AS ...........................................................  23,167 1.80 

6 Pareto Invest AS .....................................................  21,475 1.67 

7 MP Pensjon PK ........................................................  20,269 1.57 

8 Røed, Gunvor Jorunn Hammersvik ............................  15,200 1.18 

9 Amble Investment AS ..............................................  14,236 1.11 

10 DNB Livsforsikring AS ..............................................  14,144 1.10 

11 AS Straen ..............................................................  13,743 1.07 

12 Taconic AS .............................................................  12,144 0,94 

13 M&G Invest AS .......................................................  11,152 0.87 

14 Oak Management AS ...............................................  5,750 0.45 

15 Tyin AS .................................................................  4,480 0,35 

16 Belvedere AS .........................................................  3,639 0.28 

17 Fjellbakke AS .........................................................  3,292 0.26 

18 Øie, Odd Reidar ......................................................  3,234 0.25 

19 Must, Annelise Altenburg .........................................  3,150 0.24 

20 Estate of deceased Meinich, Grethe ...........................  2,800 0.22 

 Top 20 shareholders 1,199,139 93.11 

 Others 44,034 3.42 

 Treasury Stock 44,752 3.47 

 Total 1,287,925 100 

 

5.3 VPS registration of the Shares 

The Company's Shares are, and the Offer Shares will be, registered in book-entry form with the VPS under ISIN NO 

0005007807. 

5.4 Registration of the Company's Shares on NOTC 

The Company's shares was registered on NOTC on 30 June 2005. NOTC is a market place for unlisted shares, wholly 

owned by Oslo Børs ASA.  

  



Prospectus – NHST Media Group AS 

 

14278409/2  16 

6 TAXATION 

6.1 Norwegian taxation 

Set out below is a summary of certain Norwegian tax matters related to an investment in the Company. The summary 

is based on the laws in force in Norway as of the date of this Prospectus, which may be subject to any changes in 

law occurring after such date. Such changes could possibly be made on a retrospective basis. 

The following summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that may be 

relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of shares in the Company. Shareholders who wish to clarify their 

own tax situation should consult with and rely upon their own tax advisors. 

The following summary only describes the tax treatment for shareholders resident in Norway for tax purposes.  

Shareholders resident in jurisdictions other than Norway and shareholders who cease to be resident in Norway for 

tax purposes (due to domestic tax law or an applicable tax treaty) should consult with and rely upon their own tax 

advisors with respect to the tax position in their country of residence and the tax consequences related to ceasing to 

be resident in Norway for tax purposes. Please note that the tax legislation in the Company's jurisdiction of 

incorporation and the tax legislation in the jurisdictions in which the shareholders are resident for tax purposes may 

have an impact on the income received from the Shares.  

6.1.1 Taxation of dividends 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders 

Dividends distributed by the Company to shareholders who are individuals resident in Norway for tax purposes 

("Norwegian Personal Shareholders") are taxable as ordinary income in Norway for such shareholders at an 

effective tax rate of 31.68% to the extent the dividend exceeds a tax-free allowance; i.e. dividends received, less 

the tax free allowance, shall be multiplied by 1.44 which are then included as ordinary income taxable at a flat rate 

of 22%, increasing the effective tax rate on dividends received by Norwegian Personal Shareholders to 31.68%. 

The allowance is calculated on a share-by-share basis. The allowance for each share is equal to the cost price of the 

share and any excess allowance from previous years, multiplied by a determined risk free interest rate based on the 

effective rate of interest on treasury bills (Nw.: statskasseveksler) with three months maturity plus 0.5 percentage 

points, after tax. The allowance is calculated for each calendar year, and is allocated solely to Norwegian Personal 

Shareholders holding shares at the expiration of the relevant calendar year. Norwegian Personal Shareholders who 

transfer shares will thus not be entitled to deduct any calculated allowance related to the year of transfer. 

Any part of the calculated allowance one year exceeding the dividend distributed on the share ("excess allowance") 

may be carried forward and set off against future dividends received on, or gains upon realisation of, the same share. 

Any excess allowance will also be included in the basis for calculating the allowance on the same share in the following 

years. 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders 

Dividends distributed by the Company to shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain similar 

entities) resident in Norway for tax purposes ("Norwegian Corporate Shareholders"), are effectively taxed at a 

rate of currently 0.66% (3% of dividend income from such shares is included in the calculation of ordinary income 

for Norwegian Corporate Shareholders and ordinary income is subject to tax at a flat rate of 22%). For Norwegian 

Corporate Shareholders that are considered to be "Financial Institutions" under the Norwegian financial activity tax 

(banks, holding companies), the effective rate of taxation for dividends is 0.75%. 

6.1.2 Taxation of capital gains on realisation of shares 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders 

Sale, redemption or other disposal of shares is considered a realisation for Norwegian tax purposes. A capital gain 

or loss generated by a Norwegian Personal Shareholder through such disposal of shares is taxable or tax deductible 

in Norway. Such capital gain or loss is included in or deducted from the Norwegian Personal Shareholder's ordinary 

income in the year of disposal. The effective tax rate on gain or loss related to shares realised by Norwegian Personal 

Shareholders is currently 31.68%; i.e. capital gain (less the tax free allowance) and loss shall be multiplied by 1.44 

which are then included in or deducted from the Norwegian Personal Shareholder's ordinary income in the year of 
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disposal. Ordinary income is taxable at a flat rate of 22%, increasing the effective tax rate on gain/loss realised by 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders to 31.68%. 

The gain is subject to tax and the loss is tax deductible irrespective of the duration of the ownership and the number 

of shares disposed of. 

The taxable gain/deductible loss is calculated per share as the difference between the consideration for the share 

and the Norwegian Personal Shareholder's cost price of the share, including costs incurred in relation to the 

acquisition or realisation of the share. From this capital gain, Norwegian Personal Shareholders are entitled to deduct 

a calculated allowance provided that such allowance has not already been used to reduce taxable dividend income. 

Please refer to Section 6.1.1 "Taxation of dividends" (Norwegian Personal Shareholders) above for a description of 

the calculation of the allowance. The allowance may only be deducted in order to reduce a taxable gain, and cannot 

increase or produce a deductible loss, i.e. any unused allowance exceeding the capital gain upon the realisation of a 

share will be annulled. Unused allowance may not be set off against gains from realisation of other shares. 

If the Norwegian Personal Shareholder owns shares acquired at different points in time, the shares that were acquired 

first will be regarded as the first to be disposed of, on a first-in first-out basis. 

Special rules apply for Norwegian Personal Shareholders that cease to be tax-resident in Norway. 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders are exempted from tax on capital gain derived from the realisation of shares 

qualifying for Norwegian participation exemption, such as shares in a Norwegian private limited company (Nw.: 

aksjeselskaper), including shares in the Company. Loss upon the realisation and costs incurred in connection with 

the purchase and realisation of such shares are not deductible for tax purposes. 

6.1.3 Taxation of Subscription Rights 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders 

A Norwegian Personal Shareholder's subscription for shares pursuant to a subscription right is not subject to taxation 

in Norway. Costs related to the subscription for the shares will be added to the cost price of the shares.  

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders 

A Norwegian Corporate Shareholder's subscription for shares pursuant to a subscription right is not subject to taxation 

in Norway. Costs related to the subscription for the shares will be added to the cost price of the shares. 

6.1.4 Net Wealth Tax 

The value of shares is included in the basis for the computation of net wealth tax imposed on Norwegian Personal 

Shareholders. Currently, the marginal net wealth tax rate is 0.85% of the value assessed. The value for assessment 

purposes for non-listed shares is equal to 75% of the proportion of the total tax value of the Company as of 1 January 

of the year before the tax assessment year attributable to each share, on the basis of the nominal value of such 

share. Please note, however, if the share capital in the Company has been increased or reduced by payment from or 

to the Shareholders in the year before the tax assessment year, the value for assessment purposes for the shares is 

equal to 75% of the total tax value of the Company as of 1 January of the tax assessment year. When calculating 

the Company's total tax value all Company assets and debt shall be included at their full value. 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders are not subject to net wealth tax. 

6.1.5 VAT and transfer tax 

No VAT, stamp or similar duties are currently imposed in Norway on the transfer or issuance of shares. 

6.1.6 Inheritance tax 

A transfer of shares through inheritance or as a gift does not currently give rise to inheritance or gift tax in 

Norway.  
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7 RISK FACTORS 

7.1 Overview 

An investment in the Offer Shares involves inherent risk. Before making an investment decision with respect to the 

Offer Shares, investors should carefully consider the risk factors and all information contained in this Prospectus, 

including the enclosed financial statements and related notes. The risks and uncertainties described in this Section 7 

are the principal known risks and uncertainties faced by the Group as of the date hereof that the Company believes 

are the material risks relevant to an investment in the Offer Shares. An investment in the Offer Shares is suitable 

only for investors who understand the risks associated with this type of investment and who can afford to lose all or 

part of their investment. The absence of negative past experience associated with a given risk factor does not mean 

that the risks and uncertainties described herein should not be considered prior to making an investment decision in 

respect of the Offer Shares. If any of the following risks were to materialise, individually or together with other 

circumstances, they could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, financial position, 

operating results, cash flow and prospects, which may cause a decline in the value of the Shares that could result in 

the loss of all or part of any investment in the Shares. 

Prospective investors should carefully consider the risks relating to the Company, and should consult his or her own 

expert advisors as to the suitability of an investment in the Offer Shares. The order in which the risks are presented 

below is not intended to provide an indication of the likelihood of their occurrence nor of their severity or significance. 

These risks should also be considered in connection with the cautionary statement regarding forward looking 

statements set forth in Section 2.2 "Forward-looking information" above. 

7.2 Market risks 

7.2.1 Impact of current global crisis due to the outbreak of COVID-19  

The corona outbreak (COVID-19) had negative consequences for the Group in the first quarter 2020, as for many 

other businesses in Norway and around the world. The Group's publications experienced a strong growth in the 

demand for news and commentaries, resulting in increased traffic on the publications' websites and increased sale 

of digital subscriptions. However, at the same time, advertising income and revenues from sales of other commercial 

services declined significantly. The Group has implemented measures to cut cost. However, the Group's business, 

earnings and financial condition have been and will probably continue to be affected by the current crisis in the global 

markets and the deterioration in the global economic outlook. The duration and scale of the impact on various parts 

of the business of the Group is subject to high levels of uncertainty, may change over time and therefore carries 

inherent risk. The exact nature of all the risks and uncertainties the Group faces as a result of the current global 

crisis and global economic outlook due to the outbreak of COVID-19 cannot be predicted and many of these risks are 

outside the Group's control.  

7.2.2 General macroeconomic conditions  

Generally, demand for all of the products and services supplied by the Group is highly exposed to the general 

economic development. Historically, subscription revenues have been less exposed to swings in economic activity in 

the short term than advertising revenues but in general, both publication subscriptions and PR and media monitoring 

services will be affected.  

For the Norwegian publications and for several of the Group's global publications, the drop in oil price negatively 

affected the market development and contributed to the Group's negative result for the first quarter of 2020. The 

duration and scale of this impact on the Group's business, earnings and financial condition is subject to high levels 

of uncertainty and therefore carries inherent risk.  

Volatile, negative or uncertain economic or political conditions may adversely impact the Group's customers or the 

Group's employees and could therefore negatively affect the Group's business, results of operations, financial 

condition, cash flow and/or prospects. In addition, further disruption, uncertainty or volatility in share and credit 

markets may limit the Group's ability to access the capital necessary to grow its business in the future  

7.2.3 Competition  

The Group operates in a highly competitive and rapidly changing global marketplace and competes with a variety of 

organisations that offer similar services to those the Group offers. In general, the news media market has a large 

number of providers competing for the media consumption of individuals and businesses through various channels. 

The lower cost of distributing information through electronic channels (the Internet) has further increased competition 
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in recent years. However, various niches in the market (geographic or thematic) will be subject to highly different 

levels of competition.  

Due, in part, to the rapid technological change, evolving industry standards and changing needs of customers and 

users' needs and preferences, the Group's competitive landscape is changing rapidly, and as a consequence, it is 

difficult for the Company to accurately assess or predict its future competitors and competitive threats it may be 

facing. If the Group is unable to compete successfully, the Group could lose market share and customers to 

competitors, which could adversely affect the Group's business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows 

and/or prospects. 

7.3 Operating risks 

7.3.1 Lack of ability to implement the Group's strategy and business plan 

The Group’s strategic risk is mainly associated with the digitalisation process taking place in most of the Group’s 

markets. This brings about significant changes to both the business models and the products. The Group is 

experiencing reduced demand for paper-based products and declining ad revenue from traditional media. The Group 

has invested significant resources in skill and technological development in order to strengthen its commitment to 

digital products, lay the groundwork for future revenue growth and improve its competitiveness. The Group’s strategy 

of focusing on subscription-based revenue provides more predictability longer-term. The strategy is offset the short-

term risk associated with fluctuations in the sale of ads and services by focusing on multiple products and revenue 

streams. However, there can be no guarantee that the implementation of this strategy will succeed, and if it cannot, 

this in turn may adversely affect overall revenues and profitability.  

7.3.2 New business development  

New business development activities may carry strategic and execution risks that by their new nature are harder to 

mitigate and quantify in advance than those attached to the existing ongoing operations of the Group. Hence, current 

and future development projects are a source of risk.  

7.3.3 IT operating environment and risk of IT security breaches  

The Group has outsourced all IT operations to reputable outsourcing partners. Responsibility for IT architecture and 

IT systems development is in-house, but is done partly through external service providers. 

The Group may become subject to attacks from cybercriminals and the sophistication and scope of cyber-attacks has 

developed such that cyber-attacks occur on a nearly daily basis. Such rapid changes in attack vectors inherently 

result in a risk that the Group may not be able to stop the attacks despite its efforts to continually monitor and assess 

its security organisation in terms of resources and organisational muscle to adapt to the new threats. An increase in 

social hacking (e.g., unauthorised third parties attempting to gain credentials, access or information through direct 

personal interaction with the Group's employees) creates a risk for the Group. Human error by the Group's personnel 

poses a constant risk and the Group's efforts in awareness training and process improvements are unlikely to remove 

all risk for negative consequences of human error.  

IT security breaches could lead to shutdowns or disruptions of the Group's systems and potential unauthorised 

disclosure of confidential information or data, including personal data. The Group may be required to expend 

significant capital or other resources to protect against the threat of security breaches or to alleviate problems caused 

by such breaches. IT security issues are a concern for all digital service providers and the Group, like other digital 

service providers, has had IT security breaches and other issues in the past although these have not had a significant 

or long-term adverse effect on the Group's business to date. However, there can be no assurance that IT security 

breaches and other issues in the future will not have a material impact on the Group's business or that the Group's 

procedures will be sufficient to address future IT security breaches and other issues. The Group's procedures to 

identify and respond to such events may not be sufficient and there can be no assurance that any measures that the 

Group implements will not be circumvented in the future, or that the Group will be able to successfully identify and 

prevent such IT security issues in the future. 

The theft or unauthorised use or publication of the Group's, or the Group's customers', confidential information or 

other proprietary business information as a result of an IT security incident could adversely affect the Group's 

competitive position and reputation, and reduce marketplace acceptance of the Group's services and solutions, 

whether or not the incident is ultimately determined to be the Group's fault. 



Prospectus – NHST Media Group AS 

 

14278409/2  20 

If the Group's systems are compromised resulting in reputational harm or its inability to deliver its products, this 

could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows 

and/or prospects. 

7.3.4 Print and distribution  

The Group outsources most of its printing and distribution of newspapers. Suppliers of print and distribution services, 

which are mainly other newspaper groups, therefore play a critical role in bringing these products to the customers. 

Changes in the underlying industry-wide demand for printed media or in the print and distribution strategies of any 

of the outsourcing partners, could have a significant impact on the Group's print and distribution costs.  

Disruption to the provision of such services for any reason (e.g. industrial action, lock-down) will affect operations 

and may affect operating results unless damage can be sought and are awarded.  

7.3.5 Retention of key employees 

The Group is extensively and critically reliant on skilled employees for the daily conduct of its business. The 

decentralised nature of its operations implies that the retention of key individuals in the short-term is of material 

importance to the continued functioning of parts of its business.  

The Group has endeavoured to ensure that the principal members of its management have suitable incentives, but 

the retention of such staff cannot be quarantined and the loss of their services could affect adversely the ability of 

the Group to achieve its objectives, particularly in the short-run.  

7.4 Legal risks 

7.4.1 Regulations governing operations  

The Group is subject to the rules and regulations pertaining to its media publishing activities in the jurisdictions in 

which it has a presence. In the event that the Group is unable at any time to comply with the existing regulations or 

any changes in such regulations, or any new regulations introduced by local or international bodies, the operations 

may be adversely affected. Any change in or introduction of new regulations, may increase the costs of operations, 

which could have an adverse effect on the Group's profitability.   

7.4.2 Compliance with GDPR 

Within the EU, data protection is governed by the Regulation EU 2016/679 ("GDPR") which sets out provisions on 

the requirements for processing personal data and the related data security, and specifies the responsibilities of the 

controller and the processor of personal data. Since the implementation in 2018 the Group's extensive efforts to 

comply with the GDPR has resulted in increased operational costs for the Group.  

In addition, violation of the GDPR may result in fines and customer churn, and may harm the Group's reputation in 

the market. Despite the Group's continuous efforts to comply with the GDPR, it cannot be guaranteed that the Group 

will not make any mistakes and failure to comply with the GDPR therefore poses a constant risk.  

7.4.3 Intellectual property rights  

Most of the contents published by the Group are protected by copyrights. However, publication in multiple 

jurisdictions and inability to track infringements back to source means that it will not always be cost-effective or 

feasible to seek damages for infringements in all circumstances. The risk arising from this is however unlikely to be 

material. Similarly, the Group can be subject to third party claims of infringements, and any such claim could, if 

successful, have a material adverse effect on the Group's result.  

The Group's brands are not registered trademarks in all jurisdictions in which it operates and there is therefore a risk 

of infringements taking place.  

7.4.4 Third parties may initiate legal proceedings concerning alleged defamation, libel or slander 

By nature of its investigative journalism and use of its right to expression in the wider context press freedom, the 

Group has been in the past and will likely in the future be indicted with risk having to pay financial penalties and/or 

sued for defamation, libel or slander. The Group vigorously defends its sources and right to write freely based on 

what it believes to be well founded and true information. However, it cannot be guaranteed that the Group will not 

make any mistakes and be required to pay compensation, punitive damages or fines.  
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7.4.5 The Group is subject to prevailing tax laws in every jurisdiction in which it operates and any failure to 

comply with applicable tax legislation may have a material adverse effect 

With operations in several jurisdictions, the Group is exposed to changes in tax laws, treaties or regulations or the 

interpretation or enforcement thereof in all such jurisdictions, and in certain instances, with retrospective effect. The 

Group's income tax expenses are based upon its interpretation of the tax laws in effect at the time that the expense 

is incurred. If applicable laws, treaties or regulations change, or if the Group's interpretation of the tax laws is at 

variance with the interpretation of the same tax laws by tax authorities, this could have a material adverse effect on 

the Group's business, results of operations or financial condition. 

If any tax authority successfully challenges the Group's operational structure, intercompany pricing policies, the 

taxable presence of its subsidiaries in certain countries, or if taxing authorities do not agree with the Group's and/or 

any subsidiaries' assessment of the effects of applicable laws, treaties and regulations, or the Group loses a material 

tax dispute in any country, or any tax challenge of the Group's tax payments is successful, the Group's effective tax 

rate on its earnings could increase substantially and the Group's business, earnings and cash flows from operations 

and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. Any additional tax payments could adversely 

impact the Group's margins which would impact its profitability, resulting in a material adverse effect on the Group's 

business, results of operations and financial condition. 

7.5 Financial risks 

7.5.1 General 

The Group's ability to make payments on its debt, and to fund working capital and capital expenditures, will depend 

on future operating performance and ability to generate sufficient cash flow.  

This depends, to some extent, on general economic, financial, competitive, market, legislative, regulatory and other 

factors, many of which are beyond the Group's control, as well as the other risk factors discussed and information 

given elsewhere in this Prospectus.  

If the Group's future cash flows from operations and other capital resources are insufficient to pay obligations as 

they mature or to fund liquidity needs, the Group may be obliged to reduce or delay its business activities and capital 

expenditures; sell assets; or obtain additional debt or equity capital. Any of these actions could have a material 

adverse effect on the Group's financial condition and results of operations.  

7.5.2 Currency fluctuations  

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures. 

In its Global Publications segment revenue is primarily earned in US Dollar and Euro, while the most important 

currency on the cost side of the equation is the Pound Sterling. This entails foreign currency exposure in terms of 

operational revenues and costs structures, asset recognition, net investments in foreign activities and translation 

exposure. 

A part of the Group's income and costs are in foreign currency. The exchange risk is to some degree off-set by an 

operational balance between revenue and costs in each currency.  

7.5.3 Credit risk  

The diverse customer base implies that there is no single material source of credit risk. However, a general downturn 

in financial markets and economic activity due to the COVID-19 crisis and the significant drop in oil prices can result 

in a higher volume of late payments and outstanding receivables. Even if the Group routinely seeks to recover all 

outstanding receivables, the amounts of write-offs may increase and negatively affect the financial position and 

operating results of the Group.  

7.5.4 Interest rate risk  

The Group's cash is placed mainly in NOK with short duration, and the Group is exposed to changes in the interest 

rates on these deposits as well as on the loans drawn at any time under the Company's NOK 250 million revolving 

credit facility. 
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7.5.5 Liquidity risk  

The Group's strategy of handling liquidity risk is to have sufficient cash and cash equivalents at all times to pay any 

liabilities on maturity dates. This has usually been managed out of the Group's operating cash flow. The Company's 

current bank credit facility has been in place since February 2019 to provide access to additional liquidity as needed. 

As described in Section 3.7.4 "Financing and further prospects" the Company has renegotiated the existing bank loan 

facility with DNB, who has accepted to extend the maturity with one year until the end of 2022 and certain other 

amendments to the loan agreement.  

The Company is not, at the time of the last measurement, in violation of any of the covenants, and following the 

Rights Issue, the Company expects to have a satisfactory cash and EBITDA buffer with respect to the covenants, 

provided however, that the economic conditions in 2020 do not materially differ from the assumptions in the forecast.  

7.5.6 Additional funding  

The net proceeds of the Rights Issue are intended to meet the Company's funding requirement until such time as 

sufficient cash is generated by the operations. This presumption is based on the management and Board's best 

estimates with regard to future business development at the time of the Prospectus. However, the assumptions 

underlying the financial forecast may not turn out to materialise. If there are significant deviations from the current 

forecast it cannot be excluded that the Company may need to raise further equity in the future.  

While not foreseen at present, future capital requirement may, nevertheless, arise also to fund further investments 

and could involve additional share issues or increased debt.  

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to raise such additional capital at the relevant time. A 

failure in obtaining additional funding in the future might have a significant adverse effect on the Group, and its 

ability to pursue its strategic plans, its financial conditions and its operating results.  

7.6 Risks relating to the offering  

7.6.1 The price of the Shares may be impacted by limited liquidity  

The Shares are quoted on the NOTC and are not publicly traded. The liquidity in the trading market for the Shares is 

limited, and there can be no assurance as to the liquidity of the Shares in the secondary market, the ability of the 

holders of the Shares to sell their Shares or the price at which the holders would be able to sell their Shares. The 

price quoted for the Shares may not reflect the underlying values of the Company. The holders of Shares cannot be 

certain that the market for the Shares will be active and efficient. 

7.6.2 Subscription rights  

The exercise of Subscription Rights by holders who are located in countries outside of Norway may be restricted or 

prohibited by applicable securities law.  

7.6.3 Enforceability of civil liabilities  

The Company is a private limited liability company organised under the laws of Norway. The majority of the directors 

of the Company and executives reside in Norway. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service 

of process in other jurisdictions upon such persons or the Company, to enforce against such persons or the Company 

judgements obtained in non-Norwegian courts, or to enforce judgements on such persons or the Company in other 

jurisdictions. 

7.6.4 Risks pertaining to foreign shareholders  

Foreign shareholders may be diluted if they are unable to participate in future offerings.  

Because non-Norwegian investors may be unable to participate in future offerings, their percentage shareholding, if 

they have been allotted Shares in the offering, may be diluted. Unless, otherwise resolved by the general meeting, 

shareholders in Norwegian limited liability companies such as the Company, have pre-emptive rights proportionate 

to the aggregate amount of the Shares they hold with respect to new Shares issued by the Company for payment in 

cash. For reasons relating to foreign securities laws or other factors, foreign investors may not be able to participate 

in a new issuance of Shares or other securities and may face dilution as a result.  
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7.6.5 Limitations imposed by Norwegian law 

Norwegian law may limit the shareholders' ability to bring an action against the Company.  

The Company is a private limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Norway. The rights of holders of 

Shares are governed by Norwegian law and by the articles of association. These rights differ from the rights of 

shareholders in other jurisdictions.  

In particular, Norwegian law limits the circumstances under which shareholders of Norwegian companies may bring 

derivative actions. Under Norwegian law, any action brought by a company in respect of wrongful acts committed 

against the company takes priority over actions brought by shareholders in respect of such acts. In addition, it may 

be difficult to prevail in a claim against the Company.   
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8 DESCRIPTION OF THE RIGHTS ISSUE 

8.1 Background for the Rights Issue 

The Rights Issue consists of an offer by the Company of up to 312,500 Offer Shares, each with a nominal value of 

NOK 10, at a Subscription Price of NOK 160 per Offer Share, raising up to NOK 50 million in gross proceeds.  

Through the first quarter 2020 the global COVID-19 pandemic has led to negative development and considerable 

uncertainty regarding the Group's revenue going forward, especially related to revenues from advertising and 

conference activities. In order to meet the challenging market situation and to maintain the Group's ability to continue 

its focus on quality journalism and to develop new technology and products, the Group has implemented extensive 

cost reductions and will raise new capital through the Rights Issue. The net proceeds from the Rights Issue are 

expected to be NOK 48.3 million and will primarily be used to strengthen the Group's capital base and for general 

working capital purposes.  

The Company has called for an annual general meeting to be held on 5 June 2020, whereby the General Meeting of 

the Company is expected to resolve to increase the share capital in connection with the Rights Issue by adopting the 

following resolutions: 

i) The share capital is to be increased with minimum NOK 100,000 and maximum NOK 3,125,000 by the 

issuance of minimum 10,000 and maximum 312,500 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 10. 

ii) Holders of the company’s shares as of 5 June 2020 as registered in the VPS as of 9 June 2020, shall 

have a preferential right to subscribe for the new shares, and will receive one subscription right for 

every 3.9781 share they own in the company (rounded down). The subscription rights will be non-

transferable. Over-subscription is permitted, but subscription without subscription rights is not 

permitted. Subscription rights will not be issued in respect of shares held in treasury by the company. 

iii) The subscription price in the rights issue shall be NOK 160 per new share. The deposit shall be made 

in cash. 

iv) The subscription period commences on 10 June 2020 and expires at 16:00 hours (CEST) on 24 June 

2020. The board of directors is granted an authorisation to move or extend the subscription period with 

up to four weeks. 

v) The payment for the new shares falls due on 30 June 2020. If the board of directors decide to move or 

extend the subscription period, the payment deadline will be extended accordingly. Subscribers having 

a Norwegian bank account will by signing the subscription form give DNB Bank ASA a one-time 

authorisation to debit a specified bank account in Norway for the subscription amount corresponding to 

the number of allocated shares multiplied with the subscription price. The debiting will occur on or about 

the payment day of the deposit. Subscribers not having a Norwegian bank account must ensure that 

payment is made in accordance with the instructions given in the subscription form. 

vi) The new shares will give full shareholder rights, including a right to dividend, from the time the share 

capital increase is registered with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises. 

vii) The company's articles of association shall be changed to reflect the new share capital and the new 

number of shares after the capital increase. 

viii) The allocation of the new shares will be made by the board of directors. The following allocation 

criteria shall apply: 

 

a) Allocation of shares to subscribers will be made in accordance with granted subscription rights 

which have been validly exercised during the subscription period. Each subscription right will give the 

right to subscribe for and be allocated one (1) new share. 

 

b) If not all subscription rights are validly exercised, subscribers having exercised their subscription 

rights and who have over-subscribed, will be allocated additional new shares on a pro rata basis 

based on the number of subscription rights exercised by each such subscriber. To the extent that pro 
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rata allocation is not possible, the company will determine the allocation by the drawing of lots. 

 

c) No fractional shares will be allocated. The company reserves the right to reject or reduce any 

subscription for new shares not covered by granted subscription rights. 

ix) Shares not being subscribed for and allocated to other subscribers in the rights issue by the end of the 

subscription period in accordance with item viii) will be allocated between Bonheur ASA, Must Invest 

AS, Falck Frås AS, Gunvor Røed Amble Investment AS, AS Straen og M&G Invest AS (jointly the 

"Underwriters") who have committed to subscribe for shares for a total amount of up to 50 000 000 

pursuant to an underwriting agreement that the company has entered into in connection with the rights 

issue. Such shares are to be subscribed for by the Underwriters within four working days after the 

expiration of the subscription period. 

x) Costs in connection with the rights issue, including the underwriting fee of 2% of the total underwriting 

obligation, are estimated to approximately NOK 1.7 million. 

The Rights Issue will be directed towards Shareholders as of 5 June 2020 as registered in the VPS on the Record 

Date. The Shareholders will be granted non-transferable Subscription Rights in the Rights Issue that, subject to 

certain limitations based on applicable laws and regulations, provide a right to subscribe for, and be allocated, Offer 

Shares at the Subscription Price. The Shareholders will be granted one (1) subscription right for approximately every 

3.9781 existing share rounded down to the nearest whole subscription right. Each Subscription Right will, subject to 

certain limitations based on applicable laws and regulations, give the right to subscribe for, and be allocated, one 

Offer Share. Over-subscription is permitted, but subscription without Subscription Rights is not permitted. 

Subscription Rights and Offer Shares will not be issued or sold in certain jurisdictions or to residents of certain 

jurisdictions. For further information see Section 8.14 "Selling and transfer restrictions".  

Each of Bonheur ASA, Must Invest AS, Falck Frås AS, Gunvor Røed, Amble Investment AS, AS Straen and M&G Invest 

AS (collectively the "Underwriters") has committed to subscribe for the number of Offer Shares covered by its 

Subscription Rights (84.7% of the total number of Subscription Rights) and has underwritten the remaining part of 

the Rights Issue. See Section 8.15 "The underwriting" for more information about the underwriting.  

8.2 Valuation 

The Subscription Price is NOK 160 per Offer Share. The Subscription Price has been determined on the basis of the 

volume weighted average share price from 1 January 2019, rounded down to nearest whole 10 kroners.  

8.3 Subscription of Offer Shares 

The subscriptions for Offer Shares are made on terms set out in this Prospectus and in the Subscription Form (as 

defined in Section 8.7 "Subscription procedures and Subscription offices" below). 

8.4 Time table 

Event Date 

Commencement of the Subscription Period ................................  10 June 2020 

End of the Subscription Period ..................................................  24 June 2020 

Allocation of Offer Shares.........................................................  On or about 26 June 2020 

Notification of allocation ...........................................................  On or about 26 June 

Payment date for the Offer Shares ............................................  On or about 30 June 2020 

Registration of share capital increase ........................................  On or about 7 July 2020 

Delivery of the Offer Shares in the VPS ......................................  On or about 8 July 2020 

 

The above dates are indicative and subject to change.  

8.5 Subscription Period 

The Subscription Period commences on 09:00 hours (CEST) 10 June 2020 and expires at 16:00 hours (CEST) on 24 

June 2020. The Company may at its discretion extend the Subscription Period at any time and for any reason, with 

a short notice. If the Subscription Period is extended the other dates referred to herein may be amended accordingly. 
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8.6 Participants in the Rights Issue  

The shareholders of the Company as of 5 June 2020 and being registered as such in the VPS on the Record Date, 

will be granted non-transferable Subscription Rights in the Rights Issue that, subject to certain limitations based on 

applicable laws and regulations, provide a right to subscribe for, and be allocated, Offer Shares at the Subscription 

Price based on their pro rata ownership stake in the Company as of the Record Date, in accordance with Section 10-

4 of the Norwegian Private Limited Liability Companies Act.  

Provided that delivery of traded shares is made with ordinary T+2 settlement in the VPS, shares that were acquired 

until and including 5 June will give the right to receive Subscription Rights, whereas shares that are acquired after 5 

June 2020 will not give the right to receive Subscription Rights.  

Each Shareholder will be granted one (1) non-transferable Subscription Right for approximately every 3.9781 existing 

share in the Company registered as held by such Shareholder on the Record Date. The number of Subscription Rights 

granted to each Shareholder will be rounded down to the nearest whole Subscription Right. The Subscription Rights 

will be registered on each Shareholder's account in the VPS. Each Subscription Right will, subject to certain limitations 

based on applicable laws and regulations, give the right to subscribe for, and be allocated, one Offer Share in the 

Rights Issue. Over-subscription is permitted, but subscription without Subscription Rights is not permitted. Holders 

of Subscription Rights may subscribe for a higher number of Offer Shares than they hold Subscription Rights for. 

Subscription Rights will not be issued in respect of any existing shares held in treasury by the Company.  

The Subscription Rights may be used to subscribe for Offer Shares in the Rights Issue before the expiry of the 

Subscription Period on 24 June at 16:00 hours (CEST). Subscription Rights that are not exercised before 16:00 

hours (CEST) on 24 June 2020 will have no value and will lapse without compensation to the holder. 

Holders of Subscription Rights should note that subscriptions for Offer Shares must be made in 

accordance with the procedures set out in this Prospectus and that the Subscription Rights does not in 

itself constitute a subscription of Offer Shares. The Subscription Rights are non-transferable. 

Subscription Rights of Shareholders resident in jurisdictions where the Prospectus may not be distributed and/or with 

legislation that, according to the Company's assessment, prohibits or otherwise restricts subscription for Offer Shares 

(the "Ineligible Shareholders") will initially be credited to such Ineligible Shareholders' VPS accounts. Such credit 

specifically does not constitute an offer to Ineligible Shareholders to subscribe for Offer Shares. The Company will 

instruct the Receiving Agent to, as far as possible, withdraw the Subscription Rights from such Ineligible 

Shareholders’ VPS accounts with no compensation to the holder. 

8.7 Subscription procedures and Subscription offices 

Subscriptions for Offer Shares must be made by submitting a correctly completed subscription form, attached hereto 

as Appendix 1, (the "Subscription Form") to DNB Bank ASA (the Receiving Agent") before the expiry of the 

Subscription Period, or for subscribers who are residents of Norway with a Norwegian personal identification number, 

be made online as further described below.  

Correctly completed Subscription Forms must be received by the Receiving Agent no later than 16:00 hours (CEST) 

on 24 June 2020 at the following postal or e-mail addresses: 

DNB Bank ASA 

Verdipapirservice 

Dronning Eufemias gate 30 

Postboks 1600 Sentrum 

0021 Oslo 

E-mail: retail@dnb.no 

 

Subscribers who are residents of Norway with a Norwegian personal identification number may also 

subscribe for Offer Shares through the VPS online subscription system and are encourage to do so. All 

online subscribers must verify that they are Norwegian residents by entering their national identity number (Nw.: 

fødsels- og personnummer). In addition, the VPS online subscription system is only available for individual persons 

and is not available for legal entities; legal entities must thus submit a Subscription Form in order to subscribe for 

mailto:retail@dnb.no
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Offer Shares. Subscriptions made through the VPS online subscription system must be duly registered before the 

expiry of the Subscription Period. 

None of the Company or the Receiving Agent may be held responsible for postal delays, unavailable fax lines, internet 

lines or servers or other logistical or technical problems that may result in subscriptions not being received in time 

or at all by the Receiving Agent. Subscription Forms received after the end of the Subscription Period and/or 

incomplete or incorrect Subscription Forms and any subscription that may be unlawful may be disregarded at the 

sole discretion of the Company and/or the Receiving Agent without notice to the subscriber.  

Subscriptions are binding and irrevocable, and cannot be withdrawn, cancelled or modified by the subscriber after 

having been received by the Receiving Agent, or in the case of subscriptions through the VPS online subscription 

system, upon registration of the subscription. The subscriber is responsible for the correctness of the information 

filled into the Subscription Form. By signing and submitting a Subscription Form, or by subscribing via VPS online 

subscription system, the subscribers confirm and warrant that they have read this Prospectus and are eligible to 

subscribe for Offer Shares under the terms set forth herein. 

There is no minimum subscription amount for which subscriptions in the Rights Issue must be made. Over-

subscription (i.e., subscription for more Offer Shares than the number of Subscription Rights held by the subscriber 

entitles the subscriber to be allocated) will be permitted, however, subscription without Subscription Rights will not 

be permitted.  

Multiple subscriptions (i.e., subscriptions on more than one Subscription Form) are allowed. Please note, however, 

that two separate Subscription Forms submitted by the same subscriber with the same number of Offer Shares 

subscribed for on both Subscription Forms will only be counted once unless otherwise explicitly stated in one of the 

Subscription Forms. In the case of multiple subscriptions through the VPS online subscription system or subscriptions 

made both on a Subscription Form and through the VPS online subscription system, all subscriptions will be counted. 

Furthermore, participation in the Rights Issue is conditional upon the subscriber holding a VPS account. The VPS 

account number must be stated in the Subscription Form. VPS accounts can be established with authorised VPS 

registrars, who can be Norwegian banks, authorised securities brokers in Norway and Norwegian branches of credit 

institutions established within the EEA. However, non-Norwegian investors may use nominee VPS accounts registered 

in the name of a nominee. The nominee must be authorised by the Norwegian FSA. Establishment of a VPS account 

requires verification of identification to the VPS registrar in accordance with the Anti-Money Laundering Legislation.  

8.8 Financial intermediaries 

8.8.1 General 

All persons or entities holding Shares or Subscription Rights through financial intermediaries (i.e. brokers, custodians 

and nominees) should read this Section 8.8 "Financial intermediaries". All questions concerning the timeliness, 

validity and form of instructions to a financial intermediary in relation to the exercise of Subscription Rights should 

be determined by the financial intermediary in accordance with its usual customer relations procedure or as it 

otherwise notifies each beneficial shareholder.  

The Company is not liable for any action or failure to act by a financial intermediary through which Shares are held. 

8.8.2 Subscription Rights 

If a Shareholder holds Shares registered through a financial intermediary on the Record Date, the financial 

intermediary will customarily give the Shareholder details of the aggregate number of Subscription Rights to which 

it will be entitled. The relevant financial intermediary will customarily supply each Shareholder with this information 

in accordance with its usual customer relations procedures. Shareholders holding Shares through a financial 

intermediary should contact the financial intermediary if they have received no information with respect to the Rights 

Issue.  

Shareholders who hold their Shares through a financial intermediary and who are Ineligible Shareholders will not be 

entitled to exercise their Subscription Rights nor to sell their Subscription Rights transferred to the financial 

intermediary.  
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8.8.3 Subscription Period  

The time by which notification of exercise instructions for subscription of Offer Shares must validly be given to a 

financial intermediary may be earlier than the expiry of the Subscription Period. Such deadlines will depend on the 

financial intermediary. Shareholders who hold their Shares through a financial intermediary should contact their 

financial intermediary if they are in any doubt with respect to deadlines. 

8.8.4 Subscription 

Any Shareholder who is not an Ineligible Shareholder and who holds its Subscription Rights through a financial 

intermediary and wishes to exercise its Subscription Rights, should instruct its financial intermediary in accordance 

with the instructions received from such financial intermediary. The financial intermediary will be responsible for 

collecting exercise instructions from the Shareholders and for informing the Receiving Agent of their exercise 

instructions.  

A person or entity who has acquired Subscription Rights that are held through a financial intermediary should contact 

the relevant financial intermediary for instructions on how to exercise the Subscription Rights. 

See Section 8.14 "Selling and transfer restrictions" below for a description of certain restrictions and prohibitions 

applicable to the exercise of Subscription Rights in certain jurisdictions. 

8.8.5 Method of Payment 

Any Shareholder who holds its Subscription Rights through a financial intermediary should pay the Subscription Price 

for the Offer Shares that are allocated to it in accordance with the instructions received from the financial 

intermediary. The financial intermediary must pay the Subscription Price in accordance with the instructions in the 

Prospectus. Payment by the financial intermediary for the Offer Shares must be made to the Receiving Agent no later 

than the Payment Date. Accordingly, financial intermediaries may require payment to be provided to them prior to 

the Payment Date. 

8.9 Allocation 

Allocation of the Offer Shares will be made by the Board and will take place on or about 26 June 2020 in accordance 

with the following criteria: 

(i) Allocation of Offer Shares to subscribers will be made in accordance with granted Subscription Rights which 

have been validly exercised during the Subscription Period. Each Subscription Right will give the right to 

subscribe for and be allocated one (1) Offer Share in the Rights Issue. 

(ii) If not all Subscription Rights are validly exercised during the Subscription Period, subscribers having 

exercised their Subscription Rights and who have over-subscribed, will be allocated additional Offer Shares 

on a pro rata basis based on the number of Subscription Rights exercised by each such subscriber. To the 

extent that pro rata allocation is not possible, the Company will determine the allocation by the drawing 

of lots. 

(iii) No fractional Offer Shares will be allocated. The Company reserves the right to reject or reduce any 

subscription for Offer Shares not covered by Subscription Rights. Allocation of fewer Offer Shares than 

subscribed for by a subscriber will not impact on the subscriber's obligation to pay for the number of Offer 

Shares allocated. 

(iv) Following allocation of Offer Shares to subscribers in accordance with (i) and (ii) above, any remaining 

Offer Shares shall be allocated to and be subscribed for by the Underwriters.  

The result of the Rights Issue is expected to be published on or about 26 June 2020 in the form of a notification from 

the Company through the NOTC information system and at the Company's website. Notifications of allocated Offer 

Shares and the corresponding subscription amount to be paid by each subscriber are expected to be distributed in a 

letter from VPS on or about 26 June 2020. 



Prospectus – NHST Media Group AS 

 

14278409/2  29 

8.10 Payment date for the Offer Shares 

8.10.1 Payment due date 

The payment for Offer Shares allocated to a subscriber falls due on 30 June 2020 (the "Payment Date"). Payment 

must be made in accordance with the requirements set out below in this Section.  

8.10.2 Subscribers who have a Norwegian bank account 

Subscribers who have a Norwegian bank account must, and will by signing the Subscription Form, provide the 

Receiving Agent with a one-time irrevocable authorisation to debit a specified bank account with a Norwegian bank 

for the amount payable for the Offer Shares which are allocated to the subscriber. 

The specified bank account is expected to be debited on or after the Payment Date. The Receiving Agent is only 

authorised to debit such account once, but reserve the right to make up to three debit attempts, and the authorisation 

will be valid for up to seven working days after the Payment Date.  

The subscriber furthermore authorises the Receiving Agent to obtain confirmation from the subscriber's bank that 

the subscriber has the right to dispose over the specified account and that there are sufficient funds in the account 

to cover the payment.  

If there are insufficient funds in a subscriber's bank account or if it for other reasons is impossible to debit such bank 

account when a debit attempt is made pursuant to the authorisation from the subscriber, the subscriber's obligation 

to pay for the Offer Shares will be deemed overdue.  

Payment by direct debiting is a service that banks in Norway provide in cooperation. In the relationship between the 

subscriber and the subscriber's bank, the standard terms and conditions for "Payment by Direct Debiting – Securities 

Trading", which are set out on page 2 of the Subscription Form, will apply, provided, however, that subscribers who 

subscribe for an amount exceeding NOK 5 million by signing the Subscription Form provide the Receiving Agent with 

a one-time irrevocable authorisation to manually debit the specified bank account for the entire subscription amount. 

8.10.3 Subscribers who do not have a Norwegian bank account 

Subscribers who do not have a Norwegian bank account must ensure that payment with cleared funds for the Offer 

Shares allocated to them is made on or before the Payment Date. 

Prior to any such payment being made, the subscriber must contact the Receiving Agent for further details and 

instructions. 

8.10.4 Overdue payments 

Overdue payments will be charged with interest at the applicable rate from time to time under the Norwegian Act on 

Interest on Overdue Payment of 17 December 1976 No. 100, currently 9.50% per annum as of the date of this 

Prospectus. If a subscriber fails to comply with the terms of payment or should payments not be made when due, 

the subscriber will remain liable for payment of the Offer Shares allocated to it and the Offer Shares allocated to such 

subscriber will not be delivered to the subscriber. If payment has not been received by the seventh day after the 

Payment Date, the Company and the Receiving Agent reserve the right to, at the risk and cost of the subscriber,  

cancel the subscription and to re-allocate of allocated Offer Shares for which payment is overdue, or without further 

notice sell, assume ownership to or otherwise dispose of the allocated Offer Shares on such terms and in such manner 

as the Receiving Agent may decide in cooperation with the Board in accordance with Norwegian law. If Offer Shares 

are sold on behalf of the subscriber, such sale will be for the subscriber’s account and risk and the subscriber will be 

liable for any loss, costs, charges and expenses suffered or incurred by the Company and/or the Receiving Agent as 

a result of, or in connection with, such sales. The Company and/or the Receiving Agent may enforce payment for 

any amounts outstanding in accordance with applicable law.  

8.11 VPS registration 

The Company is incorporated under the laws of Norway and the Company's shares are registered in book-entry form 

with the VPS under ISIN No 0005007807. The Company's VPS registrar is DNB ASA, Company Service, Dronning 

Eufemias gate 30, N-0191 Oslo. 
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8.12 Delivery of the Offer Shares 

Subject to timely payment by the subscribers, the Company expects that the share capital increase pertaining to the 

Rights Issue will be registered with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises on or about 7 July 2020 and that 

the Offer Shares will be delivered to the VPS accounts of the subscribers to whom they are allocated on or about the 

next day. The final deadline for registration of the share capital increase pertaining to the Rights Issue with the 

Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises, and hence for the subsequent delivery of the Offer Shares, is, pursuant 

to the Norwegian Private Limited Companies Act, three months from the expiry of the Subscription Period, i.e. on 24 

September 2019. Upon registration of the share capital increase, the allocated Offer Shares will be registered with 

the same ISIN as the existing Shares of the Company. 

The Offer Shares may not be transferred or traded before they are fully paid and said registrations in the Norwegian 

Register of Business Enterprises and the VPS have taken place. 

8.13 Shareholder's rights attached to the Offer Shares 

The Offer Shares will be ordinary shares in the Company, each having a par value of NOK 10. The rights attached to 

the Offer Shares will be the same as those attached to the Company's existing shares and the Offer Shares will rank 

pari passu with the existing shares in all respects from such time as the share capital increase in connection with the 

Rights Issue is registered with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises.  

The holders of the Offer Shares will have a right to dividend from the time the share capital increase is registered 

with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises.  

8.14 Selling and transfer restrictions 

The issue of Offer Shares upon subscription in the Rights Issue, to persons resident in, or who are citizens of countries 

other than Norway, may be affected by the laws of the relevant jurisdiction. Prospective investors should consult 

their professional advisers as to whether they require any governmental or other consent or need to observe any 

other formalities to enable them to subscribe for Offer Shares in the Rights Issue. 

The Company is not taking any action to permit the offering of the Subscription Rights or the Offer Shares (pursuant 

to the exercise of the Subscription Rights or otherwise) in any jurisdiction other than Norway. Receipt of this 

Prospectus will not constitute an offer in those jurisdictions in which it would be illegal to make an offer and, in those 

circumstances, this Prospectus is for information only and should not be copied or redistributed. Except as otherwise 

disclosed in this Prospectus, if an investor receives a copy of this Prospectus in any jurisdiction other than Norway, 

the investor may not treat this Prospectus as constituting an invitation or offer to it, nor should the investor in any 

event deal in the Shares, unless, in the relevant jurisdiction, such an invitation or offer could lawfully be made to 

that investor, or the Shares could lawfully be dealt in without contravention of any unfulfilled registration or other 

legal requirements. Accordingly, if an investor receives a copy of this Prospectus, the investor should not distribute 

or send the same, or transfer Shares, to any person or in or into any jurisdiction where to do so would or might 

contravene local securities laws or regulations.  

The Subscription Rights and Offer Shares have not been registered and will not be registered under the United States 

Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "U.S. Securities Act") or under the securities law of any state or other 

jurisdiction of the United States, and may not be offered, sold, pledged, granted, taken up, exercised, resold, 

delivered or transferred, directly or indirectly, within the United States. The Subscription Rights and Offer Shares 

being granted or offered, respectively, in the Rights Issue may not be offered, sold, resold, transferred or delivered, 

directly or indirectly, in or into, Member States of the EEA that have not implemented the Prospectus Regulation, 

Australia, Canada, Hong Kong, Japan, the United States or any other jurisdiction in which it would not be permissible 

to offer the Subscription Rights and/or the Offer Shares (the "Ineligible Jurisdictions"). This Prospectus may not 

be sent to any person in any Ineligible Jurisdiction. The registration of Subscription Rights to a VPS account of an 

Ineligible Shareholder or other person in an Ineligible Jurisdiction does not constitute an offer to such persons to 

subscribe for the Offer Shares. 

Any person wishing to subscribe for Offer Shares under the Rights Issue has the responsibility to satisfy 

himself/herself as to the full observance of the laws of any relevant jurisdiction in connection therewith, including 

obtaining any governmental or other consent which may be required, the compliance with other necessary formalities 

and the payment of any issue, transfer or other taxes due in such territories. By subscribing for the Offer Shares, 
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persons effecting subscriptions will be deemed to have represented to the Company that they, and the persons on 

whose behalf they are subscribing for the Offer Shares, have complied with the above selling restrictions. 

After completion of the registration of the Offer Shares in the VPS, the Offer Shares are subject to a consent 

requirement in the event of change of ownership. Pursuant to the Company's articles of association, transfer of 

shares requires foregoing approval from the Board and otherwise the consent is subject to additional regulations as 

provided in the Norwegian Private Limited Liability Companies Act section 4-16 and 4-17.   

8.15 The underwriting  

The Company has entered into an underwriting agreement with Bonheur ASA, Must Invest AS, Falck Frås AS, Gunvor 

Røed, Amble Investment AS, AS Straen and M&G Invest AS (jointly the "Underwriters").  

Each of the Underwriters has irrevocably undertaken to exercise their Subscription Rights and subscribe and pay for 

the number of Offer Shares set out opposite its name in the column headed "Subscription Commitment" in the table 

below. The subscription for such Offer Shares shall be made on the first day of the Subscription Period and may not 

be withdrawn.  

In order to ensure that all Offer Shares in Rights Issue are subscribed for, the Underwriters has undertaken an 

obligation to subscribe and pay for the total number of Offer shares in the Rights Issue, less (i) the number of Offer 

Shares to be subscribed for by the Underwriters on the basis of the Subscription Rights granted to them (as described 

above), and (ii) the number of Offer Shares otherwise validly subscribed for and allocated to other subscribers in the 

Rights Issue. However, the obligation is limited to the amount set out opposite its name in the column headed 

"Underwriting obligation" in the table below.  

Underwriter Shareholding Shareholding 

in percent 

Subscription 

Rights 

Subscription 

commitment* 

Underwriting 

obligation 

Bonheur ASA .............................  695,386 53.9927 174,803 27,968,480 33,278,800 

Must Invest AS ..........................  280,075 21.74622 70,404 11,264,640 13,403,200 

Falck Frås AS ............................  23,513 1.82565 5,910 945,600 1,002,000 

Gunvor Røed .............................  15,200 1.18019 3,820 611,200 648,000 

Amble Investment AS .................  14,236 1.10534 3,578 572,480 607,000 

AS Straen .................................  13,743 1.06707 3,454 552,640 586,000 

M&G Invest AS ..........................  11,152 0.86589 2,803 448,480 475,000 

* Subscription Rights held by the Underwriter, multiplied by the Subscription Price 

8.16 Expected costs in connection with the rights issue 

The Company will bear the fees and expenses related to the Rights Issue, which are estimated to amount to 

approximately NOK 1.7 million (including VAT), of which NOK 1 million are fees to the Underwriters (2% of the total 

underwriting obligation) and approximately NOK 0.7 million are other fees, costs and expenses. 

8.17 Advisors 

Advokatfirmaet Thommessen AS, Haakon VIIs gate 10, P.O. Box 1484 Vika, 0116 Oslo, Norway, is acting as legal 

advisor to the Company.  
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9 DEFINITIONS 

In this Prospectus, the following defined terms have the following meanings: 

Board ..........................................  The board of directors of the Company 

Company .....................................  NHST Media Group AS 

DN ..............................................  Dagens Næringsliv 

GDPR ..........................................  Regulation EU 2016/679 

Group ..........................................  NHST Media Group AS together with its subsidiaries 

Ineligible Jurisdictions ...................  

Member States of the EEA that have not implemented the Prospectus Regulation, 

Australia, Canada, Hong Kong, Japan, the United States or any other jurisdiction 
in which it would not be permissible to offer the Subscription Rights and/or the 

Offer Shares 

Ineligible Shareholders ..................  

Shareholders resident in jurisdictions where the Prospectus may not be 

distributed and/or with legislation that, according to the Company's assessment, 

prohibits or otherwise restricts subscription for Offer Shares 

Management ................................  The management of the Company 

Media Package ..............................  Government support for the media industry 

Mention .......................................  Mention Solutions SAS 

Mynewsdesk .................................  Mynewsdesk AB 

NHST ..........................................  NHST Media Group AS 

NHST Group .................................  NHST Media Group AS together with its subsidiaries 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders .  

Shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain similar entities) 

resident in Norway for tax purposes 

Norwegian FSA .............................  Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway (Norwegian: Finanstilsynet) 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders ...  Shareholders who are individuals resident in Norway for tax purposes 

Norwegian Securities Trading Act ....  Norwegian Securities Trading ACT of 29 June 2007 no. 75 

Offer Price ....................................  The subscription price per Offer Share of NOK 160 

Offer shares .................................  

Up to 312,500 new shares in the Company offered in the share issue, each with 

a par value of NOK 10 

Payment Date...............................  30 June 2020 

PR ...............................................  Public relations 

Prospectus ...................................  This prospectus dated 2 June 2020 

Receiving Agent ............................  DNB Bank ASA 

Record Date .................................  9 June 2020 

SaaS ...........................................  Software-as-a-Service 

Shareholders ................................  

The Company's shareholders as of 5 June 2020 as registered in the Norwegian 

Central Securities Depository on 9 June 2020 pursuant to the two days' 
settlement procedure in VPS 

Shares .........................................  The Company's shares 

Subscription Form .........................  The subscription form included as Appendix 1 to the Prospectus 

Subscription Period .......................  From 10 June 2020 to on or about 24 June 2020 at 16:00 hours (CEST) 

Subscription Rights .......................  Non-transferable subscription rights granted to the Shareholders 

The Rights Issue ...........................  

Share issue by NHST Media Group AS of up to 312,500 new shares in the 

Company, each with a par value of NOK 10, at a subscription price of NOK 160 

per Offer Share raising gross proceeds of up to NOK 50,000,000 

U.S. Securities Act ........................  United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended 

Underwriters ................................  

Bonheur ASA, Must Invest AS, Falck Frås AS, Gunvor Røed, Amble Investment 

AS, AS Straen and M&G Invest AS 

VPS .............................................  Norwegian Central Securities Depository 
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NHST MEDIA GROUP AS 
RIGHTS ISSUE 

SUBSCRIPTION FORM 
 

 

 

General information: The rights issue in NHST Media Group AS, reg no 914 744 121 (the "Company") implies  
that the Company's share capital shall be increased with minimum NOK 100,000 and maximum NOK 3,125,000 by 

the issuance of minimum 10,000 and maximum 312,500 new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 10 (the 

"Offer Shares") at a subscription price of NOK 160 (the "Rights Issue"). Resolution to increase the share capital in 

connection with the Rights Issue follows on page 2 below. The terms and conditions of the Rights Issue are set out 
in the prospectus dated 2 June 2020 (the "Prospectus"), which has been issued by the Company. The notice of, and 

minutes from, the annual general meeting 5 June 2020 (with enclosures), the Company’s articles of association, 

the annual accounts and annual reports for the last two years and the unaudited first quarter report for 2020 are 

available at the Company’s registered office at Christian Krohgs gate 16, 0186 Oslo, Norway, and on the 

Company's web page, www.nhst.no. 
Subscription procedure: The subscription period is from and including 10 June 2020 09:00 hours (CEST) to 24 

June 2020 16:00 hours (CEST), subject to any extension (the "Subscription Period"). Correctly completed 

Subscription Forms must be received by DNB Bank ASA (the "Receiving Agent") no later than 24 June 2020 at 

16:00 hours (CEST) at the following address: DNB Bank ASA, Verdipapirservice, Dronning Eufemias gate 30, 
Postboks 1600 Sentrum, 0021 Oslo, Norway or by e-mail: retail@dnb.no. Subscribers who are residents of 

Norway with a Norwegian personal identification number may also subscribe for Offer Shares through 

the VPS online subscription system and are encourage to do so. The subscriber is responsible for the 

correctness of the information inserted on the Subscription Form. Subscription Forms received after the end of the 
Subscription Period and/or incomplete or incorrect Subscription Forms and any subscription that may be unlawful 

may be disregarded at the sole discretion of the Company and/or the Receiving Agent. Neither the Company nor 

the Receiving Agent may be held responsible for postal delays, unavailable internet lines or servers or other 

logistical or technical problems that may result in subscriptions not being received in time or at all by the Receiving Agent. Subscriptions are binding and irrevocable, and cannot be 

withdrawn, cancelled or modified by the subscriber after being received by the Receiving Agent. By signing and submitting this Subscription Form, the subscriber confirms and 
warrants to have read the Prospectus and to be eligible to subscribe for Offer Shares under the terms set forth therein. 

Subscription Price: The subscription price in the Rights Issue is NOK 160 per Offer Share (the "Subscription Price"). 

Subscription Rights: Registered holders of the Company’s shares (the "Existing Shareholders" and the "Existing Shares", respectively) as of 5 June 2020 as registered in the VPS as 

of 9 June 2020 (the "Record Date") will be granted non-transferable subscription rights (the "Subscription Rights") giving a right to subscribe for, and be allocated, Offer Shares. 
Existing Shareholders will be granted one Subscription Right for every 3.9781 Existing Share registered as held by such Existing Shareholder as of the Record Date. The number of 

Subscription Rights granted to each Existing Shareholder will be rounded down to the nearest whole Subscription Right. Each Subscription Right will, subject to certain limitations 

based on applicable laws and regulations, give the right to subscribe for, and be allocated, one Offer Share in the Rights Issue. Over-subscription is permitted, but subscription 

without Subscription Rights is not permitted. Subscription Rights not used to subscribe for Offer Shares before the expiry of the Subscription Period, will have no value 
and will lapse without compensation to the holder. 

Allocation of Offer Shares: Allocation of the Offer Shares will take place on or about 26 June 2020. Allocation of Offer Shares to subscribers will be made in accordance with 

granted Subscription Rights which have been validly exercised during the Subscription Period. Each Subscription Right will give the right to subscribe for and be allocated one Offer 

Share in the Rights Issue. If not all Subscription Rights are validly exercised during the Subscription Period, subscribers having exercised their Subscription Rights and who have over-
subscribed, will be allocated additional Offer Shares on a pro rata basis based on the number of Subscription Rights exercised by each such subscriber. To the extent that pro rata 

allocation is not possible, the Company will determine the allocation by the drawing of lots. No fractional Offer Shares will be allocated. The Company reserves the right to reject or 

reduce any subscription for Offer Shares not covered by Subscription Rights. Allocation of fewer Offer Shares than subscribed for by a subscriber will not impact on the subscriber's 

obligation to pay for the number of Offer Shares allocated. Each of Bonheur ASA, Must Invest AS, Falck Frås AS, Gunvor Røed, Amble Investment AS, AS Straen and M&G Invest AS 

(collectively the "Underwriters") has committed to subscribe for the number of Offer Shares covered by its Subscription Rights (84.7% of the total number of Subscription Rights) and 
has underwritten the remaining part of the Rights Issue. The result of the Rights Issue is expected to be published on or about 26 June 2020 in the form of a notification from the 

Company through the NOTC information system. Notifications of allocated Offer Shares and the corresponding subscription amount to be paid by each subscriber are expected to be 

distributed in a letter from the VPS on or about 26 June 2020.  

Payment: The payment for Offer Shares allocated to a subscriber falls due on or about 30 June 2020 (the "Payment Date"). By signing this Subscription Form, subscribers having a 
Norwegian bank account irrevocably authorise the Receiving Agent to debit the bank account specified below for the subscription amount payable for the Offer Shares allocated to the 

subscriber for transfer to the Company’s bank account. The Receiving Agent is only authorised to debit such account once, but reserves the right to make up to three debit attempts, 

and the authorisation will be valid for up to seven working days after the Payment Date. The subscriber furthermore authorises the Receiving Agent to obtain confirmation from the 

subscriber’s bank that the subscriber has the right to dispose over the specified account and that there are sufficient funds in the account to cover the payment. If there are 
insufficient funds in a subscriber’s bank account or if it for other reasons is impossible to debit such bank account when a debit attempt is made pursuant to the authorisation from 

the subscriber, the subscriber’s obligation to pay for the Offer Shares will be deemed overdue. Payment by direct debiting is only available for investors that are allocated Offer 

Shares for an amount below NOK 5 million and who have a Norwegian bank account. By signing the Subscription Form, subscribers who subscribe for an amount exceeding NOK 5 

million give the Receiving Agent an authorisation to manually debit the specified Norwegian bank account on or after the Payment Date. Subscribers who do not have a Norwegian 

bank account must ensure that payment with cleared funds for the Offer Shares allocated to them is made on or before the Payment Date. Prior to any such payment being made, 
the subscriber must contact the Receiving Agent (DNB Bank ASA, phone number: 23 26 80 20) for further details and instructions. 

 

PLEASE SEE PAGE 2 OF THIS SUBSCRIPTION FORM FOR OTHER PROVISIONS THAT ALSO APPLY TO THE SUBSCRIPTION                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

Please return to:  

 

DNB Bank ASA 

Verdipapirservice 

Dronning Eufemias gate 30 

P.O. Box 1600 Sentrum 

N-0021 Oslo 

 
or via e-mail at: 
 

retail@dnb.no 

 
DETAILS OF THE SUBSCRIPTION 

Subscriber’s VPS account  Number of Subscription Rights 

 

Number of Offer Shares subscribed  

(incl. over-subscription) 

 

(For broker: Consecutive no.) 

 

 

Subscription Price per Offer Share 

NOK 160                    

Subscription amount to pay 

NOK  

 

IRREVOCABLE AUTHORISATION TO DEBIT ACCOUNT (MUST BE COMPLETED BY SUBSCRIBERS WITH A NORWEGIAN BANK ACCOUNT) 

Norwegian bank account to be debited for the payment of Offer Shares allocated (number of 

Offer Shares allocated x NOK 160). 

 
 

(Norwegian bank account no. 11 digits) 

In accordance with the terms and conditions set out in the Prospectus and this Subscription Form, I/we hereby irrevocably subscribe for the number of Offer Shares specified above and 

grant the Receiving Agent authorisation to debit (by direct debiting or manually as described above) the specified bank account for the payment of the Offer Shares allocated to me/us. 
By signing this Subscription Form, subscribers subject to direct debiting accept the terms and conditions for "Payment by Direct Debiting – Securities Trading" set out on page 2 of this 

Subscription Form. 

 

 

 

  

Place and date 
Must be dated in the Subscription Period 

 Binding signature. The subscriber must have legal capacity. When signed on 
behalf of a company or pursuant to an authorisation, documentation in the form 

of a company certificate or power of attorney should be attached. 

  INFORMATION ON THE SUBSCRIBER 

First name:  

Surname/company:  

Street address:   

Post code/district/ 

Country: 

 

Personal ID number (11 

digits) / Organisation number 
(9 digits): 

 

Nationality:  

E-mail address:  

Daytime telephone number:  

National Client Identifier 
(NCI) / Legal Entity Identifier 

(LEI): 

 

Please note: If the subscription form is sent to the Receiving Agent by e-mail, the e-mail will be unsecured unless the subscriber takes measures to secure it. The Receiving 

Agent recommend the subscriber to secure all e-mails with subscription forms attached. 

  

http://www.nhst.no/


 

 

THE GENERAL MEETING'S RESOLUTON ON SHARE CAPITAL INCREASE AND THE RIGHTS ISSUE 

 

Resolution in the annual general meeting 5 June 2020:  
 

(i) The share capital is to be increased with minimum NOK 100,000 and maximum NOK 3,125,000 by the issuance of minimum 10,000 and maximum 312,500 

new shares each with a nominal value of NOK 10. 

(ii) Holders of the company’s shares as of 5 June 2020 as registered in the VPS as of 9 June 2020, shall have a preferential right to subscribe for the new shares, 
and will receive one subscription right for every 3.9781 share they own in the company (rounded down). The subscription rights will be non-transferable. Over-

subscription is permitted, but subscription without subscription rights is not permitted. Subscription rights will not be issued in respect of shares held in 

treasury by the company.  

(iii) The subscription price in the rights issue shall be NOK 160 per new share. The deposit shall be made in cash.  

(iv) The subscription period commences on 10 June 2020 and expires at 16:00 hours (CEST) on 24 June 2020. The board of directors is granted an authorisation to 
move or extend the subscription period with up to four weeks.  

(v) The payment for the new shares falls due on 30 June 2020. If the board of directors decide to move or extend the subscription period, the payment deadline 

will be extended accordingly. Subscribers having a Norwegian bank account will by signing the subscription form give DNB Bank ASA a one-time authorisation 

to debit a specified bank account in Norway for the subscription amount corresponding to the number of allocated shares multiplied with the subscription price. 
The debiting will occur on or about the payment day of the deposit. Subscribers not having a Norwegian bank account must ensure that payment is made in 

accordance with the instructions given in the subscription form.  

(vi) The new shares will give full shareholder rights, including a right to dividend, from the time the share capital increase is registered with the Norwegian Register 

of Business Enterprises.  
(vii) The company's articles of association shall be changed to reflect the new share capital and the new number of shares after the capital increase.  

(viii) The allocation of the new shares will be made by the board of directors. The following allocation criteria shall apply:  

a) Allocation of shares to subscribers will be made in accordance with granted subscription rights which have been validly exercised during the subscription 

period. Each subscription right will give the right to subscribe for and be allocated one (1) new share.  
b) If not all subscription rights are validly exercised, subscribers having exercised their subscription rights and who have over-subscribed, will be allocated 

additional new shares on a pro rata basis based on the number of subscription rights exercised by each such subscriber. To the extent that pro rata allocation 

is not possible, the company will determine the allocation by the drawing of lots.  

c) No fractional shares will be allocated. The company reserves the right to reject or reduce any subscription for new shares not covered by granted 

subscription rights.  
(ix) Shares not being subscribed for and allocated to other subscribers in the rights issue by the end of the subscription period in accordance with item viii) will be 

allocated between Bonheur ASA, Must Invest AS, Falck Frås AS, Gunvor Røed Amble Investment AS, AS Straen og M&G Invest AS (jointly the "Underwriters") 

who have committed to subscribe for shares for a total amount of up to 50 000 000 pursuant to an underwriting agreement that the company has entered into 

in connection with the rights issue. Such shares are to be subscribed for by the Underwriters within four working days after the expiration of the subscription 
period.  

(x) Costs in connection with the rights issue, including the underwriting fee of 2% of the total underwriting obligation, are estimated to approximately NOK 1.7 

million.  

 
 

ADDITIONAL GUIDELINES FOR THE SUBSCRIBER 
Regulatory Issues: In accordance with the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (“MiFID II”) of the European Union, Norwegian law imposes requirements in relation to 

business investments. In this respect the Receiving Agent must categorise all new clients in one of three categories: eligible counterparties, professional and non-professional 

clients. All subscribers in the Rights Issue who are not existing clients of the Receiving Agent will be categorised as non-professional clients. Subscribers can by written request 
to the Receiving Agent ask to be categorised as a professional client if the subscriber fulfils the provisions of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. The subscriber represents 

that he/she/it is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment decision to invest in the Company by subscribing for Offer Shares, and is able to 

bear the economic risk, and to withstand a complete loss, of an investment in the Offer Shares.   

 
Restrictions on Sale and Transfer: The grant of Subscription Rights, and issue of Offer Shares upon exercise of Subscription Rights, and the offer of Offer Shares to persons 

resident in, or who are citizens of countries other than Norway, may be affected by the laws of the relevant jurisdiction. Investors should consult their professional advisors as 

to whether they require any governmental or other consents or need to observe any other formalities to enable them to exercise Subscription Rights or purchase Offer Shares. 

The Company is not taking any action to permit the offering of the Subscription Rights or the Offer Shares (pursuant to the exercise of the Subscription Rights or otherwise) in 
any jurisdiction other than Norway. Receipt of the Subscription Form will not constitute an offer in those jurisdictions in which it would be illegal to make an offer and, in those 

circumstances, the Subscription Form is for information only and should not be copied or redistributed. Any person wishing to subscribe for Offer Shares under the Rights Issue 

has the responsibility to satisfy himself/herself as to the full observance of the laws of any relevant jurisdiction in connection therewith, including obtaining any governmental or 

other consent which may be required, the compliance with other necessary formalities and the payment of any issue, transfer or other taxes due in such territories. The 
Subscription Rights and Offer Shares have not been registered and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "U.S. Securities Act") 

or under the securities law of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States, and may not be offered, sold, pledged, granted, taken up, exercised, resold, delivered or 

transferred, directly or indirectly, within the United States. The Subscription Rights and Offer Shares being granted or offered, respectively, in the Rights Issue may not be 

offered, sold, resold, transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, in or into, Member States of the EEA that have not implemented the Prospectus Regulation, Australia, 

Canada, Hong Kong, Japan, the United States or any other jurisdiction in which it would not be permissible to offer the Subscription Rights and/or the Offer Shares. This 
Subscription Form does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy Offer Shares in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful. A 

notification of exercise of Subscription Rights and subscription of Offer Shares in contravention of the above restrictions may be deemed to be invalid. By subscribing for the 

Offer Shares, persons effecting subscriptions will be deemed to have represented to the Company that they, and the persons on whose behalf they are subscribing for the Offer 

Shares, have complied with the above selling restrictions. 
 

Execution Only: The Receiving Agent will treat the Subscription Form as an execution-only instruction. The Receiving Agent is not required to determine whether an 

investment in the Offer Shares is appropriate or not for the subscriber. Hence, the subscriber will not benefit from the protection of the relevant conduct of business rules in 

accordance with the Norwegian Securities Trading Act.  
 

Information Exchange: The subscriber acknowledges that, under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act and the Norwegian Financial Institutions Act and foreign legislation 

applicable to the Receiving Agent there is a duty of secrecy between the different units of the Receiving Agent, as well as between the Receiving Agent and other entities in the 

Receiving Agent’s group. This may entail that other employees of the Receiving Agent or the Receiving Agent’s group may have information that may be relevant to the 

subscriber, but which the Receiving Agent will not have access to in its capacity as Receiving Agent for the Rights Issue. 
 

Information Barriers: The Receiving Agent is a securities firm that offer a broad range of investment services. In order to ensure that assignments undertaken in the 

Receiving Agent’s corporate finance department are kept confidential, the Receiving Agent’s other activities, including analysis and stock broking, are separated from the 

Receiving Agent’s corporate finance department by information walls. The subscriber acknowledges that the Receiving Agent’s analysis and stock broking activity may conflict 
with the subscriber’s interests with regard to transactions of the Shares, including the Offer Shares, as a consequence of such information walls.   

 

VPS Account and Mandatory Anti-Money Laundering Procedures: The Rights Issue is subject to the Norwegian Money Laundering Act No. 23 of June 1, 2018 and the 

Norwegian Money Laundering Regulations No. 1324 of September 14, 2018 (collectively, the “Anti-Money Laundering Legislation”). Subscribers who are not registered as 
existing customers with the Receiving Agent must verify their identity to the Receiving Agent in accordance with the requirements of the Anti-Money Laundering Legislation, 

unless an exemption is available. Subscribers who have designated an existing Norwegian bank account and an existing VPS account on the Subscription Form are exempted, 

unless verification of identity is requested by the Receiving Agent. The verification of identity must be completed prior to the end of the Subscription Period. Subscribers that 

have not completed the required verification of identity may not be allocated Offer Shares. Further, in participating in the Rights Issue, each subscriber must have a VPS 
account. The VPS account number must be stated on the Subscription Form. VPS accounts can be established with authorised VPS registrars, which can be Norwegian banks, 

authorised securities brokers in Norway and Norwegian branches of credit institutions established within the European Economic Area (the “EEA”). Non-Norwegian investors 

may, however, use nominee VPS accounts registered in the name of a nominee. The nominee must be authorized by the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway. 

Establishment of a VPS account requires verification of identity to the VPS registrar in accordance with the Anti-Money Laundering Legislation. 

 
Terms and Conditions for Payment by Direct Debiting - Securities Trading: Payment by direct debiting is a service the banks in Norway provide in cooperation. In the 

relationship between the payer and the payer’s bank the following standard terms and conditions will apply: 

 

(i) The service “Payment by direct debiting – securities trading” is supplemented by the account agreement between the payer and the payer’s bank, in particular 
Section C of the account agreement, General terms and conditions for deposit and payment instructions. 

(ii) Costs related to the use of “Payment by direct debiting – securities trading” appear from the bank’s prevailing price list, account information and/or information 

given by other appropriate manner. The bank will charge the indicated account for costs incurred. 

(iii) The authorization for direct debiting is signed by the payer and delivered to the beneficiary. The beneficiary will deliver the instructions to its bank who in turn will 
charge the payer’s bank account.  

(iv) In case of withdrawal of the authorization for direct debiting the payer shall address this issue with the beneficiary. Pursuant to the Norwegian Financial Contracts 

Act, the payer’s bank shall assist if the payer withdraws a payment instruction that has not been completed. Such withdrawal may be regarded as a breach of the 

agreement between the payer and the beneficiary. 

(v) The payer cannot authorize payment of a higher amount than the funds available on the payer’s account at the time of payment. The payer’s bank will normally 
perform a verification of available funds prior to the account being charged. If the account has been charged with an amount higher than the funds available, the 

difference shall immediately be covered by the payer.  

(vi) The payer’s account will be charged on the indicated date of payment. If the date of payment has not been indicated in the authorization for direct debiting, the 

account will be charged as soon as possible after the beneficiary has delivered the instructions to its bank. The charge will not, however, take place after the 
authorization has expired as indicated above. Payment will normally be credited the beneficiary’s account between one and three working days after the indicated 

date of payment/delivery. 

(vii) If the payer’s account is wrongfully charged after direct debiting, the payer’s right to repayment of the charged amount will be governed by the account agreement 

and the Norwegian Financial Contracts Act. 
 



 

 

Overdue and missing payments: Overdue payments will be charged with interest at the applicable rate under the Norwegian Act on Interest on Overdue Payment of 17 

December 1976 No. 100, currently 9.50% per annum. If the subscriber fails to comply with the terms of payment or should payments not be made when due, the subscriber will 

remain liable for payment of the Offer Shares allocated to it and the Offer Shares allocated to such subscriber will not be delivered to the subscriber. If payment has not been 

received by the seventh day after the Payment Date, the Company and the Receiving Agent reserve the right to, at the risk and cost of the subscriber, cancel the subscription 

and re-allocate the allocated Offer Shares for which payment is overdue, or without further notice sell, assume ownership to or otherwise dispose of the allocated Offer Shares in 

accordance with Norwegian law. If Offer Shares are sold on behalf of the subscriber, such sale will be for the subscriber’s account and risk and the subscriber will be liable for 

any loss, costs, charges and expenses suffered or incurred by the Company and/or the Receiving Agent as a result of, or in connection with, such sales. The Company and/or the 

Receiving Agent may enforce payment for any amounts outstanding in accordance with applicable law.  

Personal data:  The subscriber confirms that it has been provided information regarding the Receiving Agent's processing of personal data, and that it is informed that the 

Receiving Agent will process the subscriber's personal data in order to manage and carry out the Rights Issue and the subscription from the subscriber, and to comply with 

statutory requirements. 

The data controllers who are responsible for the processing of personal data are the Receiving Agent. The processing of personal data is necessary in order to fulfil the 

subscription and to meet legal obligations. The Norwegian Securities Trading Act and the Norwegian Money Laundering Act require that the Receiving Agent process and store 

information about clients and trades, and control and document activities. The subscriber's data will be processed confidentially, but if it is necessary in relation to the purposes, 

the personal data may be shared with the Company, with companies within the Receiving Agent's groups, VPS, stock exchanges and/or public authorities. The personal data will 

be processed as long as necessary for the purposes, and will subsequently be deleted unless there is a statutory duty to keep it.   

If the Receiving Agent transfers personal data to countries outside the EEA, that have not been approved by the EU Commission, the Receiving Agent will make sure the transfer 

takes place in accordance with the legal mechanisms protecting the personal data, for example the EU Standard Contractual Clauses.  

As a data subject, the subscribers have several legal rights. This includes i.e. the right to access its personal data, and a right to request that incorrect information is corrected. 

In certain instances, the subscribers will have the right to impose restrictions on the processing or demand that the information is deleted. The subscribers may also complain to 

a supervisory authority if they find that the Receiving Agent's processing is in breach of the law. Supplementary information on processing of personal data and the subscribers’ 

rights can be found at the Receiving Agent's website. 

National Client Identifier and Legal Entity Identifier: In order to participate in the Rights Issue, subscribers will need a global identification code. Physical persons will need 

a so-called National Client Identifier ("NCI") and legal entities will need a so-called Legal Entity Identifier ("LEI").  

NCI code for physical persons: Physical persons will need a NCI code to participate in a financial market transaction, i.e. a global identification code for physical persons. For 

physical persons with only a Norwegian citizenship, the NCI code is the 11 digit personal ID (Nw: "fødselsnummer"). If the person in question has multiple citizenships or 

another citizenship than Norwegian, another relevant NCI code can be used. Subscribers are encouraged to contact their bank for further information.  

LEI code for legal entities: Legal entities will need a LEI code to participate in a financial market transaction. A LEI code must be obtained from an authorized LEI issuer, and 

obtaining the code can take some time. Subscribers should obtain a LEI code in time for the subscription. For more information visit www.gleif.org. 



 

 

NHST MEDIA GROUP AS 
FORTRINNSRETTSEMISJON 

TEGNINGSBLANKETT 
 

 

 

Generell informasjon: Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen i NHST Media Group AS, org. nr. 914 744 121 

("Selskapet") innebærer at aksjekapitalen i Selskapet skal forhøyes med minimum NOK 100,000 og 
maksimum NOK 3,125,000 ved utstedelse av minimum 10,000 og maksimum 312,500 nye aksjer hver 

pålydende NOK 10 ("Tilbudsaksjene") til en tilbudspris på NOK 160 ("Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen"). Vedtak 

om kapitalforhøyelsen i forbindelse med Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen er gjengitt på side 2 nedenfor. 

Vilkårene og betingelsene for Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen fremgår av prospektet datert 2. juni 2020 
("Prospektet"), som er blitt utstedt av Selskapet. Innkallingen til, og protokoll fra, den ordinære 

generalforsamlingen 5. juni 2020 (med vedlegg), Selskapets vedtekter, årsregnskap og årsberetning for 

de to siste årene og urevidert førstekvartalsrapport for 2020 er tilgjengelig i Selskapets registrerte 

forretningslokaler i Christian Krohgs gate 16, 0186 Oslo, Norge, og på Selskapets hjemmeside, 
www.nhst.no.  

Tegningsprosedyre:  Tegningsperioden er fra og med 10. juni 2020 kl. 09:00 (CEST) til 24. juni 2020 

kl. 16:00 (CEST) ("Tegningsperioden"). Korrekt utfylt tegningsblankett må være mottatt av DNB Bank 

ASA ("Oppgjørsagenten") senest 24. juni 2020 kl. 16:00 (CEST) til følgende adresse: DNB Bank ASA, 

Verdipapirservice, Dronning Eufemias gate 30, Postboks 1600 Sentrum, 0021 Oslo, Norway, eller på e-
post: retail@dnb.no. Tegnere som er bosatt i Norge med norsk personnummer kan også tegne 

Tilbudsaksjer via VPS online tegningssystem og oppfordres til å gjøre det. Tegneren er ansvarlig 

for riktigheten av informasjonen som er fylt inn i tegningsblanketten. Tegningsblanketter som mottas 

etter utløpet av Tegningsperioden eller som er ufullstendig og/eller uriktig utfylt, og enhver tegning som 
kan være ulovlig, kan bli avvist uten nærmere varsel av Selskapet og/eller Oppgjørsagenten. Verken 

Selskapet eller Oppgjørsagenten kan bli holdt ansvarlig for forsinket postgang, nettverksproblemer eller 

andre logistikkmessige eller tekniske problemer som måtte resultere i at tegningsblanketter ikke mottas 

av Oppgjørsagenten i tide eller i det hele tatt. Tegninger er bindende og irreversible, og kan ikke bli trukket, kansellert eller endret av tegneren etter å ha blitt mottatt av 
Oppgjørsagenten. Ved å signere denne tegningsblanketten, bekrefter og garanterer tegneren å ha lest Prospektet og å være kvalifisert til å tegne seg for Tilbudsaksjer under de vilkår 

som der er angitt.  

Tegningskurs: Tegningskurs i Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen er NOK 160 per Tilbudsaksje ("Tegningskursen"). 

Tegningsretter: Registrerte eiere av Selskapets aksjer ("Eksisterende aksjonærer" og "Eksisterende aksjer", henholdsvis) per 5. juni 2020 som registrert i VPS per 9. juni 2020 

("Registreringsdatoen") vil bli tildelt ikke-overførbare tegningsretter ("Tegningsrettene") som gir rett å tegne seg for, og bli tildelt, Tilbudsaksjer. Eksisterende aksjonærer vil bli tildelt 
én Tegningsrett for hver 3,9781 Eksisterende aksje registrert som eiet av vedkommende Eksisterende aksjonær på Registreringsdatoen. Antallet Tegningsretter tildelt hver enkelt 

Eksisterende aksjonær vil bli rundet ned til nærmeste hele Tegningsrett. Hver Tegningsrett vil, underlagt visse begrensninger basert på gjeldende lover og forskrifter, gi rett til å 

tegne seg for, og bli tildelt, én Tilbudsaksje i Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen. Overtegning er tillatt, men tegning uten Tegningsretter er ikke tillatt. Tegningsretter som ikke er benyttet til å 

tegne Tilbudsaksjer innen utløpet av Tegningsperioden, vil ikke ha noen verdi og vil bortfalle uten kompensasjon til eieren.  
Tildeling av Tilbudsaksjer: Tildeling av Tilbudsaksjene vil skje omkring 26. juni 2020. Tildeling av Tilbudsaksjer til tegnerne vil skje i samsvar med de tildelte Tegningsretter som 

har blitt gyldig utøvet i løpet av Tegningsperioden. Hver Tegningsrett vil gi rett til å tegne seg for og bli tildelt én Tilbudsaksje i Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen. Dersom ikke alle 

Tegningsrettene er gyldig utøvet i løpet av Tegningsperioden, vil tegnere som har utøvet sin Tegningsrett og som har overtegnet seg bli tildelt supplerende Tilbudsaksjer på 

forholdsmessig basis, basert på antall Tegningsretter utøvet av den enkelte tegneren. I den grad forholdsmessig tildeling ikke er mulig, vil Selskapet avgjøre tildelingen ved 
loddtrekning. Det vil ikke bli tildelt noen brøkdels-Tilbudsaksjer. Selskapet forbeholder seg retten til å avvise eller redusere enhver tegning av Tilbudsaksjer som ikke korresponderer 

med Tegningsretter. Tildeling av færre Tilbudsaksjer enn det som ble tegnet for av en tegner har ingen innvirkning på tegnerens forpliktelse til å betale for det antallet Tilbudsaksjer 

vedkommende er blitt tildelt. Bonheur ASA, Must Invest AS, Falck Frås AS, Gunvor Røed, Amble Investment AS, AS Straen og M&G Invest AS (i fellesskap "Garantistene") har 

forpliktet seg til å tegne seg for det antall Tilbudsaksjer som tilsvarer deres Tegningsretter (84,7 % av det totale antallet Tegningsretter) og har garantert for den gjenstående delen 
av Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen. Resultatet av Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen er forventet publisert omkring 26. juni 2020, i form av en notifikasjon fra Selskapet gjennom NOTC-

informasjonssystemet. Notifikasjon vedrørende tildelte Tilbudsaksjer og det korresponderende tegningsbeløpet som skal betales av den enkelte tegneren er forventet å bli distribuert i 

et brev fra VPS omkring 26. juni 2020.  

Betaling: Betalingen for Tilbudsaksjene som er tildelt en tegner forfaller omkring 30. juni 2020 ("Betalingsdatoen"). Ved å signere denne tegningsblanketten gir tegnere med en 

norsk bankkonto Oppgjørsagenten en ugjenkallelig fullmakt til å debitere bankkontoen angitt nedenfor med betalbart tegningsbeløp for Tilbudsaksjene som er tildelt tegneren for 
overføring til Selskapets bankkonto. Oppgjørsagenten er kun autorisert til å debitere kontoen én gang, men forbeholder seg retten til å foreta opptil tre debiteringsforsøk, og 

fullmakten vil være gyldig i opptil syv virkedager etter Betalingsdatoen. Tegneren gir videre Oppgjørsagenten fullmakt til å innhente bekreftelse fra tegnerens bank på at tegneren har 

rett til å disponere den aktuelle kontoen og at det er tilstrekkelig midler på kontoen til å dekke betalingen. Dersom det ikke er tilstrekkelig midler på en tegners bankkonto eller det 

av andre årsaker er umulig å debitere den aktuelle kontoen når debiteringsforsøk er foretatt i henhold til fullmakten fra tegneren, vil tegnerens betalingsforpliktelse knyttet til 
Tilbudsaksjene bli ansett for forsinket. Betaling ved direkte debitering er kun tilgjengelig for investorer som er tildelt Tilbudsaksjer for et lavere beløp enn NOK 5 millioner og som har 

en norsk bankkonto. Ved å signere denne tegningsblanketten gir tegnere som tegner seg for et beløp som overstiger NOK 5 millioner Oppgjørsagenten en fullmakt til å debitere den 

angitte norske bankkontoen manuelt på eller etter Betalingsdatoen. Tegnere som ikke har en norsk bankkonto må sørge for at betaling med klarerte midler for Tilbudsaksjene tildelt 

dem er foretatt før Betalingsdatoen. I forkant av utførelsen av enhver slik betaling, må tegneren kontakte Oppgjørsagenten (DNB BANK ASA, telefonnummer: 23 26 80 20) for 
nærmere detaljer og instrukser.   

 

 

VENNLIGST SE SIDE 2 AV DENNE TEGNINGSBLANKETTEN FOR ØVRIGE BETINGELSER GJELDENDE FOR TEGNINGEN 

Returneres til:  

 

DNB Bank ASA 

Verdipapirservice 

Dronning Eufemias gate 30 

Postboks 1600 Sentrum 

0021 Oslo 

 
eller på e-post til: 
 

retail@dnb.no  
 

 
 

 
DETALJER OM TEGNINGEN 

Tegnerens VPS-konto  Antall tegningsretter  

 

Antall Tilbudsaksjer tegnet  

(inkl. overtegning) 

 

(For megler: Løpenummer) 

 

 

Tegningsbeløp per Tilbudsaksje 

NOK 160                    

Tegningsbeløp å betale 

NOK 

 

UGJENKALLELIG FULLMAKT TIL Å DEBITERE KONTO (MÅ FYLLES UT AV TEGNERE MED NORSK BANKKONTO)  

Norsk bankkonto som skal debiteres for betalingen av tildelte Tilbudsaksjer (antall 

Tilbudsaksjer tildelt x NOK 160)  

 
 

(Norsk bankkontonummer. 11 siffer) 

I henhold til vilkårene og betingelsene som fremgår av Prospektet og denne tegningsblanketten, foretar jeg/vi herved en ugjenkallelig tegning av det antallet Tilbudsaksjer som er 

spesifisert ovenfor, og tildeler Oppgjørsagenten fullmakt til å debitere (ved direkte debitering eller manuell som beskrevet ovenfor) den spesifiserte bankkontoen for betalingen av 
Tilbudsaksjene tildelt meg/oss. Ved å signere denne tegningsblanketten, aksepterer tegnere som er gjenstand for direkte debitering vilkårene og betingelsene for "Betaling ved direkte 

debitering – Verdipapirhandel" som fremgår på side 2 av denne tegningsblanketten.  

 

 

 

  

Sted og dato 
Må være datert i tegningsperioden 

 Bindende signatur. Tegneren må ha rettslig handleevne. Dersom det signeres 
på vegne av et selskap eller i henhold til fullmakt, må det vedlegges 

dokumentasjon i form av firmaattest eller fullmakt.  

  INFORMASJON OM TEGNEREN 

Fornavn:  

Etternavn/selskap:  

Gateadresse:   

Postnummer/sted/ 

Land: 

 

Fødsels- og personnummer 

(11 siffer) / 
Organisasjonsnummer (9 

siffer): 

 

Nasjonalitet:  

E-postadresse:  

Telefonnummer på dagtid:  

Nasjonalt 

klientidentifikasjonsnummer 

(NCI)/LEI-nummer: 

 

Merk: Dersom tegningsblanketten er sendt til Oppgjørsagenten på e-post vil e-posten være usikret, med mindre tegneren selv sørger for å sikre den. Oppgjørsagenten anbefaler 
tegneren å sikre alle e-poster der tegningsblanketter vedlagt.    

http://www.nhst.no/


 

 

GENERALFORSAMLINGENS VEDTAK OM KAPITALFORHØYELSE OG FORTRINNSRETTSEMISJON 

Vedtak på generalforsamlingen 5. juni 2020: 

 
(i) Aksjekapitalen forhøyes med minimum NOK 100 000 og maksimum NOK 3 125 000 ved utstedelse av minimum 10 000 og maksimum 312 500 nye aksjer, 

hver pålydende kr 10. 

(ii) Aksjeeiere i selskapet per 5. juni 2020 som er registrert i VPS per 9. juni 2020, skal ha fortrinnsrett til tegning av de nye aksjene, og vil motta én tegningsrett 

for hver 3,9781 aksje de eier i selskapet (avrundet). Tegningsrettene vil ikke være omsettelige. Overtegning er tillatt, men tegning uten tegningsretter er ikke 
tillatt. Det vil ikke bli tildelt tegningsretter for selskapets egne aksjer. 

(iii) Tegningskursen i fortrinnsrettsemisjonen skal være NOK 160 per nye aksje. Innskuddet skal ytes i kontanter. 

(iv) Tegningsperioden skal begynne 10. juni 2020 og avsluttes kl. 16.00 den 24. juni 2020. Styret gis fullmakt til å forskyve eller forlenge tegningsperioden med 

inntil fire uker. 

(v) Frist for betaling av de nye aksjene er 30. juni 2020. Dersom styret beslutter å forskyve eller forlenge tegningsperioden, forlenges fristen for betaling 
tilsvarende. Tegnere med norsk bankkonto vil ved tegningsblanketten gi DNB Bank ASA en engangsfullmakt til å belaste en oppgitt bankkonto i Norge for det 

tegningsbeløp som tilsvarer det tildelte antall aksjer multiplisert med tegningskursen. Belastningen vil skje på, eller omkring, fristen for betaling av innskuddet. 

Tegneren som ikke har norsk bankkonto må selv sørge for betaling i henhold til den instruksjonen som følger av tegningsblanketten. 

(vi) De nye aksjene gir fulle aksjeeierrettigheter, herunder rett til utbytte, fra tidspunktet for registrering av kapitalforhøyelsen i Foretaksregisteret. 
(vii) Selskapets vedtekter § 4 skal endres til å reflektere ny aksjekapital og nytt antall aksjer etter kapitalforhøyelsen. 

(viii) De nye aksjene tildeles av styret. Følgende tildelingskriterier skal gjelde:   

a) Tildeling av aksjer til tegnere vil bli foretatt i henhold til tildelte tegningsrettigheter som er gyldig utøvd i tegningsperioden. Enhver tegningsrett vil gi rett til 

å tegne og bli tildelt én (1) ny aksje. 
b) Dersom ikke alle tegningsretter er gyldig utøvd, vil tegnere som har benyttet seg av sine tegningsrettigheter og som har overtegnet, bli tildelt flere nye 

aksjer på pro rata-basis basert på det antall tegningsrettigheter som er utøvd av hver tegner. I den utstrekning pro rata tildeling ikke er mulig vil Selskapet 

bestemme tildelingen ved loddtrekning. 

c) Ingen brøkdelsaksjer vil bli tildelt. Selskapet forbeholder seg retten til å avvise eller redusere tegning for nye aksjer som ikke omfattes av tildelte 
tegningsretter. 

(ix) Aksjer som ikke er tegnet av og tildelt til andre tegnere i fortrinnsrettsemisjonen ved tegningsperiodens utløp i henhold til punkt viii) vil bli tildelt mellom 

Bonheur ASA, Must Invest AS, Falck Frås AS, Gunvor Røed, Amble Investment AS, AS Straen og M&G Invest AS (sammen "Garantistene") som har forpliktet 

seg til å tegne aksjer for et samlet beløp på inntil NOK 50 000 000 i henhold til avtale om fulltegningsgaranti som selskapet har inngått i forbindelse med 

fortrinnsrettsemisjonen. Slike aksjer skal tegnes av Garantistene innen fire handelsdager etter tegningsperiodens utløp. 
(x) Utgifter knyttet til kapitalforhøyelsen, herunder garantiprovisjonen på 2 % av det garanterte beløpet, anslås til i størrelsesorden NOK  1,7 millioner. 

   

SUPPLERENDE RETNINGSLINJER FOR TEGNEREN 
Reguleringsspørsmål: I henhold til EUs direktiv om markeder for finansielle instrumenter (MiFID II), pålegger norsk lovgivning krav i relasjon til virksomhetsinvesteringer. I 
denne sammenheng må Oppgjørsagenten kategorisere alle nye klienter i én av tre kategorier: kvalifiserte motparter, profesjonelle- og ikke-profesjonelle klienter. Alle tegnere i 

Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen som ikke er eksisterende klienter av Oppgjørsagenten vil bli kategorisert som ikke-profesjonelle klienter. Tegnere kan ved skriftlig forespørsel til 

Oppgjørsagenten be om å bli kategorisert som en profesjonell klient dersom tegneren oppfyller bestemmelsene i verdipapirhandelloven. Tegneren bekrefter at han/hun/det 

er i stand til å vurdere fordelene og risikoene ved en beslutning om å investere i Selskapet ved å tegne Tilbudsaksjer, og er i stand til å tåle den økonomiske 
risikoen, og å tåle et fullstendig tap, ved en investering i Tilbudsaksjene.   

 

Salgs- og overføringsrestriksjoner: Tildeling av Tegningsretter, og utstedelse av Tilbudsaksjer ved utøvelse av Tegningsretter, og tilbudet av Tilbudsaksjer til personer 

bosatt i, eller som er statsborgere i andre land enn Norge, kan bli berørt av lovgivningen i den aktuelle jurisdiksjonen.  Investorer bør konsultere sine profesjonelle rådgivere 

angående hvorvidt det kreves myndighets- eller andre samtykker eller det er andre formaliteter som må overholdes for å gjøre dem i stand til å utøve Tegningsretter eller kjøpe 
Tilbudsaksjer. Selskapet iverksetter ingen tiltak for å forhindre tilbudet av Tegningsretter eller Tilbudsaksjene (i henhold til utøvelsen av Tegningsrettene eller på annen måte) i 

andre jurisdiksjoner enn Norge. Mottak av denne tegningsblanketten vil ikke utgjøre et tilbud i jurisdiksjoner der det vil være ulovlig å gi et tilbud og, under disse 

omstendighetene, er tegningsblanketten utelukkende for informasjonsformål og skal ikke bli kopiert eller videreformidlet. Enhver person som ønsker å tegne seg for 

Tilbudsaksjer i Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen er selv ansvarlig for overholdelsen av lovgivningen i enhver aktuell jurisdiksjon i den forbindelse, inkludert innhenting av ethvert 
myndighets- eller annet samtykke som måtte være påkrevd, overholdelsen av andre nødvendige formaliteter og betalingen av alle utstedelses-, overførings- eller andre skatter 

som måtte tilfalle i slike områder. Tegningsrettene og Tilbudsaksjene er ikke blitt registrert og vil ikke bli registrert under United States Securities Act av 1933, som endret 

("U.S. Securities Act") eller under verdipapirhandellovgivningen til enhver annen stat eller annen jurisdiksjon underlagt Amerikas Forente Stater, og kan ikke tilbys, selges, 

pantsettes, tildeles, tas opp, utøves, videreselges, leveres eller overføres, direkte eller indirekte, innenfor Amerikas Forente Stater. Tegningsrettene og Tilbudsaksjene som blir 
henholdsvis tildelt og tilbudt i Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen kan ikke tilbys, selges, videreselges eller leveres, direkte eller indirekte, i eller inn til, medlemsstater i EØS som ikke har 

implementert Prospektforordningen, Australia, Canada, Hong Kong, Japan, Amerikas Forente Stater eller noen annen jurisdiksjon der det ikke vil være tillatt å tilby 

Tegningsrettene og/eller Tilbudsaksjene. Denne tegningsblanketten utgjør ikke et tilbud om salg eller en oppfordring til et tilbud om å kjøpe Tilbudsaksjer i noen jurisdiksjon der 

slikt tilbud eller oppfordring er ulovlig. En melding om utøvelse av Tegningsrettene og tegning av Tilbudsaksjer i strid med de ovenfor nevnte restriksjonene kan anses å være 
ugyldig. Ved å tegne seg for Tilbudsaksjene, vil den som foretar tegningen bli ansett å ha bekreftet overfor Selskapet at vedkommende, og personer de tegner Tilbudsaksjene 

på vegne av, har opptrådt i samsvar med de ovenfor nevnte salgsrestriksjonene.      

 

Kun utførelse: Oppgjørsagenten vil behandle tegningsblanketten som en ren instruksjon om utførelse. Oppgjørsagenten er ikke pålagt å avgjøre om en investering i 

Tilbudsaksjene er hensiktsmessig eller ikke for tegneren. Følgelig vil tegneren ikke være beskyttet av aktuelle forretningsskikkregler i henhold til verdipapirhandelloven.   
 

Informasjonsutveksling: Tegneren erkjenner at det, under den norske verdipapirhandelloven og den norske finansforetaksloven og utenlandsk lovgivning gjeldende for 

Oppgjørsagenten er taushetsplikt mellom de ulike enhetene i Oppgjørsagenten, og også mellom Oppgjørsagenten og andre enheter i Oppgjørsagentens foretaksgruppe. Dette 

kan innebære at andre ansatte i Oppgjørsagenten eller i Oppgjørsagentens foretaksgruppe kan ha informasjon som kan være relevant for tegneren, men som Oppgjørsagenten 
ikke vil ha tilgang til i sin rolle som Oppgjørsagent for Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen.  

 

Informasjonsbarrierer: Oppgjørsagenten er et verdipapirhandelforetak som tilbyr et bredt spekter av investeringstjenester. For å sikre at oppdrag utført i Oppgjørsagentens 

finansavdeling blir holdt konfidensielle, er Oppgjørsagentens andre aktiviteter, inkludert analyse og aksjemegling, separert fra Oppgjørsagentens finansavdeling ved 
informasjonsmurer. Tegneren erkjenner at Oppgjørsagentens analyse- og aksjemeglingsaktiviteter kan komme i konflikt med tegnerens interesser med hensyn til transaksjoner 

med aksjene, inkludert Tilbudsaksjene, som en konsekvens av slik informasjonsmurer.  

 

VPS-konto og obligatoriske hvitvaskingsprosedyrer: Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen er underlagt lov nr. 23 av 1. juni 2018 om tiltak mot hvitvasking og terrorfinansiering og 

forskrift nr. 1324 av 14. september 2018 om tiltak mot hvitvasking og terrorfinansiering (i fellesskap, "Hvitvaskingsregelverket"). Tegnere som ikke allerede er registrert som 
kunder hos Oppgjørsagenten må verifisere sin identitet til Oppgjørsagenten i henhold til kravene i Hvitvaskingsregelverket, med mindre vedkommende er unntatt. Tegnere som 

har angitt en eksisterende norsk bankkonto og en eksisterende VPS-konto på tegningsblanketten er unntatt, med mindre verifisering av identitet blir forespurt av 

Oppgjørsagenten. Verifiseringen av identitet må være fullført før utløpet av Tegningsperioden. Tegnere som ikke har fullført den påkrevde verifiseringen av identitet kan ikke bli 

tildelt Tilbudsaksjer. Videre må tegneren ha en VPS-konto, for å kunne delta i Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen. VPS-kontonummeret må fremgå av tegningsblanketten. VPS-konto kan 
bli etablert hos autoriserte VPS-registrere, som kan være norske banker, autoriserte verdipapirmeglere i Norge og norske filialer av kredittinstitusjoner etablert innenfor den 

Europeiske Økonomiske Samarbeidssonen (EØS). Ikke-norske investorer kan imidlertid benytte forvalterregistrert VPS-konto. Forvalteren må være autorisert av det norske 

Finanstilsynet. Etablering av en VPS-konto krever verifisering av identitet til VPS-registreren i henhold til Hvitvaskingsregelverket.   

 
Vilkår og betingelser for Betaling ved direkte debitering – Verdipapirhandel: Betaling ved direkte debitering er en tjeneste som norske banker utfører i samarbeid. I 

forholdet mellom betaleren og betalerens bank gjelder følgende standardvilkår:  

 

(i) Tjenesten "Betaling ved direkte debitering – Verdipapirhandel" suppleres av kontoavtalen mellom betaleren og betalerens bank, spesielt seksjon C av kontoavtalen, 
Generelle vilkår for innskudds og betalingstjenester.  

(ii) Kostnader relatert til bruken av "Betaling ved direkte debitering – Verdipapirhandel" fremgår av bankens gjeldende prisliste, kontoinformasjon og/eller informasjon 

som er gitt på annen passende måte. Banken vil belaste angitt konto for kostnader som påløper.   

(iii) Fullmakten for direkte debitering er signert av betaleren og levert til betalingsmottakeren. Betalingsmottakeren vil levere instruksjonene til sin bank som deretter vil 

belaste betalerens bankkonto.  
(iv) I tilfelle av tilbakekall av fullmakten for direkte debitering skal betaleren adressere dette problemet med betalingsmottakeren. I henhold til den norske 

finansavtaleloven, skal betalerens bank bistå dersom betaleren tilbakekaller en betalingsinstruksjon som ikke har blitt fullført. Slikt tilbakekall kan bli ansett som 

brudd på avtalen mellom betaleren og betalingsmottakeren.  

(v) Betaleren kan ikke autorisere betaling av et høyere beløp enn de midlene som er tilgjengelig på betalerens konto på tidspunktet for betalingen. Betalerens bank vil 
normalt foreta verifikasjon av tilgjengelige midler før kontoen blir belastet. Dersom kontoen har blitt belastet med et beløp som er høyere enn de tilgjengelige 

midlene, skal differansen umiddelbart dekkes av betaleren.  

(vi) Betalerens konto vil bli belastet på den angitte betalingsdatoen. Dersom betalingsdatoen ikke har blitt angitt i fullmakten for direkte debitering, vil kontoen bli 

belastet så raskt som mulig etter betalingsmottakeren har levert instruksjonene til sin bank. Belastningen vil likevel ikke skje etter at fullmakten har utløpt som 
beskrevet ovenfor. Betaling vil normalt bli kreditert betalingsmottakerens konto mellom en og tre virkedager etter den angitte datoen for betaling/levering. 

(vii) Dersom betalerens konto er feilaktig belastet etter direkte debitering, vil betalerens rett til tilbakebetaling av det belastede beløpet følge kontoavtalen og den norske 

finansavtaleloven.        

 

Forsinkede og manglende betalinger: Forsinkede betalinger vil bli belastet med rente etter gjeldende satser under lov nr. 100 av 17. desember 1976 om renter ved forsinket 

betaling m.m., for tiden 9,5% per år. Dersom tegneren ikke overholder vilkårene og betingelsene eller dersom betaling ikke skulle skje ved forfall, vil tegneren forbli ansvarlig 

for betalingen av Tilbudsaksjene tildelt vedkommende og Tilbudsaksjene tildelt vedkommende tegner vil ikke bli levert til tegneren. Dersom betaling ikke er mottatt innen den 

syvende dagen etter Betalingsdatoen forbeholder Selskapet og Oppgjørsagenten seg retten til å, for tegnerens regning og risiko, avbryte tegningen og reallokere de tildelte 

Tilbudsaksjene som er betalt for sent, eller uten nærmere varsel, selge, påta eierskap til eller på annen måte avhende de tildelte Tilbudsaksjene i samsvar med norsk lovgivning. 

Dersom Tilbudsaksjer er solgt på vegne av tegneren, vil slikt salg være for tegnerens regning og risiko og tegneren vil være ansvarlig for ethvert tap, kostnader, belastninger og 

utgifter lidt av eller påløpt for Selskapet og/eller Oppgjørsagenten som følge av, eller i forbindelse med, slike salg. Selskapet og/eller Oppgjørsagenten kan håndheve betaling for 

ethvert utestående beløp i henhold til gjeldende lovgivning.       



 

 

Personopplysninger:  Tegneren bekrefter at det har blitt formidlet informasjon angående Oppgjørsagentens håndtering av personopplysninger, og at det er blitt informert om 

at Oppgjørsagenten vil håndtere tegnerens personopplysninger for å håndtere og gjennomføre Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen og tegningen fra tegneren, og for å overholde lovpålagte 

krav.  

Datakontrollørene som er ansvarlige for håndteringen av personopplysninger er Oppgjørsagenten. Håndteringen av personopplysninger er nødvendig for å gjennomføre 

tegningen og for å møte rettslige forpliktelser. Den norske verdipapirhandelloven og Hvitvaskingsregelverket krever at Oppgjørsagenten håndterer og oppbevarer informasjon 

om klienter og handler, og kontrollerer og dokumenterer aktiviteter. Tegnerens data vil bli håndtert konfidensielt, men dersom det er nødvendig i relasjon til formålene kan 

personopplysningene bli delt med Selskapet, med selskaper innenfor Oppgjørsagentens foretaksgruppe, VPS, børser og/eller offentlige myndigheter. Personopplysningene vil bli 

håndtert så lenge det er nødvendig for formålene, og vil i ettertid bli slettet med mindre det foreligger en lovpålagt plikt til å beholde dem.  

Dersom Oppgjørsagenten overfører personopplysninger til land utenfor EØS, som ikke har blitt godkjent av EU-Kommisjonen, vil Oppgjørsagenten sørge for at overføringen 

finner sted i samsvar med de juridiske mekanismene til beskyttelse av personopplysningene, for eksempel EUs standard kontraktsvilkår.  

Som et datasubjekt har tegnerne flere juridiske rettigheter. Disse inkluderer for eksempel retten til å få tilgang til sine personopplysninger og en rett til å kreve at feilaktige 

opplysninger blir rettet. I visse tilfeller, vil tegnerne ha rett til å pålegge restriksjoner på håndteringen eller kreve at informasjonen slettes. Tegnerne kan også klage til en 

tilsynsmyndighet dersom de mener at Oppgjørsagentens håndtering er lovstridig. Ytterliggere informasjon om håndtering av personopplysninger og tegnerens rettigheter er 

tilgjengelig på Oppgjørsagentens hjemmeside.   

Nasjonalt klientidentifikasjonsnummer og LEI-nummer: For å kunne delta i Fortrinnsrettsemisjonen vil tegnerne måtte ha en global identifikasjonskode. Fysiske personer 

vil trenge et såkalt nasjonalt klientidentifikasjonsnummer ("NCI") og juridiske personer et såkalt LEI-nummer ("LEI").  

NCI-kode for fysiske personer: Fysiske personer vil behøve en NCI-kode for å delta i en finansmarkedstransaksjon, altså en global identifikasjonskode for fysiske personer. For 

fysiske personer med norsk statsborgerskap, vil NCI-koden være vedkommendes fødsels- og personnummer (11 siffer). Dersom den aktuelle personen har flere statsborgerskap 

eller et annet statsborgerskap enn norsk, kan annen relevant NCI-kode benyttes. Tegnere oppfordres til å kontakte sin bank for nærmere informasjon.  

LEI-kode for juridiske personer: Juridiske personer vil behøve en LEI-kode for å delta i en finansmarkedstransaksjon. En LEI-kode må skaffes fra en autorisert LEI-utsteder, og 

koden kan ta noe tid å skaffe til veie. Tegnere burde skaffe en LEI-kode i tide til tegningen. For mer informasjon besøk www.gleif.org. 

http://www.gleif.org/
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VEDTEKTER 

 

NHST MEDIA GROUP AS  
 

per 22. mai 2019 
 

Vedtatt i generalforsamling den 1. april 1912, ekstraordinær generalforsamling 28. mars 1913 og 10. juni 

1914, generalforsamling 28. februar 1917, ekstraordinær generalforsamling 12. april 1918, ekstraordinær 

generalforsamling 9. april 1920, generalforsamling 5. mars 1925. 5. mars 1931, 19 . mars 1935, 

ekstraordinær generalforsamling 12. april 1935, ekstraordinær generalforsamling 5. februar 1948, 

generalforsamling 12. april 1956, generalforsamling 28. april 1959, generalforsamling 2. april 1970, 

generalforsamling 13. mai 1975, generalforsamling 8. mars 1976, generalforsamling 13. mai 1977, 

generalforsamling 25. mars 1981, generalforsamling 25. april 1984, ekstraordinær generalforsamling 12. 

november 1986, generalforsamling 7. mai 1990, generalforsamling 3. mai 1995, generalforsamling 16. 

april 1999, ekstraordinær generalforsamling 23. mai 2005, generalforsamling 25. april 2007, 

generalforsamling 5. mai 2009, generalforsamling 18. mai 2010, og generalforsamling 22. mai 2019 

 
 

§ 1 Firma 
Selskapets navn er NHST Media Group AS. Selskapet er en direkte fortsettelse av det 
tidligere A/S Norges Handels og Sjøfartstidende.   
 
 
 

§ 2 Forretningskontor 
Selskapets forretningskontor er i Oslo kommune. 
 
 

§ 3 Virksomhet 
Selskapet er et frittstående og uavhengig mediehus primært rettet mot å utgi 
næringslivspublikasjoner og tilknyttede aktiviteter med det hovedformål å fremme 
næringslivets interesser. 
 
 

§ 4 Aksjekapital 
Selskapets aksjekapital er kr 12 879 250, fordelt på 1 287 925 aksjer, hver pålydende kr 10, 
fullt innbetalt. Selskapets aksjer skal registreres i Verdipapirsentralen. 
 
 

§ 5 Overdragelse 
Overdragelse av aksjer kan kun skje med styrets samtykke etter forutgående anmeldelse. 
 
 

§ 6 Styre 
Selskapets styre skal ha fra tre (3) til ni (9) medlemmer, etter generalforsamlingens nærmere 
beslutning.  
 
Styremedlemmer velges for to år av gangen. 
 
Styret velger sin leder og nestleder. 
 
Styret er beslutningsdyktig når mer enn halvparten av styrets medlemmer er til stede. 
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Styrets beslutninger treffes med simpelt flertall blant de møtende. De som stemmer for 
beslutningen, må alltid utgjøre mer enn én tredel av samtlige styremedlemmer. 
 
Ved stemmelikhet har lederen (alternativt nestlederen) dobbeltstemme. 
 
De ansattes styrerepresentanter har ikke stemmerett i saker som gjelder publikasjonenes 
redaksjonelle linje og grunnsyn, eller i saker hvis avgjørelse i vesentlig grad beror på 
publikasjonens ideologiske grunnsyn. De har heller ikke stemmerett i ansettelsessaker som 
berører publikasjonens redaksjonelle ledelse og/eller grunnsyn for øvrig. 
 
 

§ 7 Signatur 
Selskapets firma tegnes av styrets leder alene eller to styremedlemmer i fellesskap eller et 
styremedlem og administrerende direktør i fellesskap. 
 
 

§ 8 Generalforsamling 
Generalforsamlingen innkalles av styrets leder med minst 8 (åtte) dagers skriftlig varsel til 
hver aksjeeier. 
 
Dokumenter som gjelder saker som skal behandles på generalforsamlingen og som er gjort 
tilgjengelige for aksjeeierne på selskapets internettsider, trenger ikke å sendes til 
aksjeeierne. Dette gjelder også dokumenter som etter lov skal inntas i eller vedlegges 
innkallingen til generalforsamlingen. En aksjeeier kan likevel kreve å få kostnadsfritt tilsendt 
dokumenter som gjelder saker som skal behandles på generalforsamlingen. 
 
Generalforsamlingen ledes av styrets leder.  
 
På den ordinære generalforsamlingen skal følgende spørsmål behandles og avgjøres: 
 
1. Godkjennelse av årsregnskap og årsberetning, herunder utdeling av utbytte. 
2. Valg av styremedlemmer og valg av ny revisor, hvis revisorskifte er aktuelt. 
3. Fastsettelse av styrets godtgjørelse og godkjennelse av revisors godtgjørelse. 
4. Andre saker som etter loven eller vedtektene hører under generalforsamlingen. 
 
Styret kan i innkallingen til generalforsamlingen henstille om at de aksjeeiere som vil møte på 
generalforsamlingen melder dette til selskapet senest 5 dager før generalforsamlingen skal 
holdes. 
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NHST GROUP’S DEVELOPMENT IN THE FIRST QUARTER OF 2020 
 
The corona outbreak (covid-19) had negative consequences for the NHST Media Group in the first quarter, as for 
many other businesses in Norway and around the world.  The Group’s publications experienced a strong growth in 
the demand for news and commentaries, resulting in increased traffic on the publications’ websites and increased 
sale of digital subscriptions. At the same time, advertising income and revenues from sales of other commercial 
services declined significantly. Also, for the Norwegian publications and for several of the Group’s global publications, 
the drop in oil price negatively affected the market development. 
 
In March, the Group implemented a large number of efforts to limit the spread of the corona virus. Strong and 
consistent efforts by managers and employees made it possible to publish the publications without interruptions, 
both on paper and online. 
 
- I am very pleased with our organisation’s ability to deliver high-quality journalism and important products, despite 
demanding working conditions and market developments. The health and safety of our employees will always be our 
highest priority. We acted promptly, and initiated efforts to protect both our employees and customers. Revenues 
and results developed positively in January and February, but in the last month of the quarter, we experienced a 
significant reduction in revenues. Our sales in Asia were hit even earlier. All the units in the Group have implemented 
measures to cut cost. Total cost reductions amount to more than NOK 100 million this year. This will help us through 
this crisis situation, so that we can continue the development of our businesses, says Hege Yli Melhus Ask, CEO of 
NHST Media Group.  
 
The Group’s operating revenues amounted to NOK 281.2 million for the first quarter, down 3.5 per cent compared 
to the first quarter of 2019. The reduction is mainly explained by the lower advertising income, which was down by 
NOK 10 million. The operating profit before depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) amounted to NOK 3.6 million, 
up from a negative EBITDA of minus NOK 6.5 million for the first quarter last year. The improvement was due to 
lower personnel cost and reduction in purchased services. 
 
In March and April, the board of directors of the NHST Group approved comprehensive measures to reduce cost and 
improve the financial position of the operations. The measures will result in cost reductions amounting to more than 
NOK 100 million, with effect from the second quarter this year, and include reductions in personnel cost through 
voluntary salary cuts and temporary layoffs, in addition to reduced purchase of services and other administrative 
costs. In Mention, a manning reduction will be implemented as a result of the corona pandemic. 
 
Changes in the market outlook as a result of the covid-19 pandemic, have resulted in a write-down of goodwill related 
to the acquisition of Mention (booked in 2018) of NOK 80.6 million in the first quarter. The Group remains confident 
in Mention’s long-term competitiveness and income potential.  
 
The operating loss (EBIT) for the NHST Group, including the write-down of goodwill (EBIT), amounted to NOK -94.1 
million for the first quarter, compared to NOK -23.1 million for the first quarter last year. The result before taxes was 
NOK -83.5 million. Despite a difficult financial situation due to covid-19 and the oil price decline, leading to a negative 
result for the quarter, the board is of the opinion that the fair value of the Group`s assets clearly exceeds the 
liabilities. 
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FIRST QUARTER 2020 
(The figures in brackets are for the corresponding period last year) 

• The NHST Media Group's operating revenues were NOK 281.2 million for the first quarter of 2020 (NOK 291.3 million) 
o Subscription income was NOK 222.0 million, an increase of NOK 1.3 million compared to the corresponding 

period of 2019 
o Advertising income amounted to NOK 49.6 million, down by NOK 10.1 million 
o Revenues from the sale of goods and services were NOK 9.6 million for the quarter (NOK 10.9 million) 

• The Group's EBITDA ended at NOK 3.6 million for the quarter (NOK -6.5 million) 
o There were no material one-off items included in the EBITDA for the period 

• The Group's operating profit (EBIT) was NOK -94.1 million for the quarter (NOK -23.1 million) 
o Ordinary depreciation of fixed assets was NOK 9.7 million for the quarter 
o Amortisation of goodwill and excess values related to acquisitions was NOK 7.4 million 
o Write-down of goodwill to reflect a decrease in the value of Mention Solutions S.A.S. amounted to NOK 80.6 

million 

• In March and April, the NHST Group decided to implement measures to reduce cost in the Group with more than NOK 100 
million to compensate for the negative consequences of the corona pandemic and the fall in oil price 

o The measures will have effect from (and including) the second quarter of 2020 

• The Group will continue to invest in development of products and services to strengthen its long-term competitiveness 
o Investments increased to NOK 11.8 million (NOK 8.1 million) 

 

KEY FIGURES 

Numbers in NOK million  Q1 2020 Q1 2019 YTD 2020 YTD 2019 

      
Subscription income   222.0   220.7   222.0   220.7  

Advertising revenues   49.6   59.7   49.6   59.7  

Sale of goods and services   9.6   10.9   9.6   10.9  

Total revenues   281.2   291.3   281.2   291.3  

      

Operating expenses   277.7   297.8   277.7   297.8  

EBITDA before one-off items   3.6   -4.9   3.6   -4.9  

EBITDA   3.6   -6.5   3.6   -6.5  

Depreciation   17.1   16.6   17.1   16.6  

Amortisation  80.6 0 80.6 0 

 Operating result   -94.1   -23.1   -94.1   -23.1  

      

CAPEX   11.8   8.1   11.8   8.1  

EBITDA less CAPEX  -8.3 -14.6 -8.3 -14.6 

 

                    
Figure 1: Percentage of total revenues accumulated for 2020 Figure 2: Percentage of total revenues rolling 4 quarters 
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NORWEGIAN PUBLICATIONS 
The segment Norwegian publications includes Dagens Næringsliv and Morgenbladet. 
 
Operating revenues for the segment Norwegian publications were NOK 146.9 million for the first quarter of 2020, 
down from NOK 156.9 million for the corresponding period last year. Subscriber income was stable compared to 
the corresponding period last year, while advertising income was down by approximately 20 per cent. The 
reduction came mainly in March, due to the corona virus. 
 
Both Dagens Næringsliv and Morgenbladet experience a strong increase in the demand for news due to the corona 
situation and the decline in oil price. At Dagens Næringsliv, the sale of trials subscriptions rose more than 300 per 
cent from February to March this year, demonstrating the strong interest. 
 
In March, the Group gave notification of temporary lay-off for a period of six weeks to a total of 19 employees in 
commercial positions. The lay-offs came into effect from 1 April 2020. 
 
Operating revenues for Morgenbladet are mainly subscription-based and were therefore not significantly affected 
by the negative development in the advertising market. 
 
Operating expenses totaled NOK 142.1 million for the quarter, down 9 per cent compared to the first quarter last 
year. The reduction can mainly be explained by lower personnel costs as a consequence of staff reductions in both 
publications through 2019. 
 
EBITDA for the segment Norwegian publications was NOK 4.8 million for the first quarter of 2020, an increase of 
NOK 0.7 million from the same quarter last year. 
 
NOK million Q1 2019 Q2 2019 Q3 2019 Q4 2019 Q1 2020 YTD 2019 YTD 2020 

        
Subscriber income  113.0   104.4   115.4   111.5   111.1   113.0   111.1  

Advertising revenues  39.8   46.3   37.9   51.9   31.6   39.8   31.6  

Sales of goods and services  4.1   5.6   3.8   10.3   4.2   4.1   4.2  

Total revenues  156.9   156.3   157.2   173.7   146.9   156.9   146.9  

        

Operating expenses  156.3   137.4   150.6   171.1   142.1   156.3   142.1  

EBITDA  0.7   18.9   6.6   2.6   4.8   0.7   4.8  

CAPEX  2.1   2.4   0.9   -0.5   0.1   2.1   0.1  

EBITDA less CAPEX -1.4 16.4 5.7 3.1 4.7 -1.4 4.7 

 
 
GLOBAL PUBLICATIONS 
 
The segment Global publications includes the international trade publications Tradewinds, Upstream, Intrafish and 
Recharge, as well as the Norwegian publications Fiskeribladet and Europower. 
 
Operating revenues for the segment Global Publications were NOK 69.7 million for the quarter, compared to NOK 
70.4 million reported for the same quarter last year. The segment experienced an increase in the subscriber 
income of approximately 3 per cent and a reduction in the advertising income of 10 per cent. The lower revenues 
from the advertising market are in line with the long-term development for these publications. However, the 
corona pandemic further strengthened this development in the first quarter, negatively affecting both advertising 
income and revenues from conferences. In Asia the consequences materialized already from January. 
Operating expenses for the segment amounted to NOK 70.7 for the first quarter this year, down by 5.6 per cent 
compared to the corresponding quarter last year. 
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A large portion of the segment’s operating revenues and expenses are in foreign currencies, mainly USD, EUR and 
GBP. Adjusted for the effects from the changes in exchange rates, the segment had approximately 5 per cent lower 
revenues compared to the same period last year, while the expenses were down by 9 percent. 
 
EBITDA for the segment Global Publications ended at NOK -0.7 for the quarter, an improvement of NOK 3.6 million 
from the first quarter last year. The EBITDA was not materially affected by changes in currencies compared to last 
year. 
 
NOK million Q1 2019 Q2 2019 Q3 2019 Q4 2019 Q1 2020 YTD 2019 YTD 2020 

        
Subscriber income  47.8   48.8   47.3   49.2   49.1   47.8   49.1  

Advertising revenues  19.9   31.7   21.4   25.4   18.0   19.9   18.0  

Sales of goods and services  2.8   2.6   2.4   1.8   2.6   2.8   2.6  

Total revenues  70.4   83.2   71.1   76.4   69.7   70.4   69.7  

        

Operating expenses  74.7   73.4   66.0   75.7   70.4   74.7   70.4  

EBITDA  -4.3   9.8   5.1   0.6   -0.7   -4.3   -0.7  

CAPEX  1.5   1.9   1.9   4.2   0.2   1.5   0.2  

EBITDA less CAPEX -5.8 7.9 3.2 -3.6 -0.9 -5.8 -0.9 

 
SOFTWARE-AS-A-SERVICE 
The segment Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) includes the companies Mynewsdesk and Mention. Mynewsdesk is 
offering its customers a PR and communication platform with associated services. The company is headquartered in 
Stockholm and the market focus is mainly the Nordic area and the DACH area (Germany Austria, Switzerland). 
Mention is offering services in media surveillance and social media management. The company is based in Paris and 
has a global market focus. 
 
Operating revenues for the SaaS segment were NOK 64.4 million for the first quarter compared to NOK 66.7 
million for the same period last year. Revenues from Mynewsdesk were slightly down as a result of the decision to 
concentrate the business around the key markets in the Nordics, as well as Germany, Austria and Switzerland 
(DACH countries). 
 
Mynewsdesk experienced a satisfactory development in the acquisition of new customers in key markets. Efforts 
are ongoing to improve the user experience and retention of existing customers. For Mention, revenues for the 
first quarter were affected by a low level of sales of new subscriptions in the second half of 2019. 
 
Operating expenses for the segment were NOK 59.2 million for the first quarter this year, compared to NOK 63.8 
million for the first quarter of 2018. The reduction can mainly be explained by the cost reduction program initiated 
in Mynewsdesk early 2019. 
 
EBITDA for the segment ended at NOK 5.2 million for the quarter, compared to NOK 2.9 million for the first quarter 
of 2019. 
 
Due to changes in the market outlook for Mention, the Group has decided to implement significant measures to 
reduce costs. Restructuring costs will be reflected in the accounts for the second quarter this year. 
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NOK million Q1 2019 Q2 2019 Q3 2019 Q4 2019 Q1 2020 YTD 2019 YTD 2020 

        
Subscriber income  63.2   61.8   60.4   66.1   61.8   63.2   61.8  

Sale of services  3.5   3.1   2.3   3.0   2.6   3.5   2.6  

Total revenues  66.7   64.8   62.8   69.1   64.4   66.7   64.4  

        

Operating expenses  63.8   56.6   56.6   63.3   59.2   63.8   59.2  

EBITDA  2.9   8.3   6.2   5.9   5.2   2.9   5.2  

CAPEX  4.4   9.5   6.7   4.4   10.2   4.4   10.2  

EBITDA less CAPEX  -1.5   -1.2   -0.5   1.5   -5.1   -1.5   -5.1  
 
Mention was acquired with effect from 1 September 2018. The effects of the added values are not included in the segment figures but are explained in note 3. 

 
 
Oslo, 21 April 2020 
The Board of Directors and Group CEO of NHST Media Group AS   
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KEY FIGURES NHST MEDIA GROUP 
  

INCOME STATEMENT 
 
(MNOK) Q1 2020 Q1 2019 YTD 2020 YTD 2019 

       
Revenues  281.2   291.3   281.2   291.3  

Operating expenses   277.7   297.8   277.7   297.8  

EBITDA*  3.6   -6.5   3.6   -6.5  

Ordinary depreciation  17.1   16.6   17.1   16.6  

Extraordinary write-down 80.6 0 80.6 0 

Operating profit / loss  -94.1   -23.1   -94.1   -23.1  

Net financial items  10.6   -12.2   10.6   -12.2  

Profit/loss before tax  -83.5   -35.2   -83.5   -35.2  

Profit/loss after tax  -85.0   -28.4   -85.0   -28.4  

Minority interests  0.1   0.1   0.1   0.1  

Profit/loss after tax majority interests  -85.2   -28.5   -85.2   -28.5  

     

Number of shares ex own shares 1,243,173  1,243,173  1,243,173 1,243,173 

Profit/loss per share in NOK  -68.4   -22.9   -68.4   -22.9  

Number of employees average  633   713   633   713  

 
* EBITDA includes non-recurring items      

BALANCE SHEET     

   31.03.2020 31.12.2019 

      
Intangible assets   234.7 287.3 

Other fixed assets   169.3 165.7 

Total fixed assets     404.0 453.0 

Inventory    0.0 0.0 

Accounts receivable   68.9 109.5 

Other short term receivables   35.3 29.6 

Cash and cash equivalents   221.4 183.1 

Total short term assets     325.6 322.2 

Total assets     729.6 775.2 

     

Shareholders' equity   -22.6 55.3 

Minority   2.7 2.6 

Total shareholders’ equity     -19.8 57.8 

Long term debt   218.0 212.9 

Accounts payable   25.2 31.9 

Prepayments   367.5 321.3 

Other short term debt   138.8 151.3 

Total liabilities     749.5 717.4 

Total shareholders' equity and liabilities     729.6 775.2 
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NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES     
A tax rate of 22 percent has been used when calculating the quarterly figures.   

 
 

NOTE 2 SPECIFICATIONS Q1 2020 YTD 2020 

 Operating revenues EBIT Operating revenues EBIT 

Norwegian Publications 146.9 2.9 146.9 2.9 

Global Publications 69.7 -2.1 69.7 -2.1 

Mynewsdesk 64.4 0.1 64.4 0.1 

Other group companies  25.7 -7.2 25.7 -7.2 

Amortisation of excess values  -88.0  -88.0 

Eliminations -25.5  -25.5  

SUM 281.2 -94.1 281.2 -94.1 

 
 
NOTE 3 WRITE-DOWN OF GOODWILL 
 
Since the discovery of the corona virus in January 2020, the authorities in several countries have put in place significant measures to reduce 
the spread of the virus. In addition to China, the virus has especially spread widely in countries in Central Europe and has gradually shown a 
dramatic development in the United States. Implemented measures will, for a period, lead to reduced economic activity, especially where 
the virus is most widely spread. 
 
Upon the acquisition of Mention 1 September 2018, excess values related to customers, technology and brand were identified as well as a 
residual goodwill. Mention's business plan was based on an aggressive growth strategy which, as of 31 December 2019, showed that 
recognised values from the Mention acquisition were retained. However, as a result of the recent development of the corona virus and the 
decline in oil prices, it is clear that the market outlook and growth prospects for Mention in the short term are significantly weakened. There 
is high uncertainty associated with revenue growth, which was planned to take place in countries that are severely affected by the corona 
pandemic. At the same time, the Group must prioritise its investments more strictly than previously assumed. 
 
Based on developments in the first quarter of 2020, an impairment test has been prepared based on a revised business plan. The 
impairment test concludes that the recoverable amount is lower than the recognised values from the Mention business and goodwill has 
therefore been written down by NOK 80.6 million. Although the write-down results in a negative book equity for the Group, the Board of 
Directors finds that the basis for going concern is present and, in the view of the Board, the fair value of the Group’s assets clearly exceed 
the liabilities. 
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Key figures

Figures in NOK 1,000

Group 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Operating revenue  1,199,278  1,293,456  1,311,874  1,325,408 1,271,925 

Operating profit (loss)  (38,581) (14,825)  30,582  27,190 13,015 

Profit (loss) before tax  (56,183)  (9,300)  23,868  21,746 6,524 

Profit (loss) for the year  (50,822)  (13,146)  10,831  16,217 5,944 

Net operating margin (%) (3.2%) (1.1%) 2.3% 2.1% 1.0%

Net profit margin (%) (4.2%) (1.0%) 0.8% 1.2% 0.5%

Profit ratio (%) (4.6%) (0.6%) 2.1% 2.2% 0.8%

Total assets  775,179  844,432  695,437  677,586  627,073 

Investments  61,379 181,612  47,634 55,457  59,171 

Equity ratio (%) 7.50% 13.10% 18.1% 16.5% 17.9%

Return on total assets (%) (6.8%) (0.9%) 3.7% 3.6% 1.5%

Liquidity ratio 0.64 0.68  0.70  0.71 0.72

AVERAGE NUMBER

of employees 680 729 744 762 767

Average FTEs 674 731 738 750 731

Net operating margin (%) Operating profit (loss) divided by operating revenues
Net profit margin (%) Profit (loss) for the year divided by operating revenues
Profit ratio (%) Operating profit (loss) + interest income divided by operating revenues

Equity ratio (%) Equity divided by total capital
Return on total assets (%) Operating profit (loss) + interest income divided by average total assets

Liquidity ratio Current assets divided by current liabilities
Employees and FTE Full-time employees

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)

(38,581)

 

TURNOVER

1,199,278 


NOK
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From the CEO

4

In 2019, managers and employees throughout the group made a  
major effort to ensure that we enter 2020 as a profitable corporation.  
Income from digital products rose over the course of the year. If we 
exclude extraordinary items related to restructuring and downsizing 
last year, we exited 2019 with profitable underlying operations. 

Hege Yli Melhus Ask
CEO

Nonetheless, last year was challenging.  
Lower demand for paper-based products 
and falling ad revenue within traditional 
media made it necessary to cut costs and 
staffing in several of the businesses. In ad-
dition, we implemented reorganisations 
and work process modifications in order to 
adapt NHST Media Group to a market envi-
ronment characterised by significant, rapid 
change. These initiatives had the intended 
effect. However, the negative impact of the 
coronavirus and drop in oil prices made it 
necessary to implement additional measu-
res. For this reason, in March and April 
2020, the Board approved further cost re-
ductions in excess of NOK 100 million. The 
group’s publications experienced record-
high circulation during the first quarter,  
but advertising and conference revenue 
both declined considerably in Norway as 
well as globally.

NHST Media Group seeks to provide rea-
ders with relevant, interesting and challen-
ging journalism that sets the agenda in the 
communities and markets that we serve. 
We aim to be an attractive partner for  
advertisers, brand owners and other stake-
holders who depend on editorial and social 
media to create positive publicity and pro-
mote their message. Our Software-as-a-Ser-
vice technology companies must ensure 
that our products enable customers to 
spread their message and measure the  
effectiveness of their traditional and social 
media campaigns using the monitoring  
services that we offer. 

To succeed, we need to be in the forefront 
of market trends. The cost reductions in 
2019 provided us with improved ability to 
invest in technology and digitalisation as 
well as skill and product development.  
Increased usage of data and analysis thanks 
to a shared analytical environment for all 
our media divisions enabled us to better  
anticipate changed expectations and needs 
on the part of our readers, customers and 
users. We intend to continue to invest in 
human resources, technology and products 
and services as well as data analyses that 
provide insight into our business. Going 
forward, our situation will be affected by 
the extent and duration of the coronavirus 
outbreak and its impact on business and  
local communities in the markets in which 
we compete.

Notwithstanding the pandemic, competition 
continues to be tougher both for our  
publications and other services. Within the  
Norwegian market, several new competi-
tors have launched digital platforms for  
business journalism. The conversion to  
digital distribution is a high priority and 
was an important motivational factor  
behind the reorganisation of Dagens  
Næringsliv in autumn 2019.  

Continued cost efficiency throughout the 
Group is a precondition for the continued 
development of both Norwegian and Global 
publications, and for day-to-day improve-
ment of the services we offer in PR  
distribution and media monitoring.

In 2020 we will conclude on a comprehen-
sive strategic process that has involved  
obtaining input from throughout the entire 
organi sation, studying the development of 
the marketplace as well as consumer trends 
and assessing future income opportunities 
for each individual part of NHST Media 
Group. 

I can’t promise that the change process is 
finished. On the contrary, change has  
become a necessity in the media industry, 
as in most other industries. Unforeseen 
events, of which the corona virus pandemic 
is a grave example, can provide us with 
new challenges and opportunities. NHST 
Media Group is now better equipped to 
handle such situations than it was just a 
year ago. Together, we’ll make sure that 
we’re also well equipped for the future.
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To succeed, we need to be in the fore-

front of market trends. The cost  

reductions in 2019 provided us with 

improved ability to invest in techno-

logy and digitalisation as well as skill 

and product development.
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Deep within the Amazon Basin, cattle barons burn down 

enormous swathes of rainforest to clear land for cattle 

ranching. The Amazon forest fires were one of 2019’s greatest 

natural disasters. Illegal logging, deforestation and 

agricultural burning contribute to global warming. 

Dagens Næringsliv 24/08/2019 

Photo: Andre Liohn
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NHST at  
a glance



OPERATING LOSS

NOK 21 
Million

Kr

OPERATING REVENUE

NOK 645
Million



Norwegian 
publications

NUMBER OF FTES

207 

Global 
publications

SaaS

OPERATING LOSS

NOK 8 
Million

Kr

OPERATING REVENUE

NOK 302
Million



NUMBER OF FTES

175 

OPERATING LOSS

NOK 5
Million

Kr

OPERATING REVENUE

NOK 263
Million



NUMBER OF FTES

199 

9
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This business area includes Norway’s largest business newspaper, 
Dagens Næringsliv (DN), along with the weekend magazines D2 
and Magasinet as well as Morgenbladet. Each of the publications 
publish both digital and paper editions.

Operations and net income 
The market environment was challenging 
in 2019. In particular, revenue derived from 
paper products declined from the prior 
year’s level. 

On the other hand, in 2019 DN continued 
to experience robust digital subscription 
revenue growth. Nonetheless, this growth 
was unable to completely offset the decline 
in advertising and newsstand revenues. 
Overall operating revenue was therefore 
lower than in 2018.

Morgenbladet grew its operating revenue 
in 2019 thanks to an increase in press sub-
sidies. Subscription revenue was in line 
with the prior year while advertising and 
newsstand revenues were somewhat lower.

Both Morgenbladet and Dagens Næringsliv 
underwent a downsizing in autumn 2019. 
As part of this initiative, voluntary seve-
rance packages were offered to all employees. 
The offer was accepted by 25 DN and 8 
Morgenbladet employees. Costs related to 
the severance packages had a negative 
impact the financial result in 2019. 
However, the downsizing will ensure that 
in 2020 the companies obtain a cost 
structure that is better adapted to existing 
market conditions.

Operating profit/(loss) for the business unit 
after restructuring costs declined to NOK 
21 million.

Once again, in 2019 Dagens Næringsliv 
won the prestigious SKUP award. This 
coveted prize was awarded to the team 
responsible for coverage of the controversy 
around the Tidal streaming service.

Anna B. Jenssen resigned from her position 
as Morgenbladet’s CEO/Managing Editor in 
autumn 2019. Community Editor Sun 
Heidi Sæbø was appointed to the position 
on an interim basis. In January 2020, Ms 
Sæbø was appointed on a permanent basis 
as the new CEO/Managing Editor.

Products and digitalisation
In 2019, Dagens Næringsliv underwent a 
significant organizational restructuring. 
This has facilitated a leaner, more respon-
sive organisation oriented around key 
customer segments. 

The combination of new technology and a 
new organisation allows us to more easily 
offer relevant content to defined target 
groups, both editorially and commercially. 
The number of digital subscribers grew 
considerably in 2019. 

In addition, digital advertising revenue  
showed a positive growth trend. We expect 
to see continued growth in products such 
as video ads and other new digital formats. 

Looking ahead to 2020
Dagens Næringsliv and Morgenbladet both 
enter 2020 with a lower cost level and a 
more digitally-oriented organisation than a 
year ago. Developing digital products and 
facilitating strong product development 
and growth within this area continues to  
be a key part of our strategy. At the same 
time, we intend to defend our market share 
in paper-based products, which are still 
important sources of income for the publi-
cations.

In 2020, we plan to continue to develop the 
organisational initiatives from 2019 and 
continue to develop high quality products 
for the target groups we have identified.

In the winter of 2020 coronavirus is expec-
ted to have a negative impact on the adver-
tising market, but exactly how long the 
effects will persist remains uncertain.

Norwegian Publications
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Global Publications

Operations and net income 
Total operating revenue in the Global Publi-
cations segment consisted of 62% subscrip-
tion revenue, 29% ad revenue and 9% 
other income, mainly from events. 

TradeWinds made up around 40% of the 
revenue while energy and seafood accoun-
ted for approximately 30% each. Digital 
revenue accounted for 36% (30%) of total 
revenue while print accounted for 55% 
(62%).

Both operating revenue and operating pro-
fit/(loss) declined in 2019, following a year 
characterised by a significant Group-wide 
restructuring and a challenging advertising 
market for the energy and seafood publica-
tions. 

TradeWinds was the most important con-
tributor to profitability, with an operating 
margin of 14%. Fiskeribladet also made a 
positive contribution while other business 
units had a negative contribution to results. 

The product portfolio is undergoing a signi-
ficant digitalisation process. Total digital ad 
revenue increased 8% while pure digital 
subscription products grew 27% in both 
volume and revenue.

Products and digitalisation 
The most important investments in 2019 
were related to digital distribution plat-
forms. Along with Dagens Næringsliv, over 
the course of the year, Europower and all 
the English-language publications were 
transferred to a common digital platform. 
This will ensure future operational syner-
gies across all NHST media products as 
well as robust and flexible media products 
designed with the future in mind.

Investment was also made in upgrading 
analytical systems and customer payment 
solutions (also on the same platform as 

Dagens Næringsliv). This ensures that the 
global publications can retrieve informa-
tion on products and trends from a new, 
shared NHST analytics department.

In 2019 an extensive project was also 
implemented to coordinate subscription 
sales and analysis across all English-language 
publications. 

The subscription market 
The publications are established in global 
markets with potential for growth and  
provide specialised information services 
and journalism to customer groups that 
historically have been willing to pay for 
value received. All the publications have 
been based on both subscription and  
advertising revenues. During this challen-
ging advertising market in 2019, we have 
worked diligently to promote subscription 
sales.  

All the paper-based publications are experi-
encing significant growth in the number of 
digital subscribers. Growth in digital sub-
scription revenue exceeded the decline in 
paper-based combination subscriptions, 
contributing toward the positive subscrip-
tion revenue growth we experienced in 
2019. 

The advertising market 
In 2019, TradeWinds delivered advertising 
revenue that was on par with 2018 revenue. 
This performance was due to a planned 
transition to digital advertising products, 
supported by content marketing and the 
introduction of new advertising products. 

Other publications have experienced a  
challenging transition to digital advertising 
formats but saw a positive uptick toward 
the end of 2019, supported by strong 
growth in digital product consumption. 

Events
In 2019, a shared Events department  
was established for all publications at 
NHST Global Publications. TradeWinds has 
played an important role in creating 
meeting places for the shipping industry 
and shows that a news publication can in 
fact be a gathering point for the major  
stakeholders in the shipping industry.  
TradeWinds continued to deliver satisfying 
results from Events in 2019, and 2020 will 
be a crucial year for establishing similar 
commercially successful arenas within the 
seafood and energy sectors. 

Looking ahead to 2020
Over the course of the year, NHST Global 
Publications developed its organisation  
and platforms to facilitate interdisciplinary 
work across its manufacturing and product 
units going forward in 2020. Thanks to  
shared subscription, marketing and events 
departments, we can strategically work 
across some of the largest industries in the 
world - energy, seafood and shipping - to 
capture a larger share of the user market. 

The vision of NHST Global Publications is 
‘Knowledge for better business’. The main 
objective is to increase digital subscription 
and advertising revenues through outstan-
ding journalism and analysis. We will  
continue to improve the meeting places  
for various industries by introducing new 
events and ensuring that our editorial 
brands continue to be the focal points of 
these industries.

The Global Publications segment includes the international industry 
publications TradeWinds, Upstream, Intrafish and Recharge as well 
as the Norwegian publications Fiskeribladet and Europower.
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SaaS

Mynewsdesk 
Mynewsdesk offers a digital PR and com-
munications platform to customers prima-
rily based in Europe. Sweden is the largest 
individual market, accounting for approxi-
mately 70% of the operating revenue, follo-
wed by Norway, Denmark and the DACH 
countries (Germany, Austria and Switzer-
land). All in all, Mynewsdesk has around 
4500 customers.

Throughout 2019, the nordic market for  
PR services underwent consolidation, with 
several companies entering into acquisi-
tions, mergers or strategic alliances, and  
the level of competition intensified.

Mynewsdesk responded to this trend in  
the marketplace by continuing to focus on 
improving its product and service offering 
to customers. In addition to the main PR 
distribution product, the company offers 
media monitoring.

In addition, the organisation was signifi-
cantly streamlined through a comprehen-
sive profitability initiative launched  
in the first quarter of 2019. As part of this 
initiative, the headcount at Mynewsdesk 
was reduced from 215 as of 4Q 2018 to 143 
as of the end of 2019. 

Excluding costs related to restructuring, the 
underlying cost structure was reduced by 
around SEK 50 million on an annual basis. 
This led to a substantial improvement in the 
company’s profitability from 2018 to 2019.

Louise Barnekow was appointed as Interim 
CEO of Mynewsdesk in January 2019. She 
was appointed on a permanent basis in 
September 2019.

Mention
Mention’s product suite covers web- and 
social media monitoring as well as publish-
ing on social media.

In 2019, revenue was fairly flat for Mention 
compared to the prior year. Over the course 
of the year, the company opened up new 
distribution channels throughout Scandina-
via and the DACH region (through 
Mynewsdesk) and made substantial invest-
ments into the development of a solution 
for the global market.

Mention has over 3000 paying customers 
from all over the world, but primarily from 
Europe and North America. The solution is 
targeted at SMB customers and is sold via 
several different channels: a dedicated sales 
force, a sales partner (Mynewsdesk) and 
online as a self-service solution. 

Profitability has fallen at Mention compa-
red to prior years due to increased invest-
ment in sales and marketing, customer care 
and product development. 

Mention’s product is designed for a global 
market, requiring ongoing development to 
keep pace with customer expectations and 
competitive solutions. In 2019, the product 
was upgraded to allow users to publish  
content on and respond to social media 
activity. This added functionality was well 
received but the product needs to be upda-
ted in 2020 to reach its full potential with 
the customer base.

An important area of focus in 2019 for the 
product development team was to moder-
nise the solution’s underlying architecture.

The department has also developed skills 
and added more capacity in Data Science, 
which will be a key area of investment 
going forward.

The market for traditional and social media 
monitoring is maturing rapidly, and Men-
tion must continue to invest to maintain its 
market share. The company is doing this by 
expanding its product suite while focusing 
its market strategy on mid-sized customers, 
and sees an opportunity to establish a lead-
ing position in the market. 

Mention will continue to require invest-
ments in technology, sales and marketing 
to maximize its potential. In 2020, however, 
the investment level will be adapted to 
reflect the changed market situation resul-
ting from the Covid-19 pandemic, and a 
cost reduction program., also involving 
manning reductions, has been launched. 

Mention is focusing on improving profita-
bility and developing a more scalable  
business model. The company will during 
2020 continue to improve its product  
offering, its marketing efforts and the  
user experience and reduce customer 
churn.

Jean-Philippe Baert was appointed as 
Mention’s CEO in November 2019.

The SaaS segment consists of two separate companies, Mynewsdesk 
AB, headquartered in Stockholm, Sweden, and Mention Solutions 
SAS, headquartered in Paris, France. These two businesses have their 
own separate brands, products and organisations but collaborate in 
market analysis, product development and sales.
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In majestic solitude, Finance Minister Siv Jensen  

arrives in the parliamentary chambers just before  

presenting the 2020 national budget to the Norwegian 

Parliament. It would turn out to be the Progress Party 

(Frp) leader’s final presentation of the national budget 

as the party later withdrew from government. 

Dagens Næringsliv 26/09/2019 

Photo: Per Ståle Bugjerde
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2019 Board of Directors 
report
The NHST Media Group has throughout 2019 made significant  
investments in the development of competencies and technology to 
strengthen the focus on digital products  and provide the foundation 
for growth in revenues and increased competitiveness. The work to 
increase subscription revenues and make the Group less exposed to 
changes  in the advertising market, has continued. Facing a challen-
ging market characterized by changes in demand patterns and  
intensified competition, the Group has also launched a number of  
initiatives to improve profitability. The Group sees reduced demand 
for paper based products and shrinking advertising revenues for  
traditional media. Manning reductions have been implemented in  
several of the business areas to adapt costs to a lower revenue level.

The measures have resulted in increased revenues from digital  
products, in particular from digital subscriptions, and a positive  
underlying trend in Group profitability through the year.

Our business
NHST Media Group is a Norwegian Group that owns and operates 
business-oriented Norwegian and international publications, a digi-
tal PR and communications platform and media monitoring services. 
The company’s headquarters are located in Oslo, Norway. The busi-
ness is operated through subsidiaries in Norway and abroad.

NHST Media Group’s shares are quoted on the NOTC, which is a 
marketplace for unlisted Norwegian stocks. Transfer of the shares 
is unrestricted. However, in accordance with the company’s  
Articles of Association, the Board of Directors must approve any 
share transfers.

NHST Media Group has structured its business into three seg-
ments: Norwegian Publications, Global Publications and Software-
as-a-Service (SaaS).

Norwegian Publications includes the newspapers Dagens Næring-
sliv and Morgenbladet.

Global Publications includes the international industry publica-
tions TradeWinds, Upstream, Intrafish.com and Recharge as well 
as the Norwegian publications Fiskeribladet, Intrafish.no, Tekfisk 
and Europower.

Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) includes the companies Mynewsdesk 
and Mention. Mynewsdesk, headquartered in Stockholm, Sweden, 
offers customers a digital PR and communications platform with 
associated services. Mention offers media monitoring services, 
primarily for social media. Mention’s headquarters are located in 
Paris, France.

Performance of NHST Media Group in 2019
2019 was characterised by significant restructurings throughout 
NHST Media Group. The Group worked in a structured manner in 
order to respond to the major shift taking place in the market. The 
demand for news continues to shift toward digital distribution, 
and traditional paper-based news consumption has been falling 
year by year. The level of competition in business journalism is 
rising in Norway, and several competitors have recently announced 
planned investments within this market segment. The advertis-
ing market, which traditionally has been an important source of 
revenue for printed media, is characterised by competition from 
international players with a strong position in digitally distributed 
advertising.

To meet this challenge, several of NHST Media Group’s busi-
nesses implemented comprehensive structural changes in 2019. 
Dagens Næringsliv, Morgenbladet, NHST Global Publications and 
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Mynewsdesk all carried out workforce reductions and cost cutting 
measures throughout the year. The cost reductions were necessary 
in order to ensure that the business units have adequate financial 
strength for product development and investment in human  
resources and new technology.

In 2019, the Group stepped up its investment in technology by 
merging its IT development groups and creating a new, centralised 
data analysis group for the media businesses. This should intribute 
to better, more relevant user experiences as well as more effective 
internal manufacturing and distribution processes.

The financial results for 2019 were characterised by both a chal-
lenging underlying market environment and considerable one-off 
restructuring costs. Nevertheless, the Board of Directors observes 
that the Group’s underlying profitability compared to the prior 
years showed improvement towards the end of the year and that 
the measures implemented to improve the Group’s financial 
situation have yielded results.

Financial review

Figures in parentheses are from 2018

Going concern assumption and post closing events
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis 
of the going concern principle. In 2019, a number of initiatives 
were implemented to reduce the Group’s cost base and improve 
results, and the Board expects that these measures will help  
improve the Group’s competitiveness throughout 2020. It is the 
opinion of the Board of Directors that the annual accounts provide 
a true and fair view of NHST Media Group's assets and liabilities, 
financial position and results as of year end 2019.

Through the first quarter 2020 the global corona pandemic and the 
drop in oil prices have led to a negative development and consider-
able uncertainty regarding the Group`s revenues going forward, 
especially related to advertising and conferences. The Group has 
therefore launched further significant cost reductions to secure the 
financial foundation for operations through 2020. This program  
includes reductions in personnel costs through hiring freeze, leave 
of absence and salary reductions, as well as reductions in pur-
chased services and other costs. In the French subsidiary  
Mention, there will be permanent manning reductions. The  
program comprises cost reductions totaling more than NOK 100 
million for the Group for 2020, effective from the second quarter.

Changed market outlook for 2020 and 2021 for Mention, result-
ing from the Covid -19 situation, cause an impairment of goodwill 
which was capitalized on the acquisition of Mention in 2018, in the 
amount of NOK 80,6 million in the first quarter 2020. The Group 
is nevertheless confident about the long term competitiveness and 
potential for growth and profitability for Mention.
Although the loss for the first quarter creates a negative book equity 
for the Group, the Board is of the opinion that the going concern 
assumption is correct. The Board is of the opinion that the fair 
value of the Group`s assets clearly exceeds the liabilities.

Profit and loss statement (P&L)
NHST Media Group had revenue of NOK 1,199.3 million in 2019 
(1,293.5 million). Adjusted for the effect of the sale of Nautisk For-
lag and the acquisition of Mention Solutions S.A.S., both of which 
took place in autumn 2018, operating revenue for the year fell by 
3.1 per cent. The decline was primarily due to lower advertising 
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revenue in the Norwegian Publications and Global Publications 
segments.

The Group’s operating expenses fell by 5.4 per cent in relation 
to 2018. Adjusted for the effect of the sale of Nautisk Forlag and 
the acquisition of Mention Solutions, along with the effect of 
non-recurring restructuring charges, operating expenses for the 
year declined by 4.4 per cent. The reduction was primarily due to 
reduced staffing levels in several of the Group’s largest business 
units, along with lower printing and distribution expenses for 
printed news media.

The Group’s earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amor-
tisation (EBITDA) were NOK 28.7 million (44.5 million). The EBITDA 
figure for 2019 includes non-recurring charges for reorganisation 
and restructuring in the amount of NOK 42.7 million (5.1 million). 
Excluding non-recurring charges, the Group’s EBITDA improved 
by NOK 21.8 million compared to 2018.

The Group’s earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) were NOK 
-38.6 million in 2019 (-14.8 million). The EBIT figure includes 
depreciation and amortization of NOK 67.2 million (59.3 million), 
of which amortisation of goodwill amounted to NOK 21.6 million 
(13.1 million). The increase in depreciation and amortization was 
due to amortisation of intangible assets and goodwill related to the 
acquisition of Mention Solutions. The Group’s earnings before tax 
(EBT) amounted to NOK -56.1 million (-9.3 million), and earnings 
per share were NOK -40.9 (-10.6).

Cash flow
NHST Media Group had cash flow from operating activities of 
NOK 15.1 million in 2019 (76.0 million). In addition to the profit/
(loss) for the year, cash flow from operations was primarily  
affected by the changes in accounts receivable and pre-paid  
subscriptions.

Cash flow from investing activities amounted to NOK 61.4 million 
in 2019 (181.6 million). The Group’s investments in Property, Plant 
& Equipment (PP&E) in 2019 was NOK 40.3 million (48.7 million). 
The investments in PP&E were primarily related to new product 
development, customer-focused IT-based solutions and IT solutions 
to improve and streamline internal work processes.

Cash flow from financing activities was NOK 0 in 2019 compared 
to a positive cash flow of 116.1 million the prior year. In the first 
quarter of 2019, the Group signed a new loan agreement that runs 
until year end 2021, for a revolving credit line with a limit of NOK 
250 million. As of 31 December 2019, NOK 170 million had been 
drawn on the credit line, and the Group had a total cash and cash 
equivalents balance of NOK 183.1 million (229.4 million) and net 
financial assets of NOK 13.1 million (52.2 million). 

Group balance sheet
At the end of 2019, the Group had total assets of NOK 775.2 mil- 
lion (844.4 million). Intangible assets amounted to NOK 287.3 million 
(311.0 million). The latter amount includes capitalised development 
costs and goodwill related to the acquisition of businesses. Capitalised 
development costs and goodwill are amortised according to a pre-de-
termined schedule, and any remaining balances are assessed periodi-
cally to ensure that book values are reasonable and prudent. 

As of 31 December 2019, total shareholders equity amounted to 
NOK 57.8 million, compared to NOK 110.8 million at the end of 
2018. The equity ratio was 7.5 per cent, compared to 13.1 per cent 
as of 31 December 2018.

Parent company and allocation of the year’s 
profit/(loss)
The parent company, NHST Media Group AS, is primarily engaged 
in the sale of administrative and developmental services to the sub-
sidiaries. The parent company had operating revenue of NOK 85.9 
million in 2019 (87.7 million) and an operating loss of NOK 34.4 
million (35.6 million) while net income from financial items was a 
positive NOK 22.6 million (28.6 million) 

Profit/(loss) for the year was NOK -2.1 million (-7.7 million). The 
Board proposes that no dividends will be distributed for 2019. It is  
proposed that NHST Media Group AS’s net loss for the year will  
be covered as follows:

- Allocated for dividends:  NOK 0
- Transferred from retained equity:  NOK 2,103,936

Operations
Norwegian Publications segment 2019 2018
Operating revenue 644.1 667.0

EBITDA 28.7 44.7

The Norwegian Publications segment includes Dagens Næringsliv 
and Morgenbladet. The segment accounted for total operating 
revenue of NOK 644.1 million (667.0 million) and EBITDA of NOK 
28.7 million (44.7 million). The EBITDA figure for the segment in 
2019 includes a non-recurring restructuring charge in the amount 
of NOK 25.5 million.

User revenues for 2019 declined slightly compared to the prior 
year. The segment experienced substantial revenue growth from 
digital subscriptions but paper-based subscription and newsstand 
sales both declined.

Advertising revenue for the year fell by around 13 per cent com-
pared to the prior year. In particular, traditional newspaper adver-
tisements showed a decline but digital advertising revenue also 
came in somewhat lower than the prior year.

In 2019, Dagens Næringsliv worked to reinforce its position as the 
leading business newspaper in Norway, undergoing comprehen-
sive organisational changes over the course of the year. The objec-
tive of these changes was to strengthen the focus on both journal-
ism and products aimed at select target groups. At the same time,  
a sudden drop in advertising revenue over the second and third 
quarters necessitated the implementation of a cost reduction initia-
tive. After discussions with employee trade unions, in September 
voluntary severance packages were offered to all employees. In  
all, twenty-five employees accepted the offer and subsequently re-
signed from their positions during the fourth quarter. Towards the 
end of the year, it was decided to invest in new skills for the edito-
rial and commercial teams and 9 new positions were announced. 
The process to fill these started around the turn of the year.

Due to weakening profitability trends at Morgenbladet, it was also 
decided to implement cost reductions there, offering severance 
packages to all employees. In all, eight of the newspaper’s 30 em-
ployees accepted the offer and resigned during the fourth quarter. 
In October, Morgenbladet’s CEO/Managing Editor chose to resign 
from her position. Her successor was appointed in January 2020.

Global Publications segment 2019 2018
Operating revenue 301.1 304.2

EBITDA 11.2 17.3
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The Global Publications segment includes the international indus-
try publications TradeWinds, Upstream, Intrafish.com and Re-
charge as well as the Norwegian niche publications Fiskeribladet, 
Intrafish.no, Tekfisk and Europower. 

The segment had revenue of NOK 301.1 million in 2019 (304.2 mil-
lion) and EBITDA of NOK 11.2 million (17.3 million).

The segment’s publications all experienced substantial growth in 
digital subscription revenue in 2019. This growth more than offset 
the decline in paper-based subscription revenue.
TradeWinds made progress in 2019, confirming its position as one 
of the world’s leading shipping newspapers with increased sub-
scription revenue and stable advertising revenue.

The oil and gas publication Upstream experienced rising subscrip-
tion revenue but significantly lower advertising revenue. Both the 
editorial and commercial management teams were strengthened 
throughout the year, and toward the end of 2019, Upstream was en-
joying substantial growth in digital subscription revenue. Recharge 
and Intrafish.com also turned in disappointing performances in 
2019 when it came to advertising revenue. However, after a shift in 
editorial strategy, both these publications experienced a significant 
increase in traffic to their online editions over the last two quarters.

In June 2019, NHST Media Group acquired the remaining shares 
(altogether 33.4 per cent) in Fiskeribladet AS from the Norwegian 
Fishermen’s Sales Organization, and Fiskeribladet is therefore now 
a wholly owned subsidiary. Fiskeribladet delivered stable results in 
2019 as falling advertising revenue was offset by lower operating 
expenses. A restructuring of the Norwegian seafood publications 
was implemented in the fourth quarter when Fiskeribladet, Intraf-
ish.no and Tekfisk were combined into one merged operating entity 
with common management under the name NHST Sjømat Norge.

SaaS segment 2019 2018
Operating revenue 263.4 238.6

EBITDA 23.3 11.4

The Software-as-a-Service segment (SaaS) consists of Mynewsdesk 
and Mention Solutions S.A.S. Mynewsdesk offers a PR and com-
munications platform, along with associated services, while  
Mention Solutions offers media monitoring services, primarily  
focused on social media monitoring and management. Mynews-
desk is headquartered in Stockholm, Sweden while Mention’s 
headquarters are located in Paris, France.

The segment accounted for operating revenue of NOK 263.4 million 
(238.6 million) and EBITDA of NOK 23.3 million (11.4 million).

Mynewsdesk underwent a larger-scale restructuring in 2019. Sales 
activities were concentrated around the chosen core markets of Scan-
dinavia and the DACH countries (Germany, Austria and Switzerland). 
The Swedish market accounts for approximately 70 per cent of the 
revenue. The company’s headcount was reduced from 215 at the 
beginning of 2019 to 143 as of 31 December 2019. This profitability 
initiative helped Mynewsdesk turn a loss in 2018 around to a profit 
in 2019 and was the single most important factor accounting for the 
segment’s improved profitability.

In August 2018, the Group (via its Mynewsdesk subsidiary) acquired 
85 per cent of the shares of Mention, and Mention’s results have there-
fore been consolidated in the Group’s accounts as of the fourth quarter 
of 2018. The Group acquired an additional 9.7 per cent of Mention 
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in October 2019. With respect to the remaining approx. 5 per cent, a 
mutual call and put option gives Mynewsdesk the right and obligation 
to acquire these shares in 2021. Throughout 2019, Mention invested 
in product and market development and on building its organisation. 
The financial results for this business are typical of a company in  
the development phase. A new CEO for Mention was appointed in 
November 2019.

Research and development
The Group’s development activities are concentrated around three 
main areas: 
-  Development and implementation of IT solutions to streamline 
the production and distribution of news material and advertising

-  Product development, particularly in the areas of PR distribution, 
media monitoring and bundled services

-  Data analysis focused on the news item and PR consumption, 
with the goal of developing products that are better adapted to 
current and future customer needs.

The development work is being done partly by internal staff and 
partly by contracted resources. Total capitalised development costs 
amounted to NOK 35.8 million in 2019. (2018: NOK 40,5 million 
excluding the effect of the investment in Mention).

Human resources and equal opportunity
At the end of 2019, NHST Media Group had 619 employees in all, 
compared to 731 at the end of 2018. 327 of these were employed 
by the Group’s Norwegian business units while 292 were employed 
outside of Norway. The distribution of employees by country was 
as follows:

Country Employees as of 31/12/2019
Norway 327

Sweden 106

United Kingdom 56

France 37

Others 93

As of year’s end, 43 per cent of all employees were women.

At the beginning of 2019, the Group drafted an action plan to 
improve diversity and inclusion. The goal was to have at least 40 
per cent representation of each gender in all management groups 
and internal boards by 2021. This goal was reached in 2019 with 
respect to Group management. At year’s end, three of the seven 
members of the Group’s management team were women. The goal 
was also met for the majority of management groups on the level 
immediately below Group management. 

Recruitment efforts are a key initiative for ensuring gender bal-
ance and diversity. Improving the gender balance is an important 
priority for all our recruitment processes, especially when it comes 
to management positions. Guidelines for ensuring diversity in 
recruitment processes were drafted in 2019. 

The action plan for diversity also includes a systematic approach to 
talent development and succession planning.

Periodic surveys were carried out to evaluate the workplace en-
vironment in the Group’s business units. Throughout 2019, the 
workplace environment was affected by the significant change 
processes taking place in several of the Group’s business units. 
During these processes, the preservation of a good workplace en-
vironment was emphasized by introducing various initiatives to 
promote leadership development and providing thorough informa-
tion to employees on a regular basis. In 2019, sick leave among 
the Group’s Norwegian employees was 2.7 per cent, of which 1.7% 

consisted of long-term sick leave, compared with sick leave of 3.6 
per cent in 2018.
No accidents involving bodily injury occurred in any of the 
Group’s businesses in 2019.

In 2019, several leadership development initiatives were carried 
out. Dagens Næringsliv wrapped up a sizeable leadership devel-
opment initiative, and support and skill development in change 
management was offered to managers who have been involved in 
change processes. These initiatives will be continued in 2020.

Work has begun on both a common approach to structured talent 
development and succession planning across the Group.

In 2019, the Group’s HR function was strengthened by the hiring 
of a Group Director for Organisation and Communications.

Community responsibility and the environment
NHST Media Group places a high priority on community respon-
sibility and environmental initiatives. The Group began working 
on developing guidelines for community responsibility and ethics 
based on business and organisational considerations, drafting a 
policy document that will apply to the entire Group: the NHST 
Media Group Code of Conduct. This document will be completed 
during the first six months of 2020 and will summarise the com-
pany’s guidelines and expectations with respect to such topics as 
equal opportunity initiatives, ethics in relation to customers and 
business partners and anti-corruption policies.

Safeguarding privacy is of key importance to a media company.  
In 2018, the Group adopted rules and procedures to ensure compli-
ance with the EU’s General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), 
and throughout 2019, the Company updated and strengthened its 
GDPR compliance efforts. Periodic audits are conducted on the 
compliance of all business units, and the Group’s management 
groups prioritise initiatives dealing with compliance with GDPR 
requirements and follow-up on any potential non-conformities.

NHST Media Group’s business activities do not significantly  
pollute the external environment.

Paper printing and distribution result in indirect CO2 emissions, 
primarily related to the production of newsprint. The Group is 
actively working to reduce paper consumption by using lighter-
weight paper and reducing the number of pages in its newspapers. 
The reduced circulation of traditional printed newspaper editions 
has also had a significant effect. Dagens Næringsliv has roughly 
halved its consumption of newsprint over the period from 2014 to 
2019; in 2019, approximately 2600 tonnes were consumed. 

All paper suppliers to NHST possess a documented environmental 
certification. The Group is also constantly working on optimising 
its newspaper distribution by identifying the best possible combi-
nations of printing and distribution solutions for individual geo-
graphic markets. Decentralised printing makes a material differ-
ence in reducing the environmental impact linked to distribution.

Corporate governance and Group management
NHST Media Group’s shares are traded on the NOTC, which is a 
marketplace for unlisted stocks owned by the Oslo Børs stock  
exchange. The Group aims to comply with the Norwegian Code of 
Practice for corporate governance and management published by 
The Norwegian Corporate Governance Board (NUES). 

For further details, please refer to the dedicated chapter of the  
Annual Report. Several key issues are briefly commented on below.
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The company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) is open to all 
shareholders, who may participate either in person or by proxy. 
There is only a single share class, and each share entitles the  
shareholder to one vote at the AGM. 

Transfer of the company’s shares is unrestricted although the 
Board may prohibit the transfer of shares subject to reasonable 
grounds. The right to withhold consent to any acquisition of shares 
is based on the need for editorial and commercial independence.

NHST Media Group’s Board of Directors held 11 meetings in 2019 
and concentrated in particular on following up on the business 
unit restructurings and developing the Group’s business strategy 
going forward.

The Board periodically receives reports on the company’s financial 
condition on both a Group and individual company level. The 
corporate strategy and strategic plans are broadly reviewed at an 
extended board meeting each year. 

In addition, the Board has two sub-committees: a compensation 
committee and an audit committee.

At the Annual General Meeting, Anette Olsen and Christian Must 
were elected to the nomination committee.

The AGM also establishes the compensation of board members on 
an annual basis. In 2019, compensation of NOK 1.6 million was 
paid out in the form of directors’ fees.

Risk and risk management
NHST Media Group’s profitability over time is particularly af-
fected by market conditions impacting the company’s products as 
well as the organisation’s ability to develop competitive products 
and services that ensure adequate market share and a sufficient 
revenue base over the years. The Group is constantly working on 
organisational and skill development and developing new products 
and solutions to reduce market risk. In 2019, the Group’s invest-
ments were primarily concentrated around improving products 
and services within its core business.

The Group is exposed to various types of risk on an ongoing  
basis in relation to its ordinary operations, financial risk (includ-
ing translation risk and credit risk) and operational risk associated 
with the operation of a global organisation.

The Group is also exposed to translation risk since several of its 
products in the Global Publications segment receive or remit rev-
enue and expenses denominated in a foreign currency. Revenue is 
primarily earned in US dollar and euro while the most important 

currency on the cost side of the equation is the British pound. The 
net exposure has been found to be limited in relation to the size of the 
Group. The Group evaluates currency hedging on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s investment in Mention Solutions S.A.S. uses the euro 
as its functional currency, and exchange rate fluctuations between 
the euro and the Norwegian krone have an effect on the Group’s 
earnings and shareholders equity. The investment in Mynews-
desk uses the Swedish krona as its functional currency. Similarly, 
exchange rate fluctuations between the Swedish krona and the 
Norwegian krone have an effect on the Group’s earnings and 
shareholders equity.

In addition to the translation risk associated with a global customer 
portfolio, the Group is also exposed to a credit risk with respect to 
these customers. The Group tracks outstanding receivables on an 
ongoing basis and has dedicated employees to monitor customers 
and past due receivables.

Above and beyond this, the Group has little exposure to financial 
markets and does not make significant use of hedging instruments.

Management and monitoring of the group’s risk factors is carried 
out by the Board in the form of an overall risk review during its 
annual meeting with the auditor. In addition, the Board has an 
audit committee that assesses financial risk management and  
financial reporting. Management also prepares operational reports 
for the Board on an ongoing basis, and the majority of the Group’s 
activities are included in a consolidated group bank account system. 
Liquidity is managed centrally.

Outlook
It is expected that the markets for NHST Media Group’s activities 
will continue to be volatile in 2020. The Board expects demand 
to continue to decline for paper-based publications and grow for 
digitally distributed products and services.

The Group will continue to invest in the development of digital 
products in order to respond to this trend. NHST Media Group will 
also prioritise active business development in order to reinforce its 
position as an attractive, leading media company.

However, throughout the first few months of 2020, there has been 
heightened uncertainty about market conditions and financial  
results due to the spread of the coronavirus and concerns about 
the global economy. The Group is working on a number of mea-
sures to reduce the impact of these events on its finances, and has 
launched a cost reduction program amounting to more than NOK 
100 million for 2020.

Patrik HofbauerAnette S. Olsen
CHAIR PERSON

Anne Britt BerentsenRichard Olav Aa

Eva Margrethe HessenEspen Linderud Hege Yli Melhus Ask
CEO

Selin Haxha

Oslo, Norway, 21 April 2020
The Board of Directors of NHST Media Group AS
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NHST MEDIA GROUP AS Figures in NOK 1,000 GROUP

2018 2019 Note 2019 2018

Operating revenue and operating expenses

0 0 Sales revenue 2  1,168,313  1,257,083 

 87,746  85,938 Other operating revenue 2  30,965  36,372 

87,746 85,938 Total operating revenue 1,199,278 1,293,455

0 0 Consumption of goods and services 3  244,902 313,627

 57,292  50,823 Personnel costs 4.6  669,776  682,142 

 14,196  9,350 Ordinary depreciation 7  67,222  59,349 

 51,880  60,122 Other operating expenses 4.5  255,959 253,163

123,368 120,295 Total operating expenses 1,237,859 1,308,280

 (35,622)  (34,357) Operating profit/(loss) (38,581) (14,825)

Financial income and financial expenses

32,608 32,657 Income from investments in subsidiaries 8.9 0 0 

0 0 Income from investments in associated companies 9  (194) 0 

 (8,048)  (9,553) Interest expense to group companies 0 0 

9,790 9,564 Interest income 1,441 1,987 

2,771 0 Other financial income 3 10,255 

 (5,184) 0 Impairment of long-term investments 8  (500) 0 

 (3,376)  (9,560) Interest expenses  (5,893)  (2,720)

0  (512) Other financial expenses  (12,459)  (3,998)

28,562 22,597 Net financial items  (17,601) 5,524

 (7,061)  (11,759) Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before taxes (56,183) (9,300)

 (642) 9,655 Taxes 12 5,360  (3,845)

 (7,703)  (2,104) Profit/(loss) for the year  (50,822)  (13,146)

Minority interest share of profit/(loss) for the year 457 805

Majority interest share of profit/(loss) for the year  (51,279)  (13,951)

Transfers and allocations:

0 0 Allocated for dividends

 (7,703)  (2,104) Transferred to/(from) retained equity

 (7,703)  (2,104)

Profit and Loss Account



26 NHST MEDIA GROUP / ANNUAL REPORT / 2019

Balance Sheet as of 
31 December

NHST MEDIA GROUP AS Figures in NOK 1,000 GROUP

2018 2019 ASSETS Note 2019 2018

Fixed assets

Intangible assets:

12,448  4,397 Other intangible assets 7  130,252  135,401 

0  0 Pre-paid taxes 0 0 

 4,996  14,651 Deferred tax assets 12 11,181 6,937 

0 0 Goodwill 7  145,877  168,613 

17,444 19,048 287,310 310,950

Property, plant & equipment (PP&E):

11,135  10,775 Inventory and office machinery 7  19,365  20,234

Fixed financial assets

239,785  280,935 Investments in subsidiaries 8 0 0 

0  1,000 Investments in associated companies and other investments 9  1,200  394 

 17,194  19,076 Pension assets 6  133,623  110,402 

5,817  5,818 Other non-current receivables 10  11,468  14,861 

131,584  122,733 Loans to Group companies 10 0 0 

394,380 429,561 146,291 125,658

422,959 459,385 Total fixed assets 452,966 456,842

Current assets

Receivables:

1,026  8 Accounts receivable 10  109,493  120,554 

55,273  54,745 Receivables from group companies 10 0 0 

8,788  8,349 Other current receivables  29,615  37,675 

65,086 63,102  139,108  158,228

Bank deposits et al

67,230  68,702 Bank deposits and cash 11  183,105  229,362

132,317 131,804 Total current assets 322,213 387,590

555,276 591,188 TOTAL ASSETS 775,179 844,432
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Patrik HofbauerAnette S. Olsen
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Oslo, Norway, 21 April 2020
The Board of Directors of NHST Media Group AS

NHST MEDIA GROUP AS Figures in NOK 1,000 GROUP

2018 2019 SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note 2019 2018

Shareholders equity

Paid-up capital:

12,879 12,879 Share capital 13.16 12,879 12,879 

 (448)  (448) Treasury stock 13 (448) (448)

50,551 50,551 Share premium 13  50,551  50,551 

62,983 62,983 62,983 62,983

Retained earnings:

 (12,076)  (14,180) Retained equity 13  (7,760)  31,064 

Minority interests 13  2,595  16,765 

50,907 48,803 Total equity 57,818 110,812

Liabilities

Provisions

9,219 10,064 Pension liabilities 6 20,617 18,758 

0  0 Deferred tax liabilities 12.18  11,941  16,560 
0 0 Other provisions 18  10,387  24,871 

9,219 10,064  42,945  60,189

Long-term liabilities: 

 100,000  170,000 Debt to financial institutions 14  170,000  100,000

 100,000  170,000  170,000  100,000

Current liabilities:

 5,508  4,454 Accounts payable  31,868  31,963 

0 0 Advances from customers  321,253  323,491 

 300,146  340,663 Debt to other Group companies 14 0 0 

0 0 Tax payable 12  1,905  2,694 

 1,762  521 Government taxes payable 41,683 47,381 

70,000 0 Debt to financial institutions 14 0 77,179 

 17,734  16,683 Other current liabilities 14  107,707  90,726 

 395,150  362,321 504,416 573,432

504,369 542,385 Total liabilities 717,361 733,621

555,276 591,188 TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 775,179 844,432
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Cash Flow Statement
NHST MEDIA GROUP AS Figures in NOK 1,000 GROUP

2018 2019 2019 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES

 (7,061)  (11,759) Profit/(loss) before taxes  (56,183)  (9,300)

0 0 Taxes paid for the period  (1,957)  (2,270)

0 0 Gain on the sale of long-term assets 0  (7,113)

14,196 9,350 Ordinary depreciation 67,222 59,349 

0 0 Income from investments in subsidiaries 0 0 

0 0 Impairment of long-term investments 194 0 

0 0 Change in inventory 0 12,589 

205 1,018 Change in accounts receivable 11,061 24,623 

 (630)  (1,054) Change in accounts payable  (94)  (19,903)

0 0 Change in advances from customers  (2,238) 17,471 

 (1,014)  (1,036) Change in net pension assets  (21,362) 9,702 

0 0 Unrealised currency translation (gains)/losses 4,329  (1,915)

 (60,176)  (32,249) Changes in other accruals 14,151  (7,265)

(54,479) (35,730) Net cash flow from operating activities 15,123 75,968

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

6,769 219 Proceeds from the sale of PP&E 0 14,530 

0 0 Proceeds from other investments 0 0 

 (4,700)  (1,158) Payments for the purchase of PP&E and intangible assets  (40,395)  (48,700)

0 0 Intragroup financing 0 0 

47,980 30,922 Proceeds from Group contributions and dividends 0 0 

 (7,173) 0 Payments for the purchase of shares of subsidiaries  (20,984)  (147,442)

 (119,562) 7,218 Payments for other investments 0 0 

(76,686) 37,201 Net cash flows from investing activities  (61,379)  (181,612)

CASH FLOWS FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

 (3,870) 0 Payment of dividends 0  (3,870)

0 0 Proceeds from minority shareholders equity 0 0 

120,000 0 Proceeds (payment) - other financing 0 120,000 

116,130 0 Net cash flows from financing activities 0 116,130

(15,035) 1,471 Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (46,256) 10,486 

82,265 67,230 Cash and cash equivalents beginning of financial year (1/1) 229,362 218,876

67,230 68,702 Cash and cash equivalents end of financial year (31/12) 183,105 229,362
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The annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the Accoun-
ting Act (‘Regnskapsloven’) of 1998 and 
best accounting practices in Norway. 

Principles for consolidation 
NHST Media Group AS is a holding company 
that handles administrative services for all 
its subsidiaries. 

The consolidated accounts include NHST 
Media Group and any subsidiaries where 
NHST Media Group directly or indirectly 
owns more than 50 per cent of the entity. 
Consistent accounting principles have been 
applied to the accounts of Group companies. 
All significant intra-company transactions 
and balances between Group companies 
have been eliminated. Investments in  
associated companies are calculated in  
accordance with the equity method in both 
the individual companies’ financial state-
ments and the consolidated accounts.

Items in the income statements of foreign 
subsidiaries are translated based on the  
average exchange rate for the year as a 
whole while balance sheet items are trans-
lated based on the exchange rate in effect 
on 31/12. 

Unrealised currency translation gains or  
losses are recognised against shareholders 
equity.

Shares in subsidiaries are eliminated in  
accordance with the acquisition method in 
the consolidated accounts. This means that 
the acquired company’s assets and liabiliti-
es are valued at their fair value at the time 
of the purchase and any amount paid abo-
ve and beyond this sum is classified as 
either intangible assets or goodwill. For 
partially owned subsidiaries, only NHST  
Media Group’s share of the goodwill has 
been included on the balance sheet. 
 
Operating revenue 
Ads are recognised as revenue at the time 
of publication. Advertising revenue is redu-
ced by commissions, discounts and refunds. 
Subscription revenue is invoiced and paid 
for in advance while the revenue is accrued 
linearly over the term of the agreement.  

Revenue from services is recognised  
proportionate to its earnings. 
 
Expenses 
Expenses are recognised as a rule during 
the same period as their associated reve-
nue. In cases where there is no clear  
correlation between expenses and revenue, 
the timing is determined based on discre-
tionary criteria. 
 
Valuation and classification of 
assets and liabilities 
Assets intended for long-term ownership  
or use are classified as fixed assets. Other 
assets are classified as current assets.  
Receivables due within one year are nonet-
heless classified as current assets. Corre-
sponding criteria are used as a basis for 
classification of current liabilities. 
 
Fixed assets are valued at their acquisition 
cost but are written down to fair value 
when their impairment is not expected to 
be temporary in nature. Fixed assets with  
a limited useful life are depreciated accor-
ding to a schedule. 
 
Current assets are valued at the lower of 
acquisition cost and fair value. Current l 
iabilities are recognised on the balance  
sheet at their nominal amount at the time 
of assumption. 
 
Certain items are valued according to other 
rules and are accounted for below. 
 
Intangible assets 
Expenses for the production of intangible 
assets are capitalised when it is likely that 
the future economic benefits associated 
with the assets will inure to the company 
and a reliable value can be placed on the 
acquisition. 

Intangible assets that are purchased indivi-
dually are carried on the balance sheet at 
their acquisition cost. Intangible assets as-
sumed when a business has been acquired 
are carried on the balance sheet at their  
acquisition cost when the criteria for recog-
nition have been met. 

Fixed assets with a limited useful life are 

depreciated according to a schedule. Intan-
gible assets are written down to fair value  
if their expected economic benefits are less 
than the sum of their carrying value and 
any remaining production costs. 
Ordinary depreciation is calculated using 
the straight-line method over the following 
number of years: 
 
Goodwill:    5 to 10 years 
Other intangible assets 3 to 10 years 
 
The company has chosen to amortise 
goodwill over a period of more than five  
years in certain cases. Amortisation periods 
in excess of five years reflect the underlying 
operations of the companies to which the 
goodwill is related. Since for companies in 
the development phase, break-even return 
on equity and cash flow may not be 
reached within five years of the time of the 
company’s acquisition, an amortisation  
period corresponding more closely with the 
company’s operations has been chosen. 
 
Property, plant & equipment 
(PP&E) 
PP&E is depreciated over the expected use-
ful life of the asset. Ordinary depreciation is 
calculated using the straight-line method 
over the following number of years: 
 
Vehicles:    5 years 
Inventory/office equipment:   5 years 
IT equipment:     3 to 5 years 
Refurbishment or remodelling of premises:   
Over the remaining lease term. See Note 7. 
 
Shares and participations in 
subsidiaries 
Investments in subsidiaries are valued in  
accordance with the cost method in the  
individual companies’ financial statements. 
The investments are written down to their 
fair value if the impairment is not temporary 
in nature. Dividends and group contribu-
tions received from subsidiaries are recog-
nised as other financial income. 
 
Investments in associated companies are 
valued in accordance with the equity  
method both in the individual companies’ 
financial statements and the consolidated 
accounts. 
 

Notes 1 
NOTE 1 | ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 
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Notes 1, 2, 3, 4

NHST GROUP

2018 2019 2019 2018
0 0 Advertisements 273,752 306,012 

0 0 Subscriptions and newsstand sales 880,150 865,120 

0 0 Other sales revenue 14 411 85,951 

0 0 Total sales revenue 1,168,313 1,257,083 

0 0 Gain on the sale of long-term assets 0 31 

84,352 82,442 Sales to Group companies 0 0 

0 0 Gain on disposal of a business 0 7,113 

0 0 Press subsidies 17,101 12,599 

3,394 3,497 Other operating revenue 13,864 16,629 

87,746 85,938 Total other operating revenue 30,965 36,372

NOTE 2 | OPERATING INCOME Figures in NOK 1,000

Other long-term investments  
in shares 
Investments in shareholdings, where the 
company does not have a significant con-
trolling interest in the company, are carried 
on the balance sheet at their acquisition 
cost. The investments are written down to 
their fair value if the impairment is not tem-
porary in nature. Dividends received from 
the companies are recognised as Other  
financial income. 
 
Pensions 
When accounting for defined benefit plan 
pension expenses, the liability is distributed 
over the vesting period in accordance with 
the plan’s vesting formula. The allocation 
method corresponds to the plan’s vesting 
formula unless the majority of vesting takes 
place towards the end of the vesting period. 
The vesting is calculated linearly. 
Deviations in estimates and the effects of 
modified assumptions are both amortised 
over the expected remaining vesting period 
to the extent that these exceed 10% of the 
greater of the pension liabilities or the 
amount of the pension fund (Corridor Rule). 
The effect of retroactive plan modifications 
that are not contingent on future employ-
ment is recognised immediately in the  
income statement. Retroactive plan changes 
contingent on future employment are allo-
cated linearly over time until the service is 
no longer contingent on future employ-
ment. 
 
The net pension liability is the difference 
between the net present value of the pension 

liability and the value of the pension assets 
that have been allocated for payment of 
the services. The pension assets have been 
valued at fair value. Pension assets and  
liabilities are calculated as of the balance 
sheet date. The employer`s tax is calcula-
ted based on the actual net funding deficit 
and has been included in the figures. 

The company’s ordinary pension plan entit-
les all members to a future defined contri-
bution. This is primarily dependent on the 
number of service years, the salary level at 
the time of retirement and the calculated 
benefit from NIS according to the current 
regulations. The Group has accrued for a 
tariff-based private sector pension scheme 
(‘AFP’) for individuals who have signed up 
for this type of pension. 
 
Contribution plans are accrued according 
to the matching principle. The annual con-
tribution to the pension scheme is expensed. 
 
The Group has a made a provision for a  
calculated pension liability for certain senior 
executives with salaries over an NIS basic 
amount of 12G [NOK 1,198,296 as of 2019]. 

The provision is calculated on the basis of 
the same parameters as the defined benefit 
plan, and the annual calculated earnings are 
expensed as incurred. 
 
Accounts receivable and other 
receivables 
Accounts receivable and other receivables 
are entered in the annual financial state-

ments at face value, less provisions for future 
losses. 

Bank deposits and cash 
Bank deposits and cash include cash, bank 
deposits and other means of payment with 
a maturity of less than three months from 
the date of acquisition. 
 
Foreign currency 
Bank deposits, receivables and foreign-cur-
rency-denominated debt are translated at 
the exchange rate in effect on the balance 
sheet date. Subscriptions paid in advance in 
a foreign currency are valued on 31/12 at 
the weighted average of the exchange rate 
in effect at the time of payment and the 
forward rate. 
 
Taxes 
The tax expense is compared with the ear-
nings before tax (EBT) in the accounting 
statements. Tax associated with equity 
transactions is posted to shareholders equity. 
The tax expense consists of tax payable 
(tax on the year’s directly taxable income) 
and the change in net deferred tax liabiliti-
es. The tax expense is allocated between 
Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before 
taxes and Profit/(loss) from extraordinary 
items in accordance with current tax regu-
lations. Deferred tax liabilities and Deferred 
tax assets are presented in net amounts in 
the balance sheet.

NOTE 1 | ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, CONTINUED
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NOTE 2 | OPERATING REVENUE, CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST  GROUP
2018 2019 2019 2018

0 0 Cost of goods sold (COGS) 0 51,138 

0 0 Printing services 57,778 64,747 

0 0 Distribution 88,776 103,218 

0 0 Purchased material 87,733 82,166 

0 0 Conference expenses 10,615 12,359 

0 0 Total 244,902 313,627 

NOTE 3 | CONSUMPTION OF GOODS AND SERVICES Figures in NOK 1,000

NOTE 4 | PERSONNEL COSTS AND REMUNERATIONS, ETC. Figures in NOK 1,000

 NHST  GROUP
2018 2019 Personnel costs 2019 2018

46,317 40,010 Salaries and wages 526,473 536,810 

6,094 5,936 Social insurance (‘NIS’) taxes 86,075 86,092 

(1,014) (1,036) Pension expenses - defined benefit/non-statutory executive 8,954 11,539 

680 786 Pension expenses - contributions 10,171 10,790 

0 0 Pension expenses - abroad 12,785 11,322 

5,215 5,127 Other benefits 25,318 25,590 

57,292 50,823 Total 669,776 682,142

28 30 Average number of FTEs 680 731

Revenue distribution by geographic market:

NHST  GROUP
2018 2019 2019 2018

87,746 85,938 Norway 767,458 820,236 

0 0 Rest of Europe and Africa 321,510 337,926 

0 0 North and South America 51,322 50,794 

0 0 Asia and Oceania 58,988 84,499 

87,746 85,938 Total 1,199,278 1,293,455 
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Notes 4, 5 and 6

 
NHST

 
GROUP

2018 2019 2019 2018
590 513 Statutory auditing 3,279 3,504 

0 0 Other attestation services 78 19 

66 116 Tax consulting 135 115 

469 391 Other services 436 640 

1,126 1,020 Total 3,928 4,277

NHST GROUP
2018 2019 2019 2018

39,973 36,868 Office expenses 152,878 153,355 

313 98 Marketing 19,241 21,044 

0 0 Loss on bad debts 182 3,548 

11,595 23,156 Miscellaneous expenses 83,658 75,215 

51,880 60,122 Total 255,959 253,163 

NOTE 5 | OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST GROUP
2018 2019 Compensation and fees 2019 2018
1,125 1,630 Directors’ fees paid 2,715 2,150 

4,209 6,261 CEO compensation 6,261  4,209

The CEO’s compensation package includes a bonus, free car and pension expenses. The bonus agreement is a performance and 
evaluation-based agreement.

Total compensation consists of salary, severance pay and other remuneration paid in 2019 to the prior CEO, where the employment 
relationship terminated effective 1 February 2018, along with salary and other remuneration to the new CEO, where employment com-
menced on 1 November 2018. Total compensation consisted of NOK 5.403 million in salary and NOK 0.857 million in other remuneration.

According to the severance agreement, the prior CEO was entitled to 18 months of severance pay upon termination and thus  
received a salary through the end of July 2019. This was expensed in its entirety once the employment obligation ceased.

The new CEO has an agreement for 6 months’ advance notice of termination with pay.

No guarantees have been given on behalf of to senior executives. Likewise, no loans or guarantees have been pledged to board  
members in 2019.

Directors’ fees paid amounted to NOK 230,000 for the Chairman of the Board of NHST Media Group and NOK 200,000 all other 
board members, not including fees for committee work. Outside board members in the subsidiaries receive directors’ fees for their 
work proportionate with the size of the companies.

Remuneration to Deloitte AS, excluding VAT, for statutory auditing as well as the amounts expensed for any remaining fees of  
Deloitte AS and collaborating companies were distributed as follows:

NOTE 4 | PERSONNEL COSTS AND REMUNERATIONS, ETC. CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000
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NOTE 6 | PENSION COSTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES Figures in NOK 1,000

The company is obliged to have an occupational pension plan in accordance with the Act relating to mandatory occupational pen-
sions (‘Lov om obligatorisk tjenestepensjon’). All Norwegian companies in the Group have a pension plan for their employees that 
meets the requirements of this law. Five of the companies have defined benefit pension plans, of which four were closed to new 
enrolees on 1/1/2010 and one was closed on 30/06/11. At those times, defined contribution plans were set up at the companies 
that closed their defined benefit plans to new enrolees. The remaining companies, located both in Norway and abroad, have defined 
contribution plans.

The Group has a made a provision for a calculated pension liability for certain senior executives with salaries over an NIS basic amount 
of 12G [NOK 1,198,296 as of 2019]. This provision is intended to cover a pension of up to 66% of wages from 67 to 77 years of age. 
The provision is calculated on the basis of the same parameters as the defined benefit plan, and the annual calculated earnings are 
expensed as incurred. The plan is not funded.

Defined contribution plans
The Group’s defined contribution plans for employees in Norway are organised in accordance with the Act relating to defined contri-
bution pensions (‘Lov om innskuddspensjon’). The contribution that the companies make to the defined contribution plan amounts 
to 4.5-5.54% of wages between 1 and 7.1 G [NOK 99,858 and 708,992 in 2019] and 4.5-8% between 6 and 12 G [NOK 599,148 and 
1,198,296 in 2019]. A disability pension is offered to employees in Norway. This amounts to 10-20% of G, up to a maximum of 6% of 
the pension basis. 

The supplemental coverage is 66% of the pension basis between 6 G and 12 G. The defined contribution plans covered 252 employees 
as of 31/12/2019.

Defined benefit pension plans:
This liability covers 15 employees and 9 pensioners in NHST Media Group AS. For the entire Group, the plans cover 143 employees 
and 88 pensioners.

Liabilities and expenses are calculated based on the following assumptions:

 2019 2018
Discount rate 2.28% 2.74%

Expected ROE 4.20% 4.25%

Wage adjustment 2.18% 2.70%

Inflation/NIS basic rate adjustment 2.00% 2.50%

Pension adjustment 0.70% 1.00%

Voluntary retirement for employees under the age of 40 10.00% 10.00%

Voluntary retirement for employees between the ages of 40 and 55 5.00% 5.00%

Voluntary retirement for employees over the age of 55 2.00% 2.00%

NHST GROUP

2019 2018 2019 2018

Pension expense - defined contribution pensions 786 680 10,171 10,790
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Notes 6 and 7
The net pension expense is made up of the following components: NHST GROUP

2019 2018 2019 2018
Net present value (NPV) of the year’s pension accrual 1,157 972 9,477 10,188 

Interest expense of accrued pension liabilities 736 652 7,002 6,883 

National Insurance Scheme (NIS) contribution 163 137 1,332 1,432 

Return on pension assets (2,630) (2,440) (14,197) (13,730)

Recognised changes in estimates and deviations (1,308) (1,444) 1,029 1,165 

Member contributions 0 0 0 0 

Recognised net liability at time of settlement 0 (61) 0 (805)

Administrative expenses 0 559 2,453 6,138 

Net pension expense - defined benefit pensions (1,881) (1,624) 7,095 11,271

Net pension expense - non-statutory executive pensions 845 611 1,859 268

Total net pension expense - defined benefit/non-statutory executive (1,036) (1,014) 8,954 11,539

Balance as of 31/12
Estimated value of pension assets 66,018 62,494 367,181 339,632 

National Insurance Scheme (NIS) contribution 0 0 32 92 

Estimated accrued pension liabilities (23,761) (27,190) (269,536) (258,892)

Estimated net pension assets (liabilities) 42,257 35,303 97,678 80,833

Non-recognised changes in estimates and deviations (23,181) (18,109) 35,945 29,569

Book value of pension assets (liabilities) - defined benefit plans 19,076 17,194 133,623 110,402

Book value of pension assets (liabilities) - non-statutory executive pensions (10,064) (9,219) (20,617) (18,758)

Net pension assets (liabilities) - defined benefit/non-statutory executive 9,012 7,976 113,006 91,644

NHST GROUP 

Other intangible 
assets Goodwill Goodwill

Other intangible 
assets

42,777 0 Acquisition cost - 1/1 307,238 285,540

0 0 Acquisitions 0 35,758

219 0 Disposals 0 0

0 0 Unrealised currency translation (gains)/losses (1,115) (665)

42,558 0 Acquisition cost 31/12 306,122 320,633

38,161 0 Accumulated depreciation - 31/12 160,245 190,381

4,397 0 Book value - 31/12 145,877 130,252

7,831 0 Depreciation for the year 21,620 40,242

0 0 Amortisation for the year 0 0

3 to 10 years 5 to 10 years Expected useful life 5 to 10 years 3 to 10 years

Straight-line Straight-line Depreciation schedule Straight-line Straight-line

NOTE 7 | FIXED ASSETS Figures in NOK 1,000

NOTE 6 | PENSION COSTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000
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The company has a non-refundable surety bond for the Akerselva Atrium AS lease in the amount of NOK 16 million. 

Property, plant & equipment (PP&E):

NHST GROUP

Machinery 
and equip-

ment

Refurbish-
ment or 

remodelling 
of premises

Artwork /
 Company 

cabin
Total Total

Artwork / 
Company 

cabin

Refurbish-
ment or re-

modelling 
of premises

Machinery 
and equip-

ment

12,920 15,609 7,392 35,921 Acquisition cost - 1/1 83,454 7,654 30,427 45,373

939 219 0 1,158 Acquisitions 4,637 0 271 4,366

0 0 0 0 Disposals 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 Unrealised currency translation 
(gains)/losses

(146) 0 0 (146)

13,858 15,828 7,392 37,079 Acquisition cost - 31/12 87,946 7,654 30,698 49,593

12,191 13,863 250 26,304 Acc. depreciation and amortisa-
tion - 31/12

68,581 251 26,016 42,315

1,668 1,965 7,142 10,775 Book value - 31/12 19,365 7,403 4,682 7,279

585 871 63 1,518 Depreciation for the year 5,360 63 1,739 3,558

0 0 0 0 Amortisation for the year 0 0 0 0

 3 to 5 years  Lease term Expected useful life  Lease term  3 to 5 years 

Straight-line Straight-line Depreciation schedule Straight-line Straight-line

GROUP GROUP

Goodwill specified per associated company: Book value - 31/12
Depreciation / amortisa-

tion for the year
2019 2018 2019 2018

Mention Solutions SAS 114,996 129,363 13,251 4,318

Mynewsdesk AB 22,660 29,713 7,053 7,464

Morgenbladet AS 8,222 9,537 1,315 1,315

Total 145,877 168,613 21,620 13,097

NOTE 7 | FIXED ASSETS Figures in NOK 1,000

Off-balance sheet lease contracts (Group)
Duration of 

contract

Lease ex-
penses for 

the year
Akerselva Atrium, Chr. Krohgsgt 16, Oslo, Norway (headquarters) 4 years 21,209 

125 Wood Street, London, UK 5 years 3,958 

Rosenlundsgatan 40, Stockholm, Sweden 1.5 years 2,897 

Sandbrogaten 5-7, Bergen, Norway 0 years 370 

Hainstr 20-24, Leipzig, Germany 1.5 years 241 

Joseph Wild str. 20, Munich, Germany 10 years 804 

Boulevard Montmartre 9, Paris, France 6 years 1,715 

Rent - Two Memorial Plaza, 820 Gessner Suite 775, Houston TX, USA 3 years 642 

Reidar Berges gate 9, Stavanger, Norway 1 year 169 

Lynnwood (Seattle), WA, USA 5 years 402 

Rent, 1010 Washington Blvd, Stamford CT, USA 3.5 years 549 

Vesterbrogate 149, Copenhagen, Denmark 2 years 701 

Other leasing terms vary 1,835 

Total rent for the year 35,493
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Notes 8 and 9

Company
Date of a 

cquisition
Registered 

office

Ownership 
and voting 

share
Acquisition 

cost
Book value - 

31/12

Sharehold-
ers equity 

- 31/12
Profit/(loss) 
for the year

Subsidiary:

Dagens Næringsliv AS 01/01/1991 Oslo 100.0% 17,251 17,251 86,691,664 16,841 

NHST Charts AS 01/01/1964 Oslo 100.0% 78,022 40,000 49,665 (299)

NHST Global Publications AS 09/01/1985 Oslo 100.0% 42,526 18,161 45,491,291 (1,180)

NHST Media Group Asia Pte Ltd 09/09/1997 Singapore 100.0% 4 4 19,305 1,962 

Europower AS 02/01/2001 Oslo 100.0% 4,808 4,808 1,598 (468)

Dagens Næringsliv Privat Økonomi AS 01/06/2006 Oslo 100.0% 125 125 101 1 

Norges Handels og Sjøfartstidende AS 01/12/2006 Oslo 100.0% 230 230 201 4 

Mynewsdesk AB 07/08/2008 Stockholm 100.0% 167,233 167,233 47,615 (91)

Mynewsdesk Technologies AS 24/03/2004 Oslo 100.0% 7,622 0 4,928 825 

NHST Germany GmbH 05/12/2012 Leipzig 100.0% 203 203 (14,807) 0 

Morgenbladet AS 03/03/2016 Oslo 90.8% 32,918 32,919 26,112 570 

NHST Holding USA Inc. 01/06/2017 Stamford 100.0% 1 1 (182) (10)

Total investments in shares of subsid-
iaries as of 31/12/2018 

350,943 280,935

Subsidiaries of Dagens Næringsliv AS: 

DN Nye Muligheter AS 22/05/2017 Oslo 100.0% 30 30 30 0

Subsidiaries of NHST Global 
Publications AS:

Fiskeribladet AS 20/06/2007 Bergen 100.0% 10,900 10,900 26,303 3,150

Subsidiaries of NHST Charts AS: 

Navicharts AS 06/11/2000 Oslo 100.0% 130 130 85 2 

Nautical Charts Hong Kong Ltd 01/01/2013 Hong Kong 100.0% 1 1 (2,977) (152)

Subsidiaries of NHST Holding USA Inc.:

NHST Global Publications USA Inc. 01/06/2017 Stamford 100.0% 1 1 (3,147) 2,262 

Nautisk Forlag USA Inc. 13/12/2011 New Orleans 100.0% 19,812 19,812 111 0 

NOTE 8 | INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES Figures in NOK 1,000
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Company
Date of ac-

quisition
Registered 

office

Ownership 
and voting 

share
Acquisition 

cost
Book value - 

31/12

Sharehold-
ers equity 

- 31/12

Subsidiaries of Europower AS:

Energi Forlag AS 10/09/2007 Oslo 100.0% 112 112 75 0

Subsidiaries of NHST Asia Pte Ltd:

NHST India 01/06/2011 New Delhi 100.0% 0 0 0 0 

NHST Monde Ltd 01/06/2011 New Delhi 50.0% 374 0 (3,924) 0 

 

Subsidiaries of Mynewsdesk AB:

Mynewsdesk AS 01/07/2010 Oslo 100.0% 100 100 372 1,312 

Mynewsdesk Aps 11/10/2011 Copenhagen 100.0% 106 106 3,714 833 

Mynewsdesk Ltd 22/08/2011 London 100.0% 11 11 3,457 456 

Mynewsdesk Oy 01/01/2017 Helsinki 100.0% 25 25 801 162 

Mention Solutions SAS 31/08/2018 Paris 95.0% 191,508 191,508 3,741 (9,709)

Subsidiaries of NHST Germany GmbH:

Mynewsdesk GmbH 20/09/2013 Leipzig 100.0% 209 209 6,310 1,469

Subsidiaries of Mention Solutions SAS:

Mention Solutions USA Inc. 31/08/2018 Kent 100.0% 1 1 2,762 906

NOTE 8 | INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000

NOTE 9 | INVESTMENTS IN OTHER SHARES Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST GROUP

Company Date of 
acquisition

Registered 
office

Ownership 
and voting 

share

Acquisition 
cost

Book value 
- 31/12

Book value - 
31/12

Norkon Computing Systems AS 01/07/2015 Oslo 25.0% 550 0 0 

Task Technologies AS 01/01/2017 Oslo 27.0% 750 0 0 

Science Addiction AS 17/10/2018 Oslo 0.8% 200 0 200 

Norwegian PEN’s foundation for freedom of expression 31/01/2019 Oslo 8.0% 1,000 1,000 1,000 

Total shares 1,000 1,200

Companies accounted for using the equity method 

 
Task Tech-

nologies AS 

 Norkon 
Computing 
Systems AS Total

Allocation of the original acquisition cost:

Shareholders equity recognised at the time of purchase  193  550  25,655 

Attributable intangible assets  0   0 0   

Goodwill  557 0  7,177 

Total original acquisition cost  750  550  32,832 

Opening balance - 01/01 194 0 194

Share of profit/(loss) for the year 0  0 0

Equity emissions  0 0 0 

Impairment 0 0 0 

Closing balance - 31/12  (194) 0  (194) 

Investments in associated companies and other investments

The companies are evaluated annually based on the net present value (NPV) of the expected future cash flow stream to assess any need for 
impairment.
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Notes 10, 11 and 12

NOTE 10 | RECEIVABLES Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST GROUP

2018 2019 2019 2018

Accounts receivable:

1,026 8 Accounts receivable at face value 111,060 125,450 

0 0 Provision for bad debts (1,567) (4,896)

1,026 8 Accounts receivable on the balance sheet 109,493 120,554

Receivables with maturities over one year:

117 118 Deposits and other non-current receivables  5,768  9,161 

5,700 5,700 Pension fund contributions 5,700 5,700 

5,817 5,818 Total other non-current receivables 12,468 14,861 

131,584 122,733 Loans to Group companies 0 0 

137,402 128,551 Total receivables with maturities over one year 12,468 14,861 

2018 2019 Intra-group balances 

 38,713  26,510 Dagens Næringsliv AS

 158 0 NHST Charts AS

0   158 NHST Global Publications USA Inc.

 0   76 Mention Solutions SAS 

503 254 NHST Media Group Asia Pte Ltd

 631  646 Europower AS

 0    186 Fiskeribladet AS

 2,660  1,899 Mynewsdesk AB

1,686  1,690 Mynewsdesk AS 

9,829  21,561 NHST Global Publications AS

19 0 Energi Forlag AS 

 294 294 Nautical Charts Hong Kong Ltd

 43 43 NHST Charts UK branch

 101  403 Morgenbladet AS

 636  1,024 Mynewsdesk Technologies AS

 55,273  54,745 Total

2018 2019 Balances with associated companies 2019 2018
0 0 Norkon Computing Systems AS  2,492  2,407 

0 0 Total  2,492  2,407 
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NHST GROUP
2018 2019 Restricted bank deposits 2019 2018
2,258 2,695 Reserved withholding tax 14,222 20,481 

0 0 Deposits 0 0 

2,258 1,960 Total restricted bank deposits 14,222 20,481 

NOTE 11 | RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST GROUP

2018 2019 Tax expense for the year appears below: 2019 2018

0 0 Tax payable 941 2,138 

0 0 Foreign tax payable 1,957 767 

0 0 Tax on Group contributions 0 0 

415 (9,655) Change in deferred tax liabilities (8,412) 751 

227 0 Effect of tax rate change 0 189 

0 0 Change in prior years 154 0 

642 (9,655) Taxes (5,360) 3,845 

Tax payable on the balance sheet: 

0 0 Tax payable for the year 2,898 2,906

0 0 Underreporting/(overreporting) of taxes during prior years 0 0

0 0 Foreign tax liabilities (credits) (993) (212)

0 0 Tax payable on the balance sheet 1,905 2,694

Reconciliation from nominal to 
actual tax rate: 

 (7,061)  (11,759) Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before taxes  (56,183)  (9,300) 

(1,624)  (2,587) Expected income tax based on the nominal tax rate (12,360)  (2,139) 

Tax effect of the following items:     

0 Amortisation of goodwill 4,756 3,012 

1,073 206 Other non-deductible expenses 743 1,212 

0 (6,600) Other non-taxable income 0 0

1,192 0 Impairment of non-freely transferable shares 0 0 

0 0 Foreign tax effects (992) (756)

227 0 Effect of changes in the tax laws and taxation rates 0 189 

(226) 0 Change in off-balance sheet deferred tax assets 2,913 1,611 

0 (674) Other items (421) 715 

642 (9,655) Tax income (expense) (5,360) 3,845 

(9%) 82% Effective tax rate 10% (41%)

NOTE 12 | TAXES Figures in NOK 1,000
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Notes 12, 13 and 14

NHST 
Share capi-

tal 
Treasury 

stock
Share pre-

mium 
Retained 

equity Total
Shareholders equity as of 31/12/2018 12,879 (448) 50,551 (12,076) 50,906 

 

Change in shareholders equity for the year:

Allocated for dividends 0 0 0 0  0

Corrections - prior years 0 0 0 0 0 

Profit/(loss) for the year 0 0 0 (2,104)   (2,104) 

Shareholders equity as of 31/12/2019 12,879 (448) 50,551 (14,180) 48,803  

GROUP
Share capi-

tal
Treasury 

stock
Share pre-

mium
Retained 

equity
Minority 
interests Total

Shareholders equity as of 31/12/2018 12,879 (448) 50,551 31,064 16,765 110,812 
  

Change in shareholders equity for the year:

Allocated for dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Corrections - prior years 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Change in minority interests 0 0 0 8,127 (14,627) (6,500)

Unrealised currency translation (gains)/losses 0 0 0 4,328 0 4,328 

Profit/(loss) for the year 0 0 0 (51,279) 457 (50,822)

Shareholders equity as of 31/12/2019 12,879 (448) 50,551 (7,760) 2,595 57,818 

NOTE 12 | TAXES, CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000

 Specification of the tax effect of deductible temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards: 

 NHST  GROUP 
 Change  2018  2019  2019  2018  Change 

390 (1,619) (1,229)  Property, plant & equipment (PP&E) 6,022 6,291 (269)

0 0 0  Inventory (113) (113) 0

0 0 0  Receivables (318) (720) 402 

597 (689) (91)  Provisions (1,584) (933) (651)

228 1,755 1,983  Pensions 24,861 20,162 4,700 

(5) 23 18  Other differences 18 14 4 

(10,866) (4,466) (15,331)  Tax loss carryforwards (28,860) (17,451) (11,409)

(9,655) (4,996) (14,651)  Total 27 7,251 (7,223)

0 0 0  Off-balance sheet deferred tax assets  733  2,372  (1,639) 

(9,655) (4,996) (14,651)  Net deferred liabilities/assets on the balance sheet 761 9,623 (8,862)

9,655 4,996 14,651  Recognised deferred tax assets 11,181 6,937 (4,244)

0 0 0  Recognised deferred taxes 11,941 16,560 4,618 

(9,655) (4,996) (14,651)  Net deferred liabilities/assets on the balance sheet 761 9,623 (8,862)

NOTE 13 | EQUITY Figures in NOK 1,000

 Deferred tax assets are recognised on the basis of future income. 

Treasury stock: 
The company owns a total of 44,752 shares of treasury stock. Among other things, the shares were acquired in order to be able to use treasury 
stock for business development purposes and/or as a part of option benefit plans.
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Debt to other Group companies:

 NHST
2018 2019

187,888 181,877 Dagens Næringsliv AS

0 886 Mynewsdesk Aps 

0 441 Mynewsdesk Oy

0 2,891 Mynewsdesk Ltd

0 32 NHST Media Group Asia Pte Ltd

0 2,413 Mynewsdesk AS 

5,420 4,265 Europower AS

40 5,247 Mynewsdesk Technologies AS

0 0 Recharge AS

558 331 Fiskeribladet AS

0 17 NHST Global Publications USA Inc.

88,417 87,644 NHST Global Publications AS

676 367 Morgenbladet AS 

17,113 44,268 NHST Charts AS 

34 9,985 Mynewsdesk AB

300,146  340,663 Total

Consolidated accounts and collateral 
Effective 1 February 2019, NHST entered into an agreement for a new long-term credit line of NOK 250 million with DNB 
ASA. This runs through December 2021. As of 31/12/2019, NOK 170 million have been drawn on this credit facility. The 
loan is classified as a long-term liability in the financial statements. The financing has a variable interest rate based on NIBOR 
+ margin and was provided with collateral against Dagens Næringsliv’s accounts receivable. NHST Media Group (including 
NHST Media Group AS), Dagens Næringsliv, NHST Global Publications and Mynewsdesk are jointly and severally liable for 
withdrawals from the facility. The revolving credit line has covenant requirements associated with it. 

All bank accounts in NHST Media Group’s consolidated account system involve a relationship between the parent company 
and the bank. Other Group companies are participants in the consolidated account agreement. In the consolidated account 
system, all deposits/withdrawals of Group companies are presented in the financial statements as the receivables/liabilities 
of companies within the same Group. The consolidated account system does not include Morgenbladet and Fiskeribladet. 

NOTE 14 | DEBT 

Other current liabilities:

 NHST GROUP
 2018  2019  2019  2018 
3,431 3,540 Accrued holiday pay 40,741 37,677 

11,682 9,357 Appropriated wages and salaries 38,061 20,637 

0 0 Appropriated distributions 249 1,052 

1,590 1,630 Appropriated directors’ fees 2,814 2,756 

1,032 2,155 Other accrued costs 25,843 28,604 

 17,735  16,682 Total  107,707  90,725 
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Notes 15, 16, 17 and 18

Shares directly or indirectly owned by board members, the CEO and their family members: 

Name Position Number of 
shares

Ownership 
interest

Anette S. Olsen* Chairman of 
the Board

695,386 53.99%

Richard Olav Aa Board  
Member

565 0.04%

NOTE 15 | RELATED PARTIES 

The parent company, NHST Media Group AS, supplies IT and financial services to Group companies, which are invoiced in propor-
tion to their use of the services. In addition, the companies are charged a share of the common expenses proportionate with 
either their use of IT and/or financial services or their number of employees.

NOTE 16 | SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

Share capital as of 31/12/2019 was NOK 12.879 million (1,287,925 shares at a face value of NOK 10 each), consisting of just a 
single class of shares.  

Each share entitles the shareholder to one vote.

Ownership structure
The 20 largest shareholders of NHST Media Group AS as of 31/12: NUMBER OF SHARES OWNERSHIP 

INTEREST

Bonheur ASA 695,386 53.99%

Must Invest AS 280,075 21.75%

Fredrik Olsen AS 28,290 2.20%

Fr Falck Frås AS 23,513 1.83%

Sjøgress AS 23,167 1.80%

Pareto AS 21,475 1.67%

MP Pensjon PK 20,269 1.57%

Røed, Gunvor Jorunn H 15,200 1.18%

Amble Investments AS 14,236 1.11%

DNB Livsforsikring 14,144 1.10%

Straen AS 13,743 1.07%

Taconic AS 12,144 0.94%

M&G Invest AS 11,152 0.87%

Oak Management AS 5,750 0.45%

Tyin AS 4,480 0.35%

Belvedere AS 3,639 0.28%

Fjellbakke AS 3,292 0.26%

Øie, Odd Reidar 3,234 0.25%

Must, Annelise 3,150 0.24%

Meinich, Grethe 2,800 0.22%

Total - largest shareholders 1,199,139 93.11%

Total - others 44,034 3.42%

Treasury stock 44,752 3.47%

Total number of shares 1,287,925 100.0%

* Ownership interest indicated for Anette S. Olsen is based on shares owned by Bonheur ASA, where Ms Olsen is the CEO.
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NOTE 17 | POST-CLOSING EVENTS 

NOTE 18 | TRANSACTIONS

The Mention acquisition went into effect on 1 September 2018. Four months of operations were recognised in the consolidated 
accounts for the fourth quarter of 2018. 

The consolidation and the acquisition analysis were based on the fact that Mynewsdesk effectively controlled 100 per cent of 
the shares at the time of the acquisition through a put/call contract that expires in 2021. 

Actual ownership was 85% at the time of acquisition. A call option component for the final 15% in the amount of EUR 2.5 million 
was added to the calculated purchase price. This amount was recognised in Other long-term liabilities. The Group acquired an 
additional 9.7 per cent of the shares in October 2019. Following this, the amount remaining from the call option component is 
EUR 1.1 million. This will be evaluated on an ongoing basis against the pricing model (a sales*multiple model) for the approx. 5% 
of shares remaining.

The acquisition analysis showed that intangible assets at the time of the transaction equalled EUR 18.2 million. The acquisition 
and intangible assets were calculated in EUR and are therefore subject to currency translation at the end of each fiscal period. 

The intellectual property and intangible asset analysis identified intangible assets associated with customers, technology, trade-
marks and contracts as well as residual goodwill. All of these components are included under Intangible assets. 

Each individual intangible asset item is amortised over its useful life. 

The excess value identified in relation to customer contracts at the time of acquisition led to a downward adjustment of revenue 
in the amount of approximately EUR 112,100 per month over the 12 months following the date of the acquisition, i.e. for four 
months in 2018 and eight months in 2019. Other intangible assets are amortised a total of EUR 172.5 per month. 

The effect of intangible asset revenue adjustment and amortisation on earnings was NOK 11.1 million.  
This amounted to NOK 30.0 million for the 2019 fiscal year. 

The coronavirus (COVID-19) was discovered in January 2020. To counteract the spread of the virus, authorities in a number  
of countries have implemented strong measures. Over a period of time, this will lead to a lower level of economic activity on  
a global basis, especially in the countries where the contagion is most widespread. For NHST Media Group, this will result in  
delays and cancellations in the conference market and reduced demand in the advertising market. The effect on demand  
in relation to news media subscriptions and other areas of business, such as subscriptions in the SaaS segment, is likewise  
uncertain. The financial ramifications for the Group are difficult to estimate as there is considerable uncertainty in relation to  
the duration and extent of the outbreak. Aside from the effect on demand, there will also be an effect on the currencies used 
for transactions throughout our global businesses. 

Changed market outlook due to the corona pandemic has resulted in an impairment of goodwill, capitalized on the purchase of 
the French subsidiary mention in 2018, in the amount of NOK 80,6 million in the accounts for the first quarter 2020. The group 
is nevertheless confident about Mention`s  long term competitiveness and potential for profitability.

Authorities in Norway and a number of other countries have introduced measures in response to the spread of the virus  
and communicated that they will implement additional crisis response policies to limit the negative financial impact on their 
economies going forward. NHST is carefully following the situation and working continuously to draft risk remediation  
measures.

Aside from the coronavirus, there have been no events after the balance sheet date that will have a material effect on the 2019 
financial statements. 
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To the General Meeting of NHST Media Group AS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of NHST Media Group AS showing a loss of NOK 2 104 000 in 
the financial statements of the parent company and loss of NOK 50 822 000 in the financial statements 
of the group. The financial statements comprise: 

• The financial statements of the parent company NHST Media Group AS (the Company), which 
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2019, the income statement and cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, and 

• The consolidated financial statements of NHST Media Group AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2019, the income statement and cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations. 
• The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 

Company as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and 
practices generally accepted in Norway. 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards 
and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in 
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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Independent Auditor's Report - 
NHST Media Group AS 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation in 
accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern. The financial statements use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as it is not likely 
that the enterprise will cease operations. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.  

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's internal control. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company and the Group's ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report 
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the 
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements, the going 
concern assumption and the proposed allocation of the result is consistent with the financial 
statements and complies with the law and regulations. 

Opinion on Registration and Documentation 
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have 
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 
3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information, it is 
our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration 
and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with the law and 
bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

 
Oslo, 21 April 2020 
Deloitte AS 
 
 
 
 
Bjørn Prestegard  
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway) 
 
 
Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only. 
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Shareholder Information
NHST Media Group AS’s (NHST) shares 
are unlisted, but stock transactions through 
brokers are reported and appear on the 
NOTC List (www.notc.no). The shares are 
in principle freely transferable. However, in 
accordance with the company’s Articles of 
Association, the Board of Directors must 
approve any share transfers. Very limited 
trading occurs in the shares. 

The company’s 10 largest shareholders are 
listed in Note 16 of the annual financial sta-
tement. Including NHST Media Group AS 
by virtue of its treasury stock, these control 
91% of the shares. Excluding treasury 
stock, the ten largest shareholders own 
88% of the shares. As of 31/12/2019, there 
were 255 shareholders of the company, and 
the number of outstanding shares was 

1,287,926. The company has 44,752  
treasury shares and thus 1,243,174 net  
shares outstanding.

The company’s custodian is DNB ASA,  
Corporate Services, Dronning Eufemias 
gate 30, N-0191 Oslo, Norway.  
The company’s Norwegian CSD number is 
ISIN NO 0005007807. NHST publishes its 
quarterly results via both NOTC notifica-
tions and the company’s website:  
www.nhst.no. 

NHST seeks to follow NUES’ recommenda-
tions on responsible corporate governance, 
which are described in more detail in both 
the Annual Report of the Board of Directors 
and on the following pages. 

At year’s end, the company’s Board consis-
ted of seven members, four of which were 
nominated by shareholders. The sharehol-
der-nominated representatives are elected 
for two-year rotating terms. In 2019, two  
of the four shareholder-nominated repre-
sentatives were independent from the 
company’s main shareholders.

No dividend will be proposed for the 2019 
fiscal year. In general, the company aims  
to provide its shareholders with the best 
possible returns over time through a com-
bination of share price appreciation and 
dividends, but the financial results in 2019 
do not justify the issuance of dividends  
this year.
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Corporate Governance

Building and maintaining confidence with important target groups 
such as shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, partners and 
the authorities is contingent on an honourable reputation and 
prudent economic development. This calls for the business to be 
managed through the use of proper supervision and control 
mechanisms. Open, accurate and factual communication and fair 
treatment of the company’s shareholders are also important in order 
to promote shareholder values and gain shareholders’ confidence. 
To safeguard these conditions, wherever possible, NHST Media 
Group seeks to follow the majority of the Norwegian Corporate 
Governance Board’s (NUES) recommendations pertaining to 
corporate governance and management.
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Key issues with respect to corporate gover-
nance and management as well as any 
identified deviations from these recommen-
dations are accounted for below. 

Our business
NHST Media Group AS is a holding com-
pany that includes a number of media and 
media-related companies. 

The parent company of the Group itself has 
no operational business and solely provides 
IT, Finance and HR staff functions for all 
associated companies. The operational  
activities are performed by the subsidiaries, 
where the majority are wholly owned.

The Group’s mission statement states that 
NHST “is a free-standing, independent 
media company whose main focus is on 
publishing business periodicals and perfor-
ming associated activities with the primary 
goal of promoting the interests of business.” 
Through independent and critical journa-
lism, the Group strives to fulfil its social 
responsibility as a media company.

The Group has a set of annual strategy 
plans that are updated on a rolling basis,  
an annual budget, a comprehensive set of 
rules governing news reporting and journa-
lism and also provides detailed information 
in its Annual Report on other conditions 
relating to corporate governance and mana-
gement. In addition, the company has 
determined rules of procedure for the 
Board of Directors and the CEO. Please 
refer otherwise to the other reports.

Share capital, financing and  
dividends 
The share capital of NHST Media Group AS 
is NOK 12,879,250. At the end of the year, 
shareholders equity amounted to NOK 57.8 
million, i.e. an equity ratio of 7.5%.

The number of shares of treasury stock on 
the balance sheet remained unchanged in 
2019. The company holds 44,752 shares of 
treasury stock. 

NHST Media Group AS strives to finance 
its operations through a balanced mix of 
debt and shareholders equity. At the end  
of 2019, net financial assets (cash and cash 
equivalents minus interest-bearing debt)  
on the Group’s balance sheet amounted to 
NOK 13 million.

NHST Media Group AS aims to provide 
shareholders with competitive returns in 

the form of appreciation and dividends.  
In evaluating the size of the dividend, the 
Board weighs the following factors: suffici-
ent profitability to justify payment of divi-
dends, compliance with the requirement to 
maintain adequate shareholders’ equity  
and adequate financial resources to support 
future growth. The Board’s defined strategy 
is that over time the dividend should  
represent 30% of the normalised net profits 
after tax. 

There are two board authorisations relating 
to share capital that are normally renewed 
at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) for 
either a period of one year or until the time 
of the next AGM. These were renewed at 
the AGM on 22 May 2019 and remain in 
force until the earlier of the next ordinary 
AGM or 30 June 2020. 

- The Board of Directors of NHST Media 
Group AS has been authorised on behalf of 
the company to acquire the company’s own 
shares up to a total amount of NOK 
1,287,925, corresponding to 10% of the 
company’s current share capital.

- The Board has been authorised to increase 
the company’s share capital by up to NOK 
1,287,925.

No issuance of new shares has occurred in 
2019 or been proposed. 

Fair treatment of shareholders 
and related-party transactions
There is one single share class, and each 
share entitles the shareholder to one vote  
at the AGM. 

In accordance with Section 10-4 of the 
Limited Liability Companies Act, the board 
authorisation for equity issues provides an 
exemption from the shareholders’ pre-emp-
tive right to new shares. 

There are no known shareholder agree-
ments or commercial agreements with  
related parties. 

Unrestricted shares
The company’s shares are unrestricted alt-
hough the Board may prohibit the transfer 
of shares on reasonable grounds. The right 
to withhold consent to any acquisition of 
shares is based on the need for editorial 
and commercial independence. 

This is a deviation from the NUES recom-
mendations.
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Annual General Meeting (AGM)
The company's Annual General Meeting is 
open to all registered shareholders and all 
registered shares carry equal voting rights. 
All shareholders of record, listed in the VPS 
(‘Verdipapirsentralen’) shareholder registry, 
receive an invitation and are entitled to 
submit proposals and cast votes either 
directly or via a proxy. Attending and/or 
voting via the Internet is not possible. 

According to the company’s Articles of 
Association, notice of an AGM must be 
given pursuant to the minimum deadline 
of the Limited Liability Companies Act, no 
later than eight (8) days before the date of 
the AGM. 

The documents to be discussed at the  
AGM, including the recommendations of 
the nominating committee, must be sent to 
shareholders no later than one week before 
the AGM convenes. It is emphasized that 
these documents contain the information 
needed by shareholders to take a position 
on any issues on the agenda. 

According to the Articles of Association, 
the Chairman of the Board shall preside 
over the Annual General Meeting.

The company deviates from the recommen-
dations concerning both the time of notice 
and management of the AGM.

Nominating committee
The company’s Articles of Association do 
not contain any provisions regarding a 
nominating committee. This is a deviation 
from the NUES recommendations.

In practice, the nominating committee is 
selected at the AGM. The committee con-
sists of Anette Olsen and Christian Must. 

Composition and independence 
of governing bodies 
One of the goals of NHST Media Group is 
to have a balanced composition of the 
Board of Directors that takes into account 
skills, experience and appropriate back-
ground for the company’s business, while 
at the same time representing the composi-
tion of the company’s ownership. The 
company’s management is not represented 
on the Board. 

In accordance with the company’s Articles 
of Association, the Board shall consist of 
3-9 members. Normally, up to five shareholder-
nominated representatives are elected. At 

the end of 2019, there were four sharehol-
der-nominated Board representatives. All 
representatives are nominated for  
two-year rotating terms. Over the course  
of 2019, two of the shareholder-nominated 
Board members owned shares in the com-
pany either directly or indirectly. (See Note 
16). At the end of 2019, two of the board 
members nominated by shareholders were 
independent of the main shareholders. 
There are also three employee board  
members nominated by fellow employees.

At the Annual General Meeting, a Chair-
man and Vice-Chairman of the Board are 
elected. None of the Board members have 
significant business relationships with the 
company aside from their status as share-
holders. There are no family ties to the 
CEO or other senior executives. 

The Boards of the largest subsidiaries  
consist of a mix of internal NHST Group 
management members and outside repre-
sentatives.

CEO Hege Yli Melhus Ask is the Chairman 
of the most important subsidiaries. Exter-
nal board members are nominated in order 
to supply the Board with skills in relevant 
areas such as technology, digitalisation and 
business development. 

The tasks of the Board of  
Directors
Eleven Board of Directors meetings were 
held in 2019. 

The Board periodically receives consolida-
ted reports containing financial informa-
tion about the Group and its individual 
companies. In addition, the Board also 
receives management’s comments on cor-
porate developments throughout the year. 

The overall corporate strategy is broadly 
reviewed each year at an extended board 
meeting. Moreover, subsidiaries are revie-
wed on a rotating basis at individual  
board meetings. 

The Board evaluates its work on an annual 
basis and guidelines exist concerning its 
tasks and duties. 

The NHST Media Group AS Board of Direc-
tors has two subcommittees. The compen-
sation committee is chaired by Anette 
Olsen, and the audit committee is chaired 
by Richard-Olav Aa. 

Risk management and internal 
controls
The Group is exposed to various types of 
risk associated with ordinary operations as 
well as strategic risk, primarily in relation 
to the growing digitalisation taking place in 
most of the group’s markets. This has preci-
pitated significant changes to the Group’s 
business models and products. The Group’s 
strategy of focusing on subscription-based 
revenue provides more predictability lon-
ger-term. We try to offset the short-term 
risk associated with fluctuations in the sale 
of ads and services by focusing on multiple 
products and revenue streams so that 
dependency on one source is reduced. 

The Group is exposed to various types of 
risk associated with its ordinary operations. 
This includes financial risk linked to for-
eign currencies, operating risk related to 
running a global organisation and credit 
risk associated with serving a portfolio of 
global customers. 

As a global business with both revenue and 
expenses denominated in multiple curren-
cies, the Group moreover is exposed to 
translation risk. In addition, the Group 
makes investments in currencies that are 
exposed on an ongoing basis to translation 
risk. Translation risk also exists on an 
ongoing basis in relation to accounts 
receivable. This risk is assessed continu-
ously, and hedging transactions are carried 
out as needed. Forex hedges in place as of 
31 December 2019 are described in more 
detail in the notes to the financial state-
ments.

Aside from translation risk, a global custo-
mer portfolio also exposes the Group to  
credit risk. The Group has a relatively 
diverse customer portfolio and constantly 
monitors outstanding receivables, with 
dedicated employees to follow up on collec-
tions and past due accounts.

Management periodically prepares reports 
on operations for the Board, and the 
Group's overall risk profile is discussed by 
the Board at the annual meeting with the 
Group’s auditor.

The majority of the Group’s activities are 
included in a common consolidated acco-
unt system with centralised liquidity mana-
gement.
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Compensation of Board  
members
The compensation of Board members is  
set for the next 12 months each year at the 
Annual General Meeting. 

At the AGM, a director’s fee of NOK 
230,000 was set for the Chairman of the 
Board while the other Board members were 
granted NOK 200,000 each (proportionately 
reduced for any missed Board meetings).  
In addition, NOK 5,000 per meeting was 
paid out to subcommittees and NOK 7,500 
to the subcommittees’ chairmen.

Profit-related directors’ fees are not offered. 

Compensation to senior  
executives
The Group tries to be an attractive destina-
tion for job seekers and seeks to attract 
talented employees with appropriate expe-
rience. Thus, one of the goals of the Group 
is to have a competitive compensation  
system. In addition to a fixed salary, senior 
executives are also offered a result oriented 
bonus system.

The structure of the Group’s compensation 
model is discussed periodically by the 
Board or the compensation committee. 

Information and  
communications
NHST Media Group makes every effort to 
release factual and accurate information to 
outside parties on a quarterly basis and to 
ensure that shareholders are provided 
equal access to such information. Reports 
and announcements are available on 
NHST’s website, www.nhst.no, as well as 
through NOTC’s company notifications. 

The Group does not provide specific guid-
ance about future revenues and profits. 
NHST’s shares are listed on the NOTC List, 
and the share price can be found on a daily 
basis under ‘Børs og marked’ [Stock 
exchange and market] as well as on NOTC’s 
website (www.notc.no).

Take over provisions
The Group’s Articles of Association contain 
no defence mechanisms against a potential 
hostile takeover and the Group has likewise 
not prepared any guidelines with respect to 
how the company would react to a possible 
acquisition offer.

Auditor
The Group uses the same audit firm for all 
subsidiaries in all markets in which the 
company is active and obliged to carry out 
an audit, with the exception of Finland, 
France and the UK. 

The auditor is not utilised as a strategic 
adviser. The Group’s Finance Director 
approves any consulting tasks. 

The auditor is present at the Board meeting 
dealing with the annual financial state-
ments as well as audit committee meetings 
and furthermore has participated in one 
meeting with the Board where manage-
ment was not present.

The auditor’s compensation is reported at 
the Annual General Meeting as well as 
described in the notes to the financial  
statements.





The wellboat Fortune visits the Lerøy Aurora  

aquaculture farm in Lyngenfjord. Rostein AS, which 

owns the Fortune, is one of five leading companies  

in the wellboat industry. The company makes a small  

fortune shipping salmon and removing sea lice on  

behalf of fish farmers. According to the Norwegian 

Aquaculture Analysis published by consulting and  

auditing firm EY, the wellboats set a new record with 

an operating margin of 45 per cent last year.  

Dagens Næringsliv 06/12/2019 

Photo: Lars Åke Andersen
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Addresses

NHST MEDIA GROUP

Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00
www.nhst.no

 NORWEGIAN PUBLICATIONS

DAGENS NÆRINGSLIV

OSLO 
Christian Krohgs gate 16
PO Box 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00

DN OFFICES
KRISTIANSAND
Tordenskioldsgate 9
N-4612 Kristiansand, Norway
Tel red +47 38 07 13 00

STAVANGER
Ryfylkegt. 13, PO Box 1538
N-4014 Stavanger, Norway
Tel red +47 51 51 10 10

MORGENBLADET

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 21 00 63 00

 SAAS

MYNEWSDESK

STOCKHOLM
Rosenlundsgatan 40
118 53 Stockholm, Sweden
Tel +46 (0) 8 644 89 50

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 19

LEIPZIG
Hainstrase 20-24
04109 Leipzig
Tel +49 (0) 341/350 587-77

GØTEBORG
Kungsgatan 23
411 19 Gøteborg
Tel +46 31 352 6500 

KØBENHAVN
Nordre Fasanvej 113-115, 3. th.
2000 Fredriksberg 
Tel +45 3812 3630

MALMØ
Stora Varvsgatan 6A
211 19 Malmø
Tel +46 40 608 4700

MÜNCHEN
MesseCampus Riem
81829 München
Tel +49 341 350 587 13

MENTION SOLUTIONS

PARIS
16 Passage Jouffroy
75009 Paris, France
Tel +33 1 76 36 06 97

NEW YORK
Tower 49, WeWork
12 East 49th Street, NY 10017, USA
Tel +1 646 568 9834

 GLOBAL PUBLICATIONS

TRADEWINDS

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182 Sentrum
0107 Oslo, Norway 
Tel +47 22 00 12 00
 
LONDON
7th Floor, 125 Wood Street
London EC2V 7AN,
United Kingdom
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 4150

TRADEWINDS REPRESENTATION
ATHENS
Michalakopoulou 29 
GR 115 28 Athens, Greece 
Tel +30 210 724 5541

BERGEN
Sandbrogaten 5-7 
5003 Bergen, Norway 
Tel +47 55 30 22 38

SINGAPORE
20 Upper Circular Road
The Riverwalk 04-04 
Singapore 058416 
Tel +65 6557 0555

STAMFORD
1010 Washington Blvd.  
2nd Floor. 
Stamford, CT 06901. USA
Tel +1 203 324 2994  
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UPSTREAM

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16 
Postboks 1182 Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel red./salg +47 22 00 13 00

UPSTREAM REPRESENTATION
LONDON
7th Floor, 125 Wood Street
London EC2V 7AN,
United Kingdom
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 4150
 
HOUSTON
Two Memorial Plaza, 820 Gessner Suite 775, 
Houston TX. 77024 USA
Tel +1 713 626 3113

SINGAPORE
20 Upper Circular Road
The Riverwalk 04-04
Singapore 058416
Tel 65 6557 0600

STAVANGER
Reidar Berges gate 9
N-4013 Stavanger, Norway
Tel +47 51 85 91 50

INTRAFISH MEDIA

BERGEN
Sandbrogaten 5-7
N-5003 Bergen, Norway
Tel +47 55 21 33 00

INTRAFISH MEDIA  
REPRESENTATION
OSLO
Chr. Krohgs gate 16, 
0186 Oslo, 
Norway
Tel +47 932 56 140

LONDON
125 Wood Street, 7th Floor, 
London, EC2V 7AN, 
United Kingdom
Tel +44 207 645 2334

PUERTO VARAS
PO BOX 1086 - Puerto Varas – Chile
Tel + 56 65 970123 

SEATTLE
3500 188th Street SW,
Suite 335,
Lynnwood, Washington 98037
Tel: +1 206 282 3474
 
SINGAPORE
20 Upper Circular Road, 
The Riverwalk #04-04, 
Singapore 058416
Tel +65 6557 0300 

FISKERIBLADET

BERGEN
Sandbrogaten 5-7
N-5003 Bergen, Norway
Tel +47 55 21 33 00

FBFI AVD. HARSTAD
Postboks 103, Sjøgata 7
9405 Harstad
Tel +47 77 05 90 00
 
FBFI AVD. TROMSØ 
Grønnegata 53, 9008 Tromsø
Tel +47 77 66 56 80

RECHARGE

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182 Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 17 00
 
LONDON
7th Floor, 125 Wood Street
London EC2V 7AN
United Kingdom
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 5700

EUROPOWER

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00





As the public celebrates Halloween in the  

background, outside Parliament in London,  

anti-Brexit demonstrators protest the United 

Kingdom’s decision to withdraw from the  

European Union. Later, politicians approved  

the country’s exit from the EU.

Dagens Næringsliv 30/10/2019 

Photo: Jeff Gilbert
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You may have thought that binary codes and the binary number system was 
something that originated in the data world in the 1970’s or 80’s. That using 
only two symbols, zero (0) and one (1), was an idea developed in America, 
or maybe in Germany? Ever heard about the Indian mathematician Pingala? 
He described a base-2 numeral system as early as 200 BC. Francis Bacon, 
father of the scientific method, described a similar system in the 16th century. 
Gottfried Leibnitz perfected it in the 18th century. Since your computer or 
phone only understands 0 and 1, albeit in an infinity of combinations, the 
base-2 numeral system is quite important. It forms the basis of all digital 
communication, and as you know the present is digital, not only the future.

Digital only means ”number”. The string of numbers at the top is simply  
binary code for NHST.
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2014
REVENUES
NOK 1 235 360 

EMPLOYEES
729



2015
REVENUES
NOK 1 271 925 

EMPLOYEES
731



2016
REVENUES
NOK 1 325 408 

EMPLOYEES
750



2017

2018

REVENUES
NOK 1 311 874 

REVENUES
NOK 1 293 456

EMPLOYEES
738

EMPLOYEES
731





NHST LAST 

10 YEARS



NHST MEDIA GROUP / 
ANNUAL REPORT / 2018 5NHST MEDIA GROUP / 
ANNUAL REPORT / 2018

2009
REVENUES
NOK 1 014 533 

EMPLOYEES
639



2010
REVENUES
NOK 1 107 392 

EMPLOYEES
604



2011
REVENUES
NOK 1 176 263 

EMPLOYEES
688



2012
REVENUES
NOK 1 199 951 

EMPLOYEES
713



2013
REVENUES
NOK 1 236 835 

EMPLOYEES
736
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The growth in revenue did not reach the  
level we wished for, nor the level we expec-
ted. In certain areas, such as content marke-
ting, conferences and subscription reve-
nues in the publications, progress was 
made, but it did not adequately compensate 
for the decline in other areas such as adver-
tising revenue or for the lack of growth at 
Mynewsdesk. At the same time, operating 
costs rose as a result of investments in  
Mynewsdesk’s sales force, the digitalisation 
processes and the development of new re-
venue streams. Moreover, the operating re-
sult was also negatively affected by re-
structuring costs and increased goodwill 
amortisation from, among other things, the 
acquisition of Mention. Thus, the year as a 
whole was challenging. 

The explications are clear. The task now is 
to implement measures to increase reve-
nues and improve profitability. Exactly 
which measures are needed will vary 
among the businesses. However, a common 
denominator for the Group is the need for 
high-quality products and services that are 
important and relevant to the users, the 
need to develop competent, motivated em-
ployees and the need to exercise sound and 
clear leadership. 

We need better profitability in order to 
succeed with the digital transformation. 

Striking a good balance between measures  
designed to promote growth and efficiency 
and between achieving short-term effects 
while also realising long-term goals will be 
one of the most challenging tasks going  
forward.

We maintain a high quality standard 
throughout our various publications, and it 
was particularly satisfying that Dagens  
Næringsliv was named Newspaper of the 
Year and won the prestigious SKUP award 
for its “Boligbygg” exposé about a number 
of questionable residential purchases in 
Oslo municipality. 

Although the financial results last year 
came in on the weak side, the Group will 
continue to invest in growth and develop-
ment. NHST aims to be a media group  
characterised by a high level of innovation 
and first-class products. We will continue to 
work hard to create a more financially ro-
bust group and will formulate a new group 
strategy to guide the path ahead. 

A robust and innovative NHST is not just 
created through better financial results. 
There is concurrently a need to invest in 
the organisation. Measures have now been 
defined for improving organisational and 
human resource development as well as en-
hancing diversity throughout the entire 

group. NHST aims to be an attractive 
workplace for talented employees.

2018 was also characterised by two larger 
strategic transactions for the Group. First, 
the business of Nautisk Forlag was sold to 
StormGeo. The predecessor of the current 
Nautisk Forlag had been a part of the 
Group’s history for 130 years, but market 
developments suggested that the business 
could achieve more of its potential in part-
nerships with others than on its own at 
NHST. A larger and even more important 
event was the Group’s purchase of Mention, 
a global Software as a Service (SaaS) busi-
ness based in France. The acquisition of 
Mention provides a foundation for further 
innovation-driven growth and continued 
global expansion. Going forward, the com-
bination of Mynewsdesk and Mention will 
facilitate growth and profitability in this 
segment and is an important complemen-
tary activity to the Group’s media business. 
In addition, it strengthens the subscription-
based digital revenue streams. 

The current year 2019 will be characterised 
by both improvements in profitability and 
measures to enhance revenue. With strong 
market positions and some of the most ta-
lented employees in the industry, the main 
pieces are in place for an improvement in 
2019. 

FROM THE CEO

Through 2018, the proportion of digital revenues increased, but even so it 
remained a challenging year for NHST as a group. 
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KEY FIGURES
Figures in NOK 1 000

Group 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Operating revenue  1,293,456  1,311,874  1,325,408 1,271,925  1,235,360 

Operating profit (loss) (14,825)  30,582  27,190 13,015  (10,316)

Profit (loss) before tax  (9,300)  23,868  21,746 6,524  (14,671)

Profit (loss) for the year  (13,146)  10,831  16,217 5,944  (25,015)

Net operating margin (%) (1.1%) 2.3% 2.1% 1.0% (0.8%)

Net profit margin (%) (1.0%) 0.8% 1.2% 0.5% (2.0%)

Profit ratio (%) (0.6%) 2.1% 2.2% 0.8% (0.9%)

Total assets  844,433  695,437  677,586  627,073  579,829 

Investments 181,612  47,634 55,457  59,171 45,355

Equity ratio (%) 13.10% 18.1% 16.5% 17.9% 17.6%

Return on total assets (%) (0.9%) 3.7% 3.6% 1.5% (1.2%)

Liquidity ratio 0.68  0.70  0.71 0.72 0.76

EMPLOYEES

Average number 729 744 762 767 739

Average FTEs 731 738 750 731 729

Net operating margin (%) Operating profit (loss) divided by operating revenues  
Net profit margin (%) Profit (loss) for the year divided by operating revenues
Profit ratio (%) Operating profit (loss) + interest income divided by operating revenues  

Equity ratio (%) Equity divided by total capital  
Return on total assets (%) Operating profit (loss) + interest income divided by average total capital

Liquidity ratio Current assets divided by current liabilities
Employees and FTE Full time employees

Operating revenue 

1,293,456 
Operating loss

 (14,825) 

Kr
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Number of FTES

244 
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201 
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Mill

Operating revenue

304
Mill

Operating revenue

239
Mill

Operating revenue

90
Mill

Operating profit

38
Mill

Operating profit

15
Mill

Operating loss

(7)
Mill

Operating loss

(6)
Mill

Kr

N
O

R
W

EG
IA

N
 PU

B
LIC

A
TIO

N
S

G
LO

B
A

L PU
B

LIC
A

TIO
N

S
M

Y
N

EW
SD

ESK
N

A
U

TISK
 FO

R
LA

G

NHST AT A GLANCE

Kr

Kr

Kr









12 NHST MEDIA GROUP / 
ANNUAL REPORT / 2018

NORWEGIAN PUBLICATIONS
This business unit includes Norway’s largest business newspaper, Dagens Næringsliv 
(DN), including the weekend magazines D2 and Magasinet, as well as Morgenbladet. 
Both of the publications are distributed in print and digitally. 

Operations and results 
The market continued to be challenging in 
2018. However, revenue from new revenue 
streams compensated for the decline in tradi-
tional advertising revenue and newsstand 
sales. Thus, total revenues ended up at the 
same level as the previous year.

DN experienced growth in subscription-based 
revenue. DN achieved growth in the number 
of digital subscriptions, but a considerable 
decline in both newsstand sales and paper-
based subscriptions. The traditional adverti-
sing market continued to decline. However, 
growth in content marketing and other  
services led to overall advertising revenue 
marginally higher than in the prior year. 
Morgenbladet grew its revenue again in 2018, 
driven by income from subscriptions.  
Advertising revenue was at the same level as 
the previous year.

Overall, the lack of revenue growth and 
higher costs related to digitalisation and  
the development of new revenue streams 
resulted in a weaker operating results, which 
amounted to NOK 38 million. 

Dagens Næringsliv received several editorial 
awards in 2018. Among other things, the 
company was named as Norway’s newspaper 
and website of the year, the journalists 
behind the Boligbygg exposé received the 
SKUP award, and the Oslo branch of the 
Association of Norwegian Editors chose DN’s 
political editor as Editor of the Year.
 

Products and digitalisation
In 2018, a significant part of the product 
development was focused on helping the 
company achieve its goal of becoming more 
analysis- and data-driven. In continuation of 
the investment in a Data Management  
Platform the prior year, an information  
platform and a Marketing Automation  
Platform were established at DN this year. 

With the help of these tools, we hope to 
understand users and their needs better 
understanding which can be utilised both 
commercially and editorially. In 2018, we also 
established a reader engagement department, 
which should help, among other things, to 
enable us to provide readers with journalism 
that they feel is relevant on the platform that  
they prefer to use. 

2018 was also the first whole year in which 
we had a new department for content marke-
ting, DNX. The department experienced  
considerable growth in revenue and has  
accounted for a number of successful  
projects, both on an independent basis and in 
close collaboration with the conference team.

Morgenbladet underwent a significant digita-
lisation process in 2018. This led to it publish-
ing two weekly editions in 2018 versus just 
one edition previously. The new edition is a 
pure digital edition.
 

Markets and strategy
The markets for traditional advertising,  
newsstand sales and paper-based subscrip-
tions are expected to continue their negative 
trend. Therefore, it will be important to  
continue to grow digital subscriptions,  
content marketing and the conference  
market. We also intend to test new types of 
digital services on specific target groups.

Toward 2019 
The new initiatives require investments in 
both employees and technology. In 2018, 
revenue growth from the new services was 
not large enough to compensate for the com-
bination of a decline in traditional revenue 
and increased costs related to these invest-
ments.

In 2019, we will therefore focus on structural 
cost reductions to improve profitability and 
to facilitate our ongoing work on product 
updates and new product development.
DN has charted the course for how the com-
pany can be prepared by 2021 for a potenti-
ally paperless future. In 2019, significant 
internal changes will be carried out so that 
we can have a more effective organisation 
even more capable of exploiting the opportu-
nities afforded by the transition to a comple-
tely digital existence.
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Operations and results 
Total revenue consisted of 60% subscription 
revenue, 31% ad revenue and 9% other 
income, mainly from events in 2018. Ship-
ping, via the TradeWinds brand, comprised 
approximately 40% of revenue, while energy 
and seafood accounted for approximately 
30% each. 

Both the top-line and operating result  
experienced growth in 2018. The energy 
publications made progress that was, among 
other things, driven by growth in ad revenue, 
while once again, TradeWinds was the most 
important contributor to net income, with an 
operating margin of 14%. Fiskeribladet also 
made a positive contribution, while other 
areas contributed negatively to net income. 

The product suite is undergoing a significant 
digitalisation progress and achieved an over-
all increase of 6% in digital ad revenue, along 
with growth in both volume and revenue 
from digital subscription products.

Products and digitalisation
The most important investments in 2018 
included product development related to 
digital advertising sales, content marketing 
and conferences. A number of significant 
product upgrades and functional releases 
were introduced for users throughout the 
year, such as newsletters and a self-service 
system for purchasing digital subscriptions. 

In addition, constant improvements to the 
user experience have been highly prioritised 
for our digital readers. As of the end of 2018, 
a more extensive upgrade of digital plat-
forms for all publications was started in 
order to ensure robust, flexible forward- 
looking services. 

Markets and strategy
At the beginning of 2018, an organisational 
change was implemented with the goal of 
making operations more efficient. Several 

employees dedicated to our publications in 
the areas of business development, digital 
development and digital marketing are now 
organised within centralised units that will 
deliver services to the different publications. 
This organisational change was stepped up 
during the latter half of 2018 and will  
continue into 2019. However, the brands will 
continue to have separate journalistic resources 
and other dedicated resources to serve their 
markets, where appropriate.

The publications are established in global 
markets with growth potential and provide 
specialised information services and journa-
lism to customer groups that historically 
have been willing to pay premium prices. 
The key to future growth lies - as for the rest 
of the media market - in establishing clear 
user oriented digital positions in combina-
tion with a continuous internal changes  
culture and cost control. 

The number of digital corporate subscrip-
tions is rising for the global publications.  
For Upstream, the number of digital sub-
scriptions will pass paper-based and bundled 
subscriptions in 2019. This entails comple-
tely new requirements for publication strate-
gies and content formats - a task that has 
begun and will be intensified in 2019. 

At the same time, the publications have an 
opportunity to play an important role in 
establishing meeting places for the various 
industries. TradeWinds’ conferences show 
how a journalistic brand can be a gathering 
point for the most important players in the 
shipping industry. In the upcoming year, we 
will try to assume a comparable position in 
other markets. 

Likewise, we see that customers are wanting 
to draw attention to themselves and dissemi-
nate information about their brands and pro-
ducts, coordinated through several of our 
channels. There has been an increase in the 

number of sponsorships associated with con-
ferences. Content marketing will make up a 
larger percentage of our product offerings in 
2019.

Toward 2019
In order to create growth, NHST Global 
Publications must successfully carry out its 
work across various production and product 
areas. We must create scalable solutions that 
can be used by all of our publications. Taking 
advantage of our presence in 16 different 
time zones requires an effective organisation 
and continuous developments of internal 
competencies. We are in the process of deli-
vering on this and the pace of change will 
pick up in 2019. Common functions will be 
united within competency centres in order to 
provide the brands with as much momen-
tum as possible with dedicated resources for 
specialised markets. We will also increase 
our collaboration with the rest of NHST’s 
publications since the digital solutions  
required are to a large extent the same.

Once again in 2019, many of the changes will 
continue to revolve around organisational 
transformation, digitalisation and technologi-
cal roll-outs that promote innovation, interac-
tion and high-quality user-oriented products. 
The most important initiatives in 2019 will 
focus on developing the organisation to ope-
rate to a greater degree with a “digital-first” 
focus, implementing a new common digital 
publication platform and growing revenue 
from conferences, content marketing and 
insight and analytical services. 

GLOBAL PUBLICATIONS
This business unit consists of publications and information services targeted at  
customers in the shipping, seafood and energy industries. The information is distributed 
via digital services and print publications. In addition, event income created through our 
own brands makes up an increasing share of the revenue. 
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Operations and Results
2018 was a year of increased international 
footprint with the purchase of Mention 
and ramp up of local sales and support 
teams in the Nordics and in Germany, but 
there were also increasing challenges from 
stronger international competition in the 
traditional PR/Comms market in the 
Nordics. Mynesdesk continued to invest  
in product development and improving  
customer value propositions and in  
GDPR compliance. 

Mynewsdesk maintains a leading home 
market position in Sweden. However, the 
year was marked by stagnant market 
growth and increased competition in the 
home market and this resulted in lower 
revenues in 2018. Mynewsdesk focused on 
customer retention and upsell of new pro-
ducts such as Professional services and 
Content to create more product stickiness 
and mitigate the slower sales to new custo-
mers. 

Overall, increased cost for sales resources 
and stagnant revenues resulted in a mate-
rial decline in profitability in 2018 for the 
Mynewsdesk operations. However, as of 
September, Mention helped boost revenues 
overall, and made a small positive contribu-
tion to profitability. An ongoing integration 
of the two operations is taking place in 
order to optimize for future growth and 
profitability. 

Product and Digitalization
The market trend continues for Software-
as-a-Service (SaaS) within PR and Marke-
ting to merge into one single, but large and 
complex, area of modern communication 
solutions. Suppliers and agencies are all 
striving to assess the situation and offer a 
whole range of new services to fit the 
newly forming market of brand publishers. 

In 2018 the Mynewsdesk product conti-
nued its development from a single pro-
duct offering to a complete product suite 
for PR professionals, small business marke-
ters and CEOs of small businesses. This 
was achieved through both organic R&D 
efforts providing further monitoring, ana-
lytics and content production functionality 
as well as through partnerships with  
Agility PR providing a global media data-
base and EQS providing a suite of investor 
relations products to the Mynewsdesk 
customer base. This will allow the business 
to provide a more comprehensive service 
for listed companies in the Nordic region.

Market and Strategy
The global PR & Communication market 
continued to consolidate during 2018 and 
at the beginning of 2019. The expectation 
for the coming years is that this consoli-
dation trend will intensify. Market leader 
Cision continued to acquire companies 
both in legacy PR / IR segment and new 
spaces such as social media management 
(Falcon.io) and PR analytics (Trendkite). 
Others also stepped up their acquisition 
activities. Consolidation is likely to conti-
nue and increases the chance that Mynews-
desk will see increased international com-
petition, also in its traditional Nordic 
market.

At the end of August Mynewsdesk acqui-
red the web and social media monitoring 
SaaS company Mention. Founded in 2012 
it has enjoyed rapid growth and in 2018 
generated recurring revenues of €5m. 
Headquartered in Paris and with an office 
in New York it is truly a born global SaaS 
business with paying customers in over 
120 countries. It generates over 45% of its 
recurring revenues in North America. 

Mention’s value proposition centers around 

delivering insights via a modern and 
superior UX into a company’s brand, com-
petition and industry on the web and in 
social media. Marketers and management 
of primarily small and medium sized busi-
nesses purchase it. Mention has grown 
through an efficient inbound customer 
acquisition model and this will provide a 
good platform for global growth as 
Mynewsdesk looks beyond its traditional 
PR Technology niche into the larger and 
more rapidly growing marketing techno-
logy segment. 

Towards 2019
Defending and leveraging Mynewsdesk’s 
Nordic market leadership position in PR 
solutions will be a central focus as well as 
rapidly growing the Mention business in 
the social media monitoring and manage-
ment market.

Driving profitability and scalability in  
the Nordic Mynewsdesk business will also 
be a focus point in 2019. Reducing cost of 
customer acquisition, maintaining the high 
customer retention rate and create a new 
sales process with increased productivity 
will remain a priority throughout the year.

Mention will continue to be focused on 
growth. Product development allowing 
entry to the much larger and complimen-
tary market of social media management 
will be delivered in 2019. Strengthening 
the commercial side (marketing / sales) of 
the business will be prioritized allowing for 
increased customer acquisition and reten-
tion delivering continued growth. 

MYNEWSDESK
The business area includes the Software-as-a-Service businesses marketed  
under the Mynewsdesk and Mention brands. The product portfolio covers the  
entire workplace for the PR and the communication function, as well as media  
monitoring of the web and social media.
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NAUTISK FORLAG
This business unit included the Group’s global distribution of navigational products, 
such as maps, publications and services for commercial shipping. 

Operations and results
The business was sold to StormGeo at  
the end of the third quarter of 2018. This  
business unit thus reflects nine months  
of operations in 2018, along with the 
impact from the sale of the business on  
the financial statements.

Growth in 2018 came in slightly below 
forecast, and revenue for the first nine 
months was 14% lower than in the same 
period of the previous year. Paper-based 
products declined and this was not offset 
by comparable growth in digital products.  

The revenue trend continued to put a 
strain on profitability again throughout  
the course of 2018. Revenues in 2018  
included an accounting gain of NOK 7  
million from the transaction. 
 
Markets and strategy
The digital transition in the market 
proceeded at a slower pace than expected. 
Market developments also suggests that 

larger business units are needed, where 
large-scale distribution and a complemen-
tary product suite are important competi-
tive advantages. 

The Group consequently concluded that 
Nautisk had a better chance of fulfilling its 
potential in a partnership with others. 
Thus, in combination with StormGeo’s  
product suite, Nautisk will be in a better 
position to develop its potential. 

Toward 2019 
As of the end of 2018, there is no opera-
tions nor employees at Nautisk Forlag,  
and the business structure will be dissolved 
when feasible. 

As a part of the transaction, Nautisk Forlag 
AS has changed its name to Nautical Charts AS.

Beginning in 2019, the Group will no  
longer operate with Nautisk as a sperate 
business unit.
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ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 
2018

Operating revenue 

1,293,456

Kr

Operating loss

(14,825)
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NHST Media Group (NHST) as a media and technology  
company go through a transition toward increasingly more 
advanced digital products and services. In 2018, NHST  
continue to work on increasing its digital revenues. The 
Group implemented two changes to its business portfolio  
in 2018. First, the business of the group’s second oldest 
company, Nautisk Forlag was sold to StormGeo. StormGeo’s 
complementary line up of products will enable Nautisk to 
continue to develop its potential. Next, the Group continued 
to invest in digital subscription-based revenue streams and 
the global Software as a Service (SaaS) business, Mention, 
was acquired in late August. Mention is based in Paris and 
has developed a global product for social media monitoring 
and interaction that compliments Mynewsdesk’s existing 
products. 
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Highlights from 2018
The Norwegian publications unit experienced challenging adverti-
sement markets with substantial fluctuating throughout the year. 
During certain periods, growth from content marketing investment 
compensated for the underlying negative trend in general adverti-
sing, but overall for the year, ad revenues declined by 4%. In the 
circulation market, the conversion from paper-based to digital sub-
scription products continued. The volume growth in digital pro-
ducts compensated for a corresponding decline in bundled pro-
ducts while newsstand sales continued to decline. Morgenbladet 
grew its revenue, and the trend toward digital is beginning to make 
an impact. Dagens Næringsliv experienced growth from content 
marketing and the investment in conferences. 

The global publications achieved revenue growth from digital pro-
ducts. There were large differences in profitability among the busi-
nesses in 2018. The shipping segment is clearly the largest and 

most important contributor to Global’s results. The number of  
subscription customers has stabilised, and the rate of decline  
flattened out. The ad market for the global publications was 
somewhat better than for the other businesses. The energy  
segment experienced growth in ad revenues. Global is increasing 
its investment in media-related services, such as content marke-
ting, conferences and insight reports, and the conference business, 
in particular, experienced growth in 2018. 

Mynewsdesk’s operations were characterised by a lack of revenue 
and customer growth in 2018.  Operating expenses were therefore 
too high relative to the revenue growth. A significant cost reduc-
tion project designed to improve the future profitability of 
Mynewsdesk was started at the beginning of 2019. In addition, 
there is work on product and customer improvements at Mention, 
designed to promote revenue growth and enhanced profitability. 

NHST Media Group (NHST) as a media and technology company go through a transition 
toward increasingly more advanced digital products and services. In 2018, NHST  
continue to work on increasing its digital revenues. The Group implemented two  
changes to its business portfolio in 2018. First, the business of the group’s second  
oldest company, Nautisk Forlag was sold to StormGeo. StormGeo’s complementary  
line up of products will enable Nautisk to continue to develop its potential. Next, the 
Group continued to invest in digital subscription-based revenue streams and the global 
Software as a Service (SaaS) business, Mention, was acquired in late August. Mention  
is based in Paris and has developed a global product for social media monitoring and 
interaction that compliments Mynewsdesk’s existing products. 

The Group also invests in the continued development and growth of its existing  
businesses, but there were short-term profitability challenges in 2018. Ongoing adjust-
ments to operations and the cost base were not enough to compensate for a lack of  
revenue growth.  In 2018, the year ended with an operating loss of NOK 14.8 million,  
versus an operating profit of NOK 31 million the previous year due to weakening  
performance at both Norwegian publications and Mynewsdesk. Moreover, the results 
were also impacted by restructuring costs, extraordinary items and amortisation  
of goodwill. Operating profit before depreciation and extraordinary items was  
NOK 50 million (versus NOK 93 million in 2017).

The board is not satisfied with the profitability, and measures have been implemented 
throughout all our businesses to improve profitability going forward. 

Hege Yli Melhus Ask assumed the position of Group Managing Director on 1 November. 
Mynewsdesk and Global Publications did also get new managing directors in 2018. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’  
REPORT 2018
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Revenues at Nautisk Forlag declined somewhat leading up to the 
sale of the business, and profitability at the company continued to 
be challenging. The digital transition proceeded at a slower pace 
than expected and continued to put pressure on profits. The sale of 
the business to StormGeo resulted in a small gain for the Group, 
but for the full year, Nautisk Forlag made a negative contribution 
to the consolidated results.  
 
Operating revenues

IN NOK 2018 2017

Operating revenue 1,293,456 1,311,874 

Operating expenses 1,308,281 1,281,292 

Operating profit (loss) (14,825) 30,582 

Operating revenue for the year amounted to NOK 1,293 million. 
This was a decline of NOK 19 million, but adjusting for the effect 
of the Nautisk divestment and Mention acquisition, operating  
revenue was flat compared to the prior year. 

Although the news publications experienced 5% growth in  
subscription sales, this did not compensate for the decline in ad 
revenue and newsstand sales. Revenue at Mynewsdesk increased 
by 6% as a result of Mention’s revenue over the final quarter.  

Operating expenses
Operating expenses amounted to NOK 1,308 million, an increase 
of 2%. Adjusted for Mention’s operating expenses and Nautisk  
Forlag, the increase was 5%, primarily due to investments by  
the publications in reader engagement, data-driven analysis and 
content marketing. In addition, sales force expenses increased at 
Mynewsdesk during the latter half of 2017 and the first part of 
2018.  The expenses were also impacted by restructuring costs  
of NOK 8 million and other extraordinary items amounting to 
NOK 8 million. 

Amortisation of goodwill and intangible assets related to the  
Mention acquisition increased the underlying level of amortisation 
in the Group.
 
Profit/loss
EBIT amounted to a loss of NOK 15 million versus a profit of  
NOK 31 million in 2017.  The change was due to weaker operating 
results at Norwegian publications and Mynewsdesk, along with 
increased amortisation costs due to the Mention acquisition.  
Norwegian publications and Global publications both delivered 
operating profits while Mynewsdesk experienced an operating loss 
in 2018. Group’s operating expenses were impacted the 2018 
results by NOK 49 million, which was NOK 19 million higher than 
the prior year. The increase was primarily due to restructuring 
costs and extraordinary items. 
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IN NOK 2018 2017

EBITDA 44,524 87,747

EBITA 36,671 79,894

EBIT (14,825) 30,582

EBT (9,300) 23,868

Net financial items for the year amounted to NOK 6 million.  
Unrealised exchange rate gains have the largest impact on the  
net financial items of the group due to significant foreign currency-
denominated holdings and activities.  

Profit/loss after tax was a loss of NOK 13 million. The tax expense 
arose due to tax liabilities abroad and permanent differences  
between various overseas markets in relation to the amortisation  
of goodwill and intangible assets.    

Cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities amounted to NOK 76 million, 
versus NOK 37 million the prior year. This represented 171% of 
EBITDA, compared to 41% in 2017. In addition to the effect of the 
operating profit/loss, cash flow from operating activities is prima-
rily impacted by accounts receivable and advance subscription  
payments. In 2018, the sale of the Nautisk business also had an 
impact on cash flow from operating activities of approximately 
NOK 30 million.

IN NOK 2018 2017

From operating activities 75,968 36,700 

From investments (181,612) (47,634)

From financing activities  116,130 1,414

Net cash flow  10,486 (9,518)

Cash flow from investments was negative NOK 182 million.  
Investments in product development and digitalisation of the  
businesses amounted to NOK 38 million in 2018, compared with 
NOK 48 million in 2017 and NOK 41 million in 2016. In addition 
to these investments, Mention was acquired for NOK 147 million, 
while the sale of Nautisk made a positive contribution of  
NOK 44 million to the net cash flow.

Cash flow from financing activities was NOK 116 million.  
The acquisition of Mention was primarily financed with  
additional bank loans. 

After the balance sheet date, the Group signed a new financing 
agreement with DNB that runs until 1 February 2022. This is a 
revolving credit facility with a limit of NOK 250 million. As of  
31 December 2018, NOK 170 million has been drawn from the  
former DNB credit facility. 

Total cash and cash equivalents, both restricted and unrestricted, 
amounted to NOK 229 million at the end of the year, versus  
NOK 219 million at the end of 2017. 

Return on equity and capital structure
NOK 4 million was paid out in dividends in 2018, based on  
the 2017 net profit.  The board will not propose any dividend  
payments in 2019. 

Based on the number of shares outstanding, earnings per share 
amounted to a loss of NOK 10.57 due to the weaker operating  
performance of the business. 
 
Profitability 2018 2017
Dividends 0,00 3.11

Earnings per share (10.57) 8.71

ROACE (7.10%) 21.4%

Cash flow per share  8.43 (7.66)

The Group’s average working capital amounted to NOK 208 mil-
lion in 2018, compared with NOK 143 million in 2017. Return on 
invested capital was thus negative 7%, versus positive 21% in 
2017. The Group increased its total assets over the course of the 
year as a result of the acquisition of Mention. 

Share capital for the Group at the end of the year amounted to 
NOK 111 million, corresponding to a debt-to-equity ratio of 13%, 
versus 18% (adjusted for the change in accounting principle, see 
note 20) at the end of 2017. 

The current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) was 
0.67 as of 31 December 2018, compared to 0.69 at the same date 
last year. The Group’s liquidity is satisfactory.

THE BUSINESS UNITS IN MORE DETAIL

Norwegian publications  

IN NOK 2018 2017
Operating revenue 666,698 668,062 

Operating expenses 628,564 608,819 

Operating profit(loss) 38,404 59,243 
*) Not including amortisation of group goodwill

Revenues were stable compared to the prior year, amounting to 
NOK 667 million. Ad revenue declined 4%, compared to a decline 
of 12% in 2017. The group is continuing to develop new digital 
advertising products and content marketing initiatives.  

In circulation, the conversion from paper-based to digital-based  
products continued. Subscription-related revenues increased with 
NOK 9 million in 2018, which was an increase of 2% over the prior 
year. Newsstand sales continued their negative trajectory as has been 
the case for the majority of printed Norwegian newspapers.  

Investments in content marketing made a positive contribution  
to revenue in 2018, both in the form of ad revenue and the sale  
of services. Conference revenues also grew. 

The operating profit amounted to NOK 38 million, which was  
a decline of 35% from the prior year. Operating cost increases  
related to product development, digitalisation and investment in 
content marketing was the main explanation for the negative 
trend. Thus, the operating margin fell to 6%, from 9% in 2017.   
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Global Publications

 TNOK 2018 2017
Operating revenue 304,205 300,557 

Operating expenses 288,954 286,701 

Operating profit(loss) 15,251 13,856 
*) Not including amortisation of group goodwill

Revenue in this segment increased by 1% in 2018. Advertisement 
revenue grew by 2%, while circulation revenue declined by 1%. 

The increase in ad revenues was largely due to growth in the 
energy segment, while revenue was flat in the other segments. 
Digital advertising revenue grew overall for all the publications. 

Circulation revenue declined, primarily due to 600 less paying  
subscribers at the end of 2018 compared to the beginning of the 
year. The decline was mainly experienced by the seafood segment. 
Digital subscriptions experienced significant growth throughout.

Operating profit amounted to NOK 15 million, an improvement  
of NOK 1 million over the prior year. Cost containment measures 
have been implemented in order to improve profitability and 
direct resources toward digitalisation initiatives as well as the 
development of new revenue streams. 

Trond Sundnes assumed responsibility for the management of this 
business unit in mid August 2018.

Mynewsdesk

 IN NOK 2018 2017*
Operating revenue 238,609 225,270 

Operating expenses 245,878 213,363 

Operating profit(loss) (7,269) 11,907 
*) Adjusted figures for 2017, please refer to note 20

Mynewsdesk experienced a challenging year in 2018. Revenue 
growth levelled off in the original business, and the growth of 6% 
was a result of the Mention acquisition. The reason for the revenue 
flatlining was a lack of growth in the number of subscribers. 

The operating loss amounted to NOK 7 million.  The sales model 
for Mynewsdesk continues to be resource intensive during the first 
year of the customer relationship, and budgeted costs were based 
on a growth scenario in 2018. Consequently, this had a negative 
effect on profitability in the absence of customer growth. Mention 
contributed as planned following the acquisition, with a small 
positive effect on profitability in the fourth quarter. 

Through the acquisition of Mention, the businesses have establis-
hed a new platform for global growth and an opportunity to adapt 
the organisation going forward in order to promote growth and 
profitability.

Louise Barnekow assumed the role of acting managing director of 
Mynewsdesk in mid December 2018. 
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Nautisk Forlag

IN NOK 2018 2017
Operating revenue 90,098 122,305 

Operating expenses 95,881 142,760 

Operating profit(loss) (5,784) (20,455) 

Up to the point when the business was sold, revenues were  
somewhat lower compared to the prior year. This continued  
to be a challenge for profitability up to the date of the sale.  
The business was sold with a small gain for the Group, however  
for the full year Nautisk Forlag made a negative contribution  
to the consolidated results. 

The remaining Nautisk Forlag has neither employees nor  
operations. The business structure will gradually be dissolved  
as it becomes practical to do so. 

Other activities 
This includes a number of common group functions, along with 
group administration. Revenues are primarily intra-group from  
the subsidiaries. The net effect of these activities on the results  
was a loss of NOK 36 million, including restructuring costs and 
extraordinary items. 

Risk management 
The Group’s strategic risk is mainly associated with the digitalisa-
tion process taking place in most of the group’s markets. This 
brings about significant changes to both the business models and 
the products. The Group’s strategy of focusing on subscription-
based revenue provides more predictability longer-term.  
The strategy is offset the short-term risk associated with fluctua-
tions in the sale of ads and services by focusing on multiple  
products and revenue streams. 

In addition, there is risk e.g. associated with regulatory changes in 
shipping as well as with press support for individual companies, 
but this risk is not material to the group as a whole. The Group 
does not operate in markets that are subject to specific regulatory 
risk.

The Group is also exposed to various types of risk associated with 
its ordinary operations. This includes financial risk linked to cur-
rencies, operating risk related to running a global organisation and 
credit risk associated with serving a portfolio of global customers. 

The Group is exposed to currency risk since it is a global business 
with both revenue and expenses denominated in multiple curren-
cies. In addition, investments are made in currencies that are  
exposed to currency risk on an ongoing basis. Currency risk also 
exists in relation to current accounts receivable. This type of risk is 
assessed on an ongoing basis and hedging transactions are carried 
out as needed. 

In addition to the currency risk associated with a global customer 
portfolio, the group is also exposed to a credit risk with respect to 
these customers. The Group monitors outstanding receivables on 
an ongoing basis and has dedicated employees for monitoring 
customers and past due receivables.

Aside from the more general risk factors described above, the 
Group has implemented a project to adapt processes and opera-
tions to the new personal data protection regulations that went 
into effect in the summer of 2018. The Group has established 
procedures and frameworks for following these privacy regulations 
in line with the new requirements. 

Management and monitoring of the group’s risk factors is carried 
out by the board in the form of an overall risk review during its 
annual meeting with the auditor. In addition, the Board of Direc-
tors has an Audit Committee that assesses areas such as financial 
risk management and financial reporting.  

Management also compiles operational reports for the Board on  
an ongoing basis, and the majority of the Group’s activities are 
included in a consolidated group account system. Liquidity is 
managed centrally.

Technology, research and development
The group has no expenses or activities that can be classified as 
research and development.  However, it does invest in digitalisa-
tion of its businesses and the development of digital products  
and new distribution platforms.  

A portion of the expenses related to the development of products, 
distribution platforms and systems is recognised as intangible 
assets on the balance sheet. As of 31 December 2018, this amoun-
ted to NOK 78 million in book value, compared with NOK 88 mil-
lion at the end of 2017. Such costs are usually amortised over a 
period of 3 to 5 years.

Health, safety and environment
The group promotes HSE activities under the auspices of the 
Workplace Environment Committee, the corporate sports organisa-
tion and HR. Collaboration with employee organisations has been 
satisfactory. 

For the Group, absences due to illness were marginally up compa-
red with the prior year. Sick leave was 3.6% among employees in 
Norway, which was a slight increase from the prior year. For the 
parent company, it was 4.1%, which was also higher than in 2017. 
Measures for reducing sick leave are constantly being implemented. 

No accidents were reported during the year. The group's ordinary 
activities have a relatively low risk of accidents.

NHST Media Group has employees in a number of locations both 
in Norway and abroad. The largest offices outside of Norway are 
located in London, Stockholm, Singapore, Paris and Leipzig. The 
group complies with individual countries' HSE legislation and 
regulations and seeks to ensure that employees of both genders are 
able to balance their work and private lives. 

Human resources and equal opportunity
Many nationalities are represented within the group, both in Nor-
way and abroad, and there is good collaboration among employees. 
The Group has a recruitment and HR policy that ensures equal 
opportunities and rights and discourages discrimination. 
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A dedicated project has been launched to work on measures for 
strengthening diversity, equal opportunity and innovation throug-
hout all levels of the group. The project revealed that for the majo-
rity of the group’s businesses, the overall gender balance varied 
from an even 50/50 ratio to a 60/40 ratio in favour of men. This 
relationship applies throughout the organisation up to the level of 
mid-level management, whereas in the group’s top two manage-
ment levels, with a few exceptions, men constitute a clear majority. 
The group has developed a number of measures and objectives, 
along with specific HR procedures, to increase diversity and gen-
der balance throughout the Group’s businesses. 

At the end of 2018, the group's Board of Directors had five share-
holder-nominated members, consisting of three women and two 
men. The employees are represented by two men and one woman. 
At the end of 2018, there were five men and two women represen-
ted in group management. 

External environment
The group does not manufacture goods or provide services that 
utilise environmentally hazardous ingredients. Dagens Næringsliv, 
the only publication owned by the group that has a significant 
newsstand circulation, employs the services of AS Avisretur to  
collect unsold newspapers. The newspapers are sent for recycling. 

Corporate governance
NHST Media Group seeks to follow the recommendations of the 
Oslo Stock Exchange regarding good corporate governance. For 
more comments and explications, please see the dedicated chapter 
of the Annual Report. Brief comments on key factors are provided 
below. 

The company's Annual General Meeting (AGM) is open to all regis-
tered shareholders and all registered shares carry equal voting 
rights. All shareholders may participate either in person or by 
proxy. It is not possible to attend and/or vote via the Internet. 
There is only one single share class, and each share entitles the 
shareholder to one vote at the AGM. The shares are freely transfe-
rable, although the Board may refuse the transfer of shares on rea-
sonable grounds. The right to withhold consent to an acquisition 
of shares is based on the need for editorial and commercial inde-
pendence and represents a deviation from the recommendations 
for responsible corporate governance.

Fourteen Board of Directors meetings were held in 2018. The 
board periodically receives consolidated reports containing finan-
cial information about the group and its individual companies and 
management’s discussion of results. The corporate strategy and 
strategic plans are broadly reviewed at an extended board meeting 
each year. In addition, the board has two sub-committees: a com-
pensation committee and an audit committee. 

At the Annual General Meeting, Anette Olsen and Christian Must 
were elected to the nomination committee.

The AGM also establishes the compensation of board members on 
an annual basis. In 2018, compensation of NOK 1,065,000 was 
paid out in the form of directors’ fees, not including sub-committee 
fees.
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Outlook for 2019
The macroeconomic environment for media companies has not 
changed significantly in recent years. The proportion of sales from 
ad revenue is falling. The rapid pace of digitalisation in most of the 
Group’s markets is putting pressure on existing business models. 
Thus, the continued development of the group’s brand positioning 
and investment in high quality products is needed in order to  
create new revenue streams and profitability.

The Group’s strategy of developing subscription-based services 
remains unchanged. Subscription-based services provide the group 
with predictable income that can be used to develop related servi-
ces and new revenue streams. The acquisition of Mention was 
based in this strategy. Going forward, the combination of Mynews-
desk and Mention will create a potential for growth and profitabi-
lity in the SaaS segment.

The Group's overall profitability was disappointing in 2018. There 
was not enough growth in either SaaS revenue or the publications 
to offset the increased costs associated with developing the busi-
ness and the decline in general advertising. In 2019, the group  
will focus on measures to improve both top-line growth and profi-
tability.  

Annual profit/loss and allocations
The parent company’s revenue amounted to NOK 88 million in 
2018, versus NOK 102 million in 2017. NOK 84 million of this was 
composed of intra-group sales. 

The operating loss amounted to NOK 35.6 million, compared with 
NOK 19.9 million the prior year. Net financial items were NOK 
28.6 million, versus NOK 5.3 million in 2017. Fluctuations in net 

financial items from one year to the next is primarily driven by the 
level of group contributions received from the subsidiaries, but in 
2018, financing costs also rose due to an increased amount of exter-
nal loans.  Net financial items included NOK 32.6 million in group 
contributions, compared with NOK 48.0 million the prior year.  

Due to a tax loss, the tax expense for the year for accounting purpo-
ses was an income of NOK 0.6 million. Net tax payable for the year 
was therefore NOK 0. 

The Board propose to cover the loss after taxes of NOK 7.7 million 
as follows: 

NOK in millions
Allocated for dividends 0
Transferred from Other equity 7.7

Total share capital amounted to NOK 50.9 million, compared with 
NOK 58.6 million at the end of 2017. The equity ratio was 10%, 
compared to 12% the prior year.  

Going concern assumption
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis 
of the going concern principle. This assessment is based on the 
group’s expectations regarding future developments and a satisfac-
tory liquidity position. It is the opinion of the Board of Directors 
that the annual accounts provide a true and fair view of NHST 
Media Group's assets and liabilities, financial position and results.

Patrik Hofbauer

Oslo, 6 May 2019

Anette S. Olsen
CHAIRPERSON

Kimberly Lein-Mathisen Anne Britt Berentsen

Richard Olav Aa

Hege Yli Melhus Ask
CEO

Espen Linderud Robert G. Stark

Eva M. Hessen
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NHST MEDIA GROUP AS Figures in NOK 1,000 GROUP

2017 2018 Note 2018 2017

Operating revenue and expenses

0 0 Sales revenue 2  1,257,083 1,273,061

 102,058  87,746 Other operating income 2  36,372 38,812

102,058 87,746 Total operating revenues 1,293,455 1,311,874

0 0 Consumption of goods and services 3  306,479 317,993

 52,017  57,292 Personnel costs 4,6  682,142 641,014

 12,825  14,196 Ordinary depreciation/amortisation 7  59,349 57,165

 57,077  51,880 Other operating expenses 4,5  260,310 265,119

121,919 123,368 Total operating expenses 1,308,280 1,281,291

 (19,862)  (35,622) Operating profit (14,825) 30,582

Financial income and expenses

47,980 32,608 Income from investments in subsidiaries 8,9 0 0 

0 0 Income from investments in associated companies 9 0  (705)

 (7,647)  (8,048) Interest paid to other group companies 0 0

6,197 9,790 Interest income 1,987 1,732 

178 2,771 Other financial income 18 10,255 179 

 (38,022)  (5,184) Impairment of financial assets 8 0 0 

 (2,341)  (3,376) Interest expenses  (2,720)  (2,221)

 (995) 0 Other financial expenses 18  (3,998)  (5,698)

5,350 28,562 Net financial items 5,524  (6,714)

 (14,512)  (7,061) Ordinary profit/(loss) before tax (9,300) 23,868

 (5,987)  (642) Tax expense 12  (3,845)  (13,037)

 (20,500)  (7,703) Profit/(loss) for the year  (13,146) 10,831

Minority interest’s share of the profit/(loss) for the year 805 1,117

Majority interest’s share of the profit/(loss) for the year  (13,951) 9,714 

Transfers and allocations

3,870 0 Dividend provision

 (24,370)  (7,703) Transferred to/(from) other equity

 (20,500)  (7,703)

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
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NHST MEDIA GROUP AS Figures in NOK 1,000 GROUP

2017 2018 ASSETS Note 2018 2017

Fixed assets

Intangible assets:

29,649  12,448 Other intangible assets 7  135,401  87,814 

0  0   Prepaid tax 0   0   

5,638  4,996 Deferred tax asset 12 6,937 7,200 

0 0 Goodwill 7  168,613  48,029 

35,287 17,444 310,950 143,043

Tangible fixed assets:

10,199  11,135 Inventory, cars and office equipment 7  20,234  19,524

Financial fixed assets:

232,612  239,785 Investments in subsidiaries 8 0 0 

0 0   Investments in other shares 9  394  194 

15,570  17,194 Pension assets 6  110,402  119,836 

5,817  5,817 Other long-term receivables 10  14,861  14,733 

12,023  131,584 Inter-company loans 10 0 0 

266,022 394,380 125,658 134,763

311,508 422,959 Total fixed assets 456,842 297,330

Current assets

Goods:

0 0 Finish goods 0  12,589

Receivables:

1,231  1,026 Accounts receivable 10  120,554  145,177 

65,936  55,273 Inter-company receivables 10 0 0 

9,898  8,788 Other short-term receivables  37,675  21,465 

77,065 65,086  158,228  166,642

Cash and cash equivalents:

82,266  67,230 Cash and bank deposits 11  229,362  218,876

159,331 132,317 Total current assets 387,590 398,107

470,840 555,276 TOTAL ASSETS 844,432 695,437

BALANCE SHEET  
AS AT 31 DECEMBER
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NHST MEDIA GROUP AS Figures in NOK 1,000 GROUP

2017 2018 EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note 2018 2017

Equity

Paid-in capital:

12 879 12,879 Share capital 13,16 12,879 12,879 

 (448)  (448) Own shares 13 (448) (448)

50,551 50,551 Share premium reserve 13  50,551  50,551 

62,983 62,983 62,983 62,983

Opptjent egenkapital:

 (4,373)  (12,076) Other equity 13  31,064  46,930

Minority interest 13  16,765  15,960

58,610 50,907 Total equity 110,812 125,872

Liabilities

Provisions for liabilities:

8,608 9,219 Pension commitment 6 18,758 18,490 

0   0   Deferred tax 12,19  16,560  0   
0   0   Other non current liabilities 19  24,871  0   

8,608 9 219  60,189  18,490

0  100,000 Long term bank loans 14  100,000 0

Current liabilities:

 6,138  5,508 Trade accounts payable  31,963  51,866 

0 0 Advance payments from customers  323,491  319,086 

 332,117  300,146 Inter-company liabilities 14 0 0 

0 0 Tax payable 12  2,694  2,489 

 3,748  1,762 Unpaid govt. taxes and charges 47,381 42,799 

3,870 0 Dividend provision 13 0 3,870 

50,000 70,000 Debt to financial institutions 14 77,179 50,000 

 7,749  17,734 Other short-term liabilities 14  90,726  80,965 

403,622  395,150 573,432 551,075

412,230 504,369 Total liabilities 733,621 569,565

470,840 555,276 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 844,432 695,437

Patrik Hofbauer

Anette S. Olsen
CHAIRPERSON

Kimberly Lein-Mathisen Anne Britt Berentsen

Richard Olav Aa

Hege Yli Melhus Ask
CEO

Espen Linderud Robert G. Stark

Oslo, 6 May 2019

Eva M. Hessen
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NHST MEDIA GROUP AS Figures in NOK 1,000 GROUP

2017 2018 2018 2017

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES

 (14,512)  (7,061) Profit before tax  (9,300) 23,868 

3,758 0 Tax paid for the period  (2,270)  (210)

 (460) 0 Gain on sale of operating assets  (7,113)  (453)

12,825 14,196 Ordinary depreciation/amortisation 59,349 57,165 

0 0 Income from investments in subsidiaries 0 0 

38,022 0 Impairment of financial assets 0 0 

0 0 Changes in inventories 12,589 5,308 

 (439) 205 Changes in trade accounts receivable 24,623  (31,002)

 (105)  (630) Changes in trade accounts payable  (19,903) 3,248 

0 0 Changes in advances from customers 17,471 8,566 

 (3,106)  (1,014) Net cash contribution to pension plan 9,702  (18,662)

0 0 Translation difference  (1,915) 809 

 (129,335)  (60,176) Changes in other accruals and liabilities  (7,265)  (11,936)

(93,352) (54,479) Net cash flow from operating activities 75,968 36,700

CASH FLOW FROM 
INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

920 6,769 Cash from sale of fixed assets 14,530 1,156 

0 0 Cash return from other investments 0 0 

 (14,385)  (4,700) Payment for purchase of tangible and intangible assets  (48,700)  (47,603)

0 0 Group internal financing 0 0 

90,054 47,980 Received group contributions and dividends 0 0 

0  (7,173) Payment for purchase of shares in subsidiaries  (147,442) 0 

0  (119,562) Payment other investments 0  (1,187)

76,589 (76,686) Net cash flow from investment activities  (181,612)  (47,634)

CASH FLOW FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

 (3,730)  (3,870) Payment of dividend  (3,870)  (3,730)

0 0 Paid-in new equity from minority 0 0 

0 120,000 Deposits/(payments) other financing 120,000 5,144 

(3,730) 116,130 Net cash flow from financing activities 116,130 1,414

(20,492) (15,035) Net changes in cash and cash equivalents 10,486 (9,518)

102,758 82,265 Cash and cash equivalents held 1.1 218,876 228,395

82,265 67,230 Cash and cash equivalents held 31.12 229,361 218,877

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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The annual accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the Accounting Act of 1998 
and generally accepted accounting principles 
in Norway.

Consolidation principles
NHST Media Group AS (NHST) is a holding 
company that provides administrative services 
to all its subsidiaries.    

The consolidated accounts include NHST and 
subsidiaries in which NHST owns, directly or 
indirectly, more than 50 % of the share capital. 
All the Group companies adhere to the same 
accounting principles. All significant transac-
tions and inter-company balances between 
companies in the Group have been eliminated. 
Investments in associated companies are ac-
counted for according to the equity method, 
both in the parent and consolidated accounts.

Foreign subsidiaries’ profit and loss accounts 
are translated using the average exchange 
rate, while the balance sheet is translated at 
the exchange rate applicable on the 31.12. 
Translation differences are recognised through 
equity. Shares in subsidiaries are eliminated in 
the consolidated accounts using the acquisiti-
on method. This means that the acquired 
company’s assets and liabilities are valued at 
their fair value on the acquisition date and any 
remaining surplus price is classified as good-
will. For partly owned subsidiaries, only NHST’s 
share of the goodwill is included in the balance 
sheet.    

Operating revenues
Advertising revenues are recognised as inco-
me at the date the advertisement is published, 
and are recognised less commissions, disco-
unts and claims. Subscription revenues are in-
voiced and paid in advance, but are  
recognised as income on a straight-line basis 
over the subscription period. Income from the 
sale of goods and services is recognised as in-
come when the goods is delivered. Income 
from services provided is recognised in accor-
dance with their earning rates. 

Costs
As a general rule, costs are recorded during 
the same period as the revenues associated 

with them. In those cases where there is no 
clear link between cost and revenue, costs 
are distributed according to a discretionary 
criterion. 

Assessment and classification of  
assets and liabilities
Assets intended for permanent ownership or 
use are classified as fixed assets. Other assets 
are classified as current assets. Receivables 
falling due within one year are always classi-
fied as current assets.  Similar criteria apply to 
the classification of current liabilities.  
   
Fixed assets are valued at their acquisition, but 
are written down to their fair value if the im-
pairment in value is considered permanent.  
Fixed assets with a limited useful economic life 
are subject to scheduled depreciation.  
  
Current assets are recorded at the lowest of 
acquisition cost and fair value. Current liabiliti-
es are recognised in the balance sheet at the 
nominal amount received at the time the liabi-
lity was established Certain items are assessed 
according to other rules, and are explained 
below.   

Intangible assets
The costs of creating intangible assets are 
capitalised in the balance sheet when it likely 
that future financial benefits will accrue from 
the asset and when the acquisition can be 
measured reliably    

Intangible assets acquired individually are 
capitalised in the balance sheet at acquisition 
price. Intangible assets acquired as part of ac-
quiring a company are capitalised in the ba-
lance sheet at the acquisition price when the 
criteria for capitalisation are met.  
 
Intangible assets with a limited useful econo-
mic life are subject to scheduled depreciation. 
Intangible assets are written-down to their fair 
value if the expected financial  
benefits are not equal to the value recorded in 
the balance sheet and any remaining  
production costs. Ordinary depreciation is  
distributed on a straight-line basis over the  
following year:    

Goodwill:  5 to 10 years
Other intangible assets:  3 to 10 years 

The company has chosen to amortise goodwill 
over a period exceeding five years in certain 
cases. Amortisation periods that exceed five 
yearsreflect the underlying operations of the 
companies that the goodwill relates to. Com-
panies in a development phase will not reach 
their potential, return and cash flow within a  
5 year period from the acquisition date.  

Companies in a development phase will not 
reach their potential, return and cash flow wit-
hin a 5 year period from the acquisition date.  

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are depreciated over 
their expected useful economic life. Ordinary 
depreciation is distributed on a straight-line 
basis over the following year:  
Vehicles:  5 years
Fixtures and office equipment:  5 years
EDB equipment:  3 to 5 years
Upgrade office premises: Over the  
 remaining rental period, cf. Note 7.

Shares in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are valued accor-
ding to the cost method. The investments are 
written down to their fair value if the impair-
ment is considered permanent.  Dividends and 
group contributions received from subsidiaries 
are recorded as other financial income.  
  
Investments in associated companies are  
assessed according to the equity method in 
both the parent and consolidated accounts.
     
Other long-term shareholding
Shareholding where the company does not 
have significant influence is capitalised in the 
balance sheet at the acquisition price. The  
investments are written down to their fair  
value if the impairment is considered perma-
nent. Dividends received from companies are  
recorded as other financial income.

Pensions
When accounting for defined benefit pension 
plans, the liability is charged to expenses over 

NOTES 1 
NOTE 1 | ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 
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NHST GROUP

2017 2018 2018 2017
0 0 Advertisements 283,349 290,930 

0 0 Subscriptions and newsstand 856,272 859,011 

0 0 Other sales revenues 117,469 123,120 

0 0 Total sales revenues 1,287,083 1,273,061 

460 0 Gain on sale of fixed assets 31 453 

99,317 84,352 Sales to Group companies 0 0

0 0 Gain from sales of businesses 7,113 0

0 0 Print media subsidy 12,599 12,096 

2,280 3,394 Other operating income 16,629 26,264 

102,058 87,746 Total other operating income 36,372 38,812

NOTE 2 | OPERATING INCOME Figures in NOK 1,000

the service period in accordance with the 
plan’s vesting formula. The allocation method 
corresponds to the plan’s vesting formula, un-
less most of the vesting takes place towards 
the end of the service period, in which case 
straight-line accrual is used. 

Deviations in the estimates and effects of 
changes in the assumptions are amortised 
over the expected remaining service period to 
the extent that they exceed 10% of the pension 
liabilities or the pension assets, whichever is 
the higher (corridor). The effect of changes to 
the pension plans with a retroactive effect that 
are not contingent on future employment is 
included in the profit and loss account im-
mediately. Changes to plans with a retroactive 
effect that are contingent on future employ-
ment are amortised on a straight line basis 
over the period until the benefit is no longer 
contingent on future employment.  
     
The net pension liability is the difference bet-
ween the present value of the pension liabilities 
and the value of the pension assets that have 
been set aside for payment of benefits. Pension 
assets are recognised at fair value. Pension  
liabilities and pension assets are measured on 
the balance sheet date. Employers’ national  
insurance contributions are included in the  
figures and are calculated on the net actual 
under-financing. 

The Company’s ordinary pension plan gives all 
members the right to a future defined benefit. 

This depends largely on the number of service 
years, the salary level on the retirement date 
and an estimated benefit payable under the 
National Insurance Scheme, based on current 
regulations. The Group has set aside Early  
Retirement Pension (AFP) for those what 
have already gone into early retirement under 
this scheme. Defined contribution plans are 
recorded based on a matching principle where 
contributions are expensed as they are paid. 
This year's contribution to the pension scheme 
are expensed.    

The Group has set aside an accrued a pension 
liability for certain management level employ-
ees with salaries exceeding 12G. 

The liability is calculated using the same  
parameters as the defined benefit plan and 
annual estimated earnings are expensed on  
an ongoing basis. 

Goods
Goods are recorded at the lower of their  
acquisition cost according to the FIFO  
method and their net sales value. 

Trade account receivables and 
other receivables 
Trade account receivables and other receiva-
bles are recorded at nominal value less provi-
sion for future losses.   

Cash and bank deposits
Cash and bank deposits include cash,  

bank deposits and other payments with a  
maturity less than 3 months from the time of 
acquisition.    
 
Currency hedging
The company calculates its exposure in  
various currencies. Large uncovered foreign 
exchange positions are covered by forward 
exchange contracts. Forward exchange  
contracts are classified as hedging of future 
transactions and assets /liabilities are kept off 
the balance sheet.  

Foreign currencies
Bank deposits, receivables and debt in  
foreign currency are translated at the exchange 
rate on the balance sheet date. Prepaid sub-
scriptions in foreign currency as at 31 Decem-
ber are recorded at a weighted average of 
the exchange rate on the payment date and 
the forward exchange rate.   
  
Income taxes
Income tax is shown together with the  
recorded profit before tax. Income tax linked 
to equity transactions is debited against  
equity. Taxes consist of taxes payable (tax on 
the year’s direct taxable income) and changes 
in net deferred tax. The tax cost is divided  
between the profit on ordinary operations  
and the profit on extraordinary items in accor-
dance with its tax base. Deferred tax and  
deferred tax assets are presented net in the 
balance sheet.

NOTE 1 | ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, CONTINUED 

NOTES 1, 2, 3, 4
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NHST  GROUP
2017 2018 2018 2017

0 0 Cost of goods 51,138 73,318 

0 0 Printing services 64,747 65,108 

0 0 Distribution 103,218 110,732 

0 0 Purchased content 87,377 68,836 

0 0 Total 306,479 317,993

NOTE 3 | CONSUMPTION OF GOODS AND SERVICES Figures in NOK 1,000

NOTE 4 | PERSONNEL COSTS AND REMUNERATIONS, ETC. Figures in NOK 1,000

 NHST  GROUP
2017 2018 Personnel costs 2018 2017

39,477 46,317 Payroll 536,810 493,818 

6,005 6,094 National insurance contributions 86,092 84,700 

953 (1,014) Pension costs - defined benefit plans 11,539 20,153

1,074 680 Pension costs - contribution plans 10,790 8,308

0 0 Pension costs - abroad 11,322 11,108 

4,509 5,215 Other contributions 25,590 22,927 

52,017 57,292 Total 682,142 641,014

38 28 Average number of FTEs 731 738

NOTE 2 | OPERATING REVENUE, CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000

Income by region:

NHST  GROUP
2017 2018 2018 2017

102,058 87,746 Norway 820,236 814,828 

0 0 Rest of Europe and Africa 337,926 354,983 

0 0 North and South America 50,794 80,592 

0 0 Asia and Oceania 84,499 61,470 

102,058 87,746 Total 1,293,455 1,311,874 

Other revenues in 2017 are adjusted in accordance with note 20
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NOTES 4, 5, 6

Fees paid to the elected auditor excluding VAT for statutory audit and amounts recognised as expenses for remaining fees to 
the elected auditor and cooperating companies are as follows:

 
NHST

 
GROUP

2017 2018 2018 2017
530 590 Statutory audit 3,504 3,181 

0 0 Other attestation services 19 14 

76 66 Tax consulting 115 101 

898 469 Other services 640 941 

1,504 1,126 Total 4,277 4,237

NHST GROUP
2017 2018 2018 2017

38,148 39,973 Office expenses 153,355 153,091 

1,374 313 Marketing 27,976 27,666 

0 0 Bad debt 3,548 541 

17,554 11,595 Other expenses 75,430 83,822 

57,077 51,880 Total 260,310 265,119 

NOTE 5 | OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST GROUP
2017 2018 Remuneration and fees 2018 2017
1,248 1,125 Remuneration paid out to Board 2,150 2,523 

4,169 4 209 Remuneration to CEO 4 209 4,169 

Compensations to the CEO include bonus, car  and pension costs. The bonus agreement is based on financial performance and  
qualitative measures. Total compensation paid in 2018 include compensations to the former CEO through 2018 after the resignation 
on Feb 1, as well as salary and other compensation to the new CEO as of November 1, 2018. Total compensation was MNOK 3.863 in 
salary and other compensation of MNOK 0.346.
 
The former CEO was entitled to 18 months of salary according to his termination agreement, and thus receive salary until July 2019.
The total compensation charge was booked in 2018. The new CEO is entitled to 6 months compensation upon leaving.
 
No loans to or pledges of security is made to Board members.
 
The Board remunerations range from TNOK 125 to TNOK 155 for board members including sub-committee compensation
while the BoD leader is compensated with NOK 190. External BoD members in the subsidiaries are compensated based on
the size of the companies.
       

NOTE 4 | PERSONNEL COSTS AND REMUNERATIONS, ETC. CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000
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NOTE 6 | PENSION COSTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES Figures in NOK 1,000

According to the Norwegian Act relating to compulsory occupational pensions (OTP), Norwegian companies must provide a pen-
sion plan for their employees. All the concerned group companies have plans in accordance with the Act’s requirements. Five of the 
companies have a defined benefit pension plan, of which four were closed plans only covering existing employees as of 1 January 
2010, with the remaining one closing on 30 June 2011. At the same time defined-contribution plans were introduced in the companies 
that closed their defined benefit plans. The remaining companies have defined-contribution pension plans in Norway and abroad. The 
Group has set aside an accrued a pension liability for certain management level employees with salaries exceeding 12G. This liability 
covers pensions corresponding to 60% of the difference between final salary and 12G from the ages of 67 to 77 years. The liability is 
calculated using the same parameters as the defined benefit plan and annual estimated earnings are expensed on an ongoing basis. 
The scheme is not funded.   

Defined-Contribution schemes 
The Group’s defined-contribution pension schemes for employees are organised in accordance with the Norwegian Defined-Contri-
bution Pensions Act. The contribution paid by the companies is 4.50-5.54% of salaries between 1 and 7.1 G, and from 4.5% to 8.0% for 
salaries between 8 and 12 G. There is a disability benefit plan for employees in Norway, covering 10-20% of one G and maximised at 
6% of the pension base salary. The additional coverage, is 66% of the pension base salary between 6 and 12 G. The plan covers 264 
employees as at 31 December 2018.          

Defined-benefit pension plans:
The liability covers 16 employees and 10 pensioners in NHST Media Group AS. For the entire Group, the plan covers 154 employees 
and 87 pensioners.           

The liabilities and costs have been calculated based on the following assumptions      

 2018 2017
Discount rate 2.74% 2.71%

Estimated return 4.25% 4.00%

Salary adjustments 2.70% 2.10%

Inflation and G (National insurance base rate) adjustment 2.50% 2.00%

Pension adjustment 1.00% 1.00%

Voluntary retirement for those under the age of 40 10.00% 10.00%

Voluntary retirement for those between the age of 40 and 55 5.00 % 5.00%

Voluntary retirement for those above the age of 55 2.00 % 2.00%

NHST GROUP

2018 2017 2018 2017

Pension costs defined-contribution pension 680 1,074 10,790 8,308
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NOTES 6, 7

Net pension costs are made up as follows: NHST GROUP

2018 2017 2018 2017
Present value of pension 972 1,006 10,188 10,267 

Interest cost on the accrued pension liability 652 680 6,883 7,208 

Social security tax 137 142 1,432 1,440 

Return on pension assets (2,440) (1,719) (13,730) (10,126)

Recognised estimate changes and discrepancies (1,444) (1,050) 1,165 5,193 

Member contribution  0 0 0 0 

Net results of terminated liabilities (61) (805) 0 

Administration costs 559 433 6,138 4,779 

Net pension costs defined-benefit plans (1,624) (508) 11,271 18,762

Net pension costs unfunded defined-benefit plans 611 1,461 268 1,391

Total net pension costs (1,014) 953 11,539 20,153

Balance sheet as at 31 December
Estimated value of pension assets 62,494 61,316 339,632 345,198 

Social security tax 0 (7) 92 196 

Estimated accrued pension liabilities (27,190) (24,435) (258,892) (257,508)

Estimated net pension assets (liabilities) 35,303 36,874 80,833 87,886

Unrecognised estimate changes and discrepancies (18,109) (21,304) 29,569 31,950

Balance sheet pension assets (liabilities) for contribution plans 17,194 15,570 110,402 119,836

Balance sheet pension liability for unfunded defined-benefit plan (9,219) (8,608) (18,758) (18,490)

Net pension assets (liabilities)  7,976 6,962 91,644 101,346

NHST GROUP 

Other intangible 
assets Goodwill Goodwill

Other intangible
assets

50,015 0 Acquisition cost 1.1 173,413 227,515

494 0 Additions 130,683 91,977

7,731 0 Disposals 0 33,937

0 0 Exchange rate differences 3,141 (16)

42,777 0 Acquisition cost 31.12 307,238 285,540

30,330 0 Accumulated amortisation 31.12 138,625 150,139

12,448 0 Book value 31.12 168,613 135,401

10,926 0 This year’s amortisation 13,097 36,154

0 0 This year’s impairment 0 2,574

3 to 10 years 5 to 10 years Expected economic life 5 to 10 years 3 to 10 years

Straight-line Straight-line Amortisation method Straight-line Straight-line

NOTE 7 | FIXED ASSETS Figures in NOK 1,000

NOTE 6 | PENSION COSTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000
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Fixed assets:

NHST GROUP

Machinery 
and  

equipment
Upgrade of

 premises

Art/
 Company 

cabin Total Total

Art/  
Company 

cabin
Upgrade of 

premises

Machinery
and  

equipment

21,572 12,935 7,392 41,899 Acquisition cost 1.1 86,566 7,654 27,621 51,291

1,534 2,674 0 4,208 Additions 8,271 0 2,856 5,416

10,186 0 0 10,186 Disposals 11,316 0 49 11,266

0 0 0 0 Exchange rate differences (67) 0 0 (67)

12,920 15,609 7,392 35,921 Acquisition cost 31.12 83,455 7,654 30,427 45,373

11,606 12,992 188 24,785 Accumulated depreciation 31.12 63,220 188 24,277 38,756

1,314 2,617 7,204 11,135 Book value 31.12 20,234 7,466 6,151 6,617

1,231 1,977 62 3,270 This year’s depreciation 7,524 63 3,154 4,307

0 0 0 0 This year’s write-downs 0 0 0 0

 3 to 5 years  Lease period Expected economic life  Lease period  3 to 5 years 

Straight-line Straight-line Depreciation method Straight-line Straight-line

GROUP GROUP

Goodwill specified by related company: Book value 31.12
Year’s amortisation/ 

impairment
2018 2017 2018 2017

Mention Solutions SAS 129,363 0 4,318 0

Fiskeribladet Fiskaren AS 0 0 0 865

Innholdsutvikling AS 0 0 0 (175)

Nautisk Forlag AS (NHST Charts) 0 0 0 5,116

MyNewsdesk AB 29,713 37,177 7,464 7,758

MyNewsdesk GmbH 0 0 0 41

Morgenbladet AS 9,537 10,852 1,315 1,316

Total 168,613 48,029 13,097 14,921

NOTE 7 | FIXED ASSETS, CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000

Off-balance sheet leasing items (Group) Period
Annual 

leasing cost
Akerselva Atrium, Chr. Krohgsgt 16, Oslo (hovedkontor) 6 years 23,689 

125 Wood Street, London 4,5 years 5,687 

Rosenlundsgatan 40, Stockholm 1,5 years 3,420 

The Riverwalk, 20 Upper Circular Road, Singapore, 0,5 years 1,683 

Sandbrogaten 5-7, Bergen 5 years 598 

Two Memorial Plaza, 820 Gessner Suite 775, Houston TX 4 years 528 

Reidar Berges gate 9, Stavanger 2 years 229 

1330 Aztec West Almondsbury, Bristol 0 years* 648 

Unit 1305,13/F, Sunbeam Centre, 27 Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Hong Kong 0 years* 555 

1010 Washington Blvd, Stamford, Ct, USA 4,5 years 508 

Vesterbrogate 149, København 3 years 679 

Lynwood, Washington Seattle 6 years 357 

Hainstr 20-24, Leipzig 0,5 years 259 

Joseph Wild str. 20, Munchen 6 years 774 

Boulevard Montmartre 9, Paris 7 years 1,633 

Other leases variable 372 

Total lease commitments for the year 41,619 

* Lease liabilities associated with the Nautisk business sold.
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Company
Acquisition 

date
Registered 

office

Owner-
ship and 

% of votes
Acquisition 

cost
Book value 

31.12
Equity
31.12

This year’s  
result

Subsidiary:

Dagens Næringsliv AS 01.01.1991 Oslo 100.0% 17,251 17,251 90,424 31,135 

NHST Charts AS 01.01.1964 Oslo 100.0% 78,022 40,000 49,965 (4,687)

NHST Global Publications AS 09.01.1985 Oslo 100.0% 42,526 18,161 56,099 4,572 

NHST Media Group Asia Pte Ltd 09.09.1997 Singapore 100.0% 4 4 17,014 2,312 

Europower AS 02.01.2001 Oslo 100.0% 4,808 4,808 2,065 208 

Dagens Næringsliv Privat Økonomi AS 01.06.2006 Oslo 100.0% 125 125 100 (23)

Norges Handels og Sjøfartstidende AS 01.12.2006 Oslo 100.0% 230 230 197 0 

MyNewsdesk AB 07.08.2008 Stockholm 100.0% 126,084 126,084 (2,008) (3,741)

Mynewsdesk Technologies AS 24.03.2004 Oslo 100.0% 7,622 0 4,858 586 

NHST Germany GmbH 05.12.2012 Leipzig 100.0% 203 203 (14,807) (4,956)

Morgenbladet AS 03.03.2016 Oslo 90.8% 32,918 32,919 25,565 (40)

NHST Holding USA Inc 01.06.2017 Stamford 100.0% 1 1 (172) (172)

Total  309,793 239,785 

Subsidiaries of NHST Global Publications AS:

Fiskeribladet AS 20.06.07 Bergen 66.6% 4,400 4,400 23,153 3,119 

Subsidiaries of Nautisk Forlag AS: 

Navicharts AS 06.11.00 Oslo 100.0% 130 130 83 (25)

Nautical Charts Hong Kong Ltd 01.01.13 Hong Kong 100.0% 1 1 (2,825) (1,545)

Subsidiaries of NHST Holding USA Inc: 

NHST Global Publications USA Inc 01.06.17 Stamford 100.0% 1 1 (5,008) 1,309 

Nautisk Forlag USA Inc 13.12.11 New Orleans 100.0% 19,812 19,812 (2,825) (353)

Subsidiaries of Dagens Næringsliv AS:

DN Nye Muligheter 22.05.17 Oslo 100.0% 30 30 30 0 

NOTE 8 | INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES Figures in NOK 1,000

NOTES 8, 9

Investments in and receivables from subsidiaries are tested annually for impairment based on their financial performance, equity and expected 
future cash flows. The companies are tested individually, or are grouped together when the real exposure is associated with a subgroup.   
    
In the parent company accounts MNOK 5 was written-down on the investment in NHST Germany.
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Company
Acquisition-

date
Registered 

office

Ownership 
and 

% votes
Acquisition 

costt
Book value

31.12
Equity 
31.12

This year’s 
result

Datterselskap av Europower AS:

Energi Forlag AS 10.09.07 Oslo 100.0% 112 112 75 0 

Datterselskap av NHST Asia Pte Ltd:

NHST India 01.06.11 New Dehli 100.0% 0 0 0 0 

NHST Monde Ltd 01.06.11 New Dehli 50.0% 374 0 (3,924) 0 

 

Datterselskap av Mynewsdesk AB:

Mynewsdesk AS 01.07.10 Oslo 100.0% 100 100 377 1,297 

Mynewsdesk Aps 11.10.11 København 100.0% 106 106 2,826 791 

Mynewsdesk Ltd 22.08.11 London 100.0% 11 11 2,843 592 

Mynewsdesk Oy 01.01.17 Helsinki 100.0% 25 25 630 242 

Mention Solutions SAS 31.08.18 Paris 85.0% 171,528 179,975 3,020 1,615 

Datterselskap av NHST Germany GmbH:

Mynewsdesk GmbH 20.09.13 Leipzig 100.0% 209 209 4,833 1,468 

Datterselskap av Mention Solutions SAS:

Mention Solutions USA Inc 31.08.18 Kent 100.0% 1 1 (508) 959

NOTE 8 | INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000

NOTE 9 | INVESTMENTS IN OTHER SHARES Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST GROUP

Company Acquisition
date

Registered
office

Ownership and
% votes

Acquisition 
cost

Book value 
31.12

Book 
value 31.12

Smartcom TV AS 01.09.2005 Oslo 35.0% 31,884 0 0 

Norcon Computing Systems AS 01.07.2015 Oslo 25.0% 550 0 0 

Task Technologies AS 01.01.2017 Oslo 27.0% 750 0 194 

Science Addiction AS 17.10.2018 Oslo 0.8% 200 0 200 

Total shares 0 394

Equity accounted companies   

 
Task Techno-

logies AS 

 
Smartcom 

TV AS

 Norcon 
Computing 
Systems AS Total

Distribution of original acquisition cost:

Booked equity at acquisition date  193  24,912  550  25,655 

Referable value 0   0   0  0   

Goodwill  557  6,620  0    7,177 

Total original acquisition cost  750  31,532  550  32,832 

Opening balance 1.1 194 0 0 194

Share of this year’s result 0 0    0   0

Capital increase  0   0   0   0   

Impairment 0   0   0   0   

Closing balance 31.12  194 0   0    194 

Investments in associated companies 
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NOTE 10 | RECEIVABLES Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST GROUP

2017 2018 2018 2017

Accounts receivable:

1,231 1,026 Accounts receivable face value 125,450 149,030 

0 0 Provisions for bad debt (4,896) (3,853)

1,231 1,026 Book value accounts receivable 120,554 145,177

Receivables with due date beyond 12 months:

117 117 Deposits and other long-term receivables  9,161  9,033 

5,700 5,700 Funds in NHST Pensjonskasse 5,700 5,700 

5,817 5,817 Total other long-term receivables 14,861 14,733 

12,023 131,584 Inter-company loans 0 0 

17,840 137,402 Total receivables with due dates beyond 12 months 14,861 14,733 

2017 2018 Balances with other group companies 

 49,702  38,713 Dagens Næringsliv AS

 5,085  202 NHST Charts AS 

30 503 NHST Media Group Asia Pte Ltd

 322  631 Europower AS

19  19 Energi forlag AS 

 1,675  2,660 Mynewsdesk AB

886  1,686 Mynewsdesk AS 

 137  0   Nautisk USA

6,986  9,829 NHST Global Publications AS

 315 0   Fiskeribladet AS

0   294 Nautical Charts Hong Kong 

 419  101 Morgenbladet AS 

 130  636 MyNewsdesk Technologies AS

 232 0   NHST Germany

 65,936  55,273 Total

2017 2018 Balances with associated companies 2018 2017
0 0 Norcon Computing Systems AS  2,407  1,806 

0 0 Total  2,407  1,806 

NOTES 10, 11, 12
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NHST GROUP
2017 2018 Restricted bank deposits 2018 2017

2,224 2,258 Tax withholdings 20,481 18,188 

0 0 Deposit 0 900 

2,224 2,258 Restricted bank deposits 20,481 19,088 

NOTE 11 | RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS Figures in NOK 1,000

NHST GROUP

2017 2018 The year’s tax cost consists of: 2018  2017 

0 0 Tax payable 2,138 1,972 

0 0 Tax payable abroad 767 752 

0 0 Tax on Group contribution 0 0 

5,742 415 Change in deferred tax 751 10,018 

245 227 Effect of changed tax rates 189 295 

0 0 Changes in previous years 0 0 

5,987 642 Tax expense 3,845 13,037 

Tax payable on balance sheet: 

0 0 This year’s tax payable cost 2,906 2,724

0 0 Deficit (surplus) tax provisions previous years 0 0

0 0 Tax owing (due) abroad (212) (235)

0 0 Tax payable on balance sheet 2,694 2,489

From nominal to 
actual tax charges:  

(14,512)  (7,061) Ordinary result before tax  (9,300)  23,868 

(3,483) (1,624) Expected income tax according to nominal tax rate  (2,139)  5,728 

Tax effect of following items: 

Amortisation and goodwill 3,012 3,505 

9,246 1,073 Other non-deductible expenses 1,212 1,207 

(21) (0) Other non-taxable income 0 0 

0 0 Effect of cuts to interest rate deductions 0 0 

0 1,192 Impairment of long-term shareholding 0 0 

0 0 Investments in TS 0 0 

0 0 Tax effect abroad (756) (216)

0 0 Change in valuation of deferred tax assets 0 0 

245 227 Effect of changes in tax regulations 189 295 

0 (226) Change in off-balance sheet deferred tax assets  1,611 2,418 

0 0 Other items 715 98 

5,987 642 Tax income (expense) 3,845 13,037 

 41% (9%) Effective tax rate (41%) 55%

NOTE 12 | TAXES Figures in NOK 1,000
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NHST 
Share  

capital Own shares
Share pre-

mium reserve 
Other

equity Total
Equity as at 31.12.17 12,879 (448) 50,551 (4,373) 58,610 

Changes in equity for the year:

Suggested dividend 0 0 0 0  0 

Corrections in previous years 0 0 0 0 0 

This year’s result 0 0 0 (7,703)  (7,703)

Equity as at 31.12.18 12,879 (448) 50,551 (12,076) 50,906 

GROUP
Share  

capital Own shares
Share premi-

um reserve
Other

equity
Minority
interests Total

Equity as at 31.12.17 12,879 (448) 50,551 46,490 15,960 125,872 

Changes in equity for the year:

Suggested dividend 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Corrections in previous years 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Change minority 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Translation difference 0 0 0 (1,915) 0 (1,915)

This year’s result 0 0 0 (13,951) 805 (13,146)

Equity as at 31.12.18 12,879 (448) 50,551 31,064 16,765 110,812 

NOTE 12 | TAXES, CONTINUED Figures in NOK 1,000

  Tax effect of temporary differences and tax losses carried forward: 

 NHST  GROUP 
  Change   2017  2018  2018  2017   Change  

36 (1,655) (1,619) Fixed assets 6,291 (9,103) 15,394 

0 0 0 Goods (113) (440) 327 

0 0 0 Receivables (720) (724) 4 

(275) (414) (689) Accounting provisions (933) (97) (836)

153 1,601 1,755 Pensions 20,162 23,310 (3,148)

(7) 30 23 Other differences 14 30 (16)

735 (5,200) (4,466) Losses carried forward (17,451) (32,949) 15,499 

642 (5,638) (4,996) Total 7,251 (19,972) 27,223 

0 0 0 Non-capitalised deferred tax assets  2,372  12,772 (10,400) 

642 (5,638) (4,996) Net deferred tax liabilities/(assets)  
in balance sheet 

9,623 (7,200) 16,823 

(642) 5,638 4,996 Deferred tax asset 6,937 7,200 263 

0 0 0 Deferred tax liabililty 16,560 0 (16,560)

642 (5,638) (4,996) Net deferred tax liability (assets) in balance sheet 9,623 (7,200) 16,823 

NOTE 13 | EQUITY Figures in NOK 1,000

Changes to deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted in accordance with note 20. Deferred tax assets are capitalised based on future income. 
   

The equity 31.12.2017 was adjusted in accordance with note 20.   

Own shares:    
Altogether NHST owns 44,752 of its own shares. The shares were bought to be used in relation to business transactions and/or in employee share 
programs.        

NOTES 12, 13, 14
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Inter-company debt:

 NHST
2017 2018

214,374 187,888 Dagens Næringsliv AS

14 0 NHST Media Group Asia Pte Ltd

4,785 5,420 Europower AS

306 40 Mynewsdesk Technologies 

15 558 Fiskeribladet AS

2,968 0 NHST Global USA Inc 

88,204 88,417 NHST Global Publications AS 

572 17,113 NHST Charts AS

20,880 34 Mynewsdesk AB

0 676 Morgenbladet AS

 332,117  300,146 Total

Group cash pool and pledged security 
As of 31.12 the Group's external debt consists of a revolving credit faciality of MNOK 100. At year MNOK 100 was drawn  
on the credit line. I addtion, there is a second revolving credit line expiring on January 31, 2019 of MNOK 70, which has been 
drawn on with MNOK 70. The second credit line is classified as short term debt. The loans has a floating interest rate of  
NIBOR + margin, and the shares in Mynewsdesk and the accounts receivables in Dagens Næringsliv has been pledged as  
collateral. Dagens Næringsliv, NHST Global Publications and Mynewsdesk  are jointly and severally responsible for the credit 
lines. 
 
All bank accounts in the NHST group is part of  cash pool structure, except for Morgenbladet, Fiskeribladet and Mynewsdesk. 
Beyond the parent company NHST Media Group, the other subsidiaries are participants in the cash pool, the banking  
relationship and agrements are between the parent company and the bank. 
The participant's use of the cashpool or surplus balances are presented as intercompany receivebles/debt by the parent. 

NOTE 14 | DEBT 

Other short-term debt:

 NHST GROUP
 2017  2018  2018  2017 
4,012 3,431 Accrued holiday pay 37,677 34,577 

0 11,682 Accrued payroll 20,637 14,494 

0 0 Accrued distribution costs 1,052 474 

1,125 1,590 Board remuneration accrued 2,756 2,659 

2,610 1,032 Other accrued costs 28,604 28,761 

 7,748  17,735 Total  90,725  80,965 
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NOTES 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20

Shares owned directly or indirectly by members of the Board of Directors and CEO, and their related parties.   
    

Name Office No. of shares Ownership %

Anette S. Olsen * Chairperson 695,386 53.99%

Richard Olav Aa Board member 565 0.04%

NOTE 15 | RELATED PARTIES 

The parent company, NHST Media Group AS, supplies IT and financial services to Group companies, which are invoiced accord-
ing to services actually used. In addition, a share of overhead costs is charged based on the use of financial and IT services or the 
number of employees in the companies.

NOTE 16 | SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

The company’s share capital as at 31.12 was TNOK 12.879 (1.287.925 shares each with a nominal value of NOK 10), comprising 
only one share class. Each share carries one vote. 

Ownership structure
The 20 largest shareholders in NHST Media Group AS as at 31.12 NO. OF SHARES OWNERSHIP %

Bonheur ASA 695,386 53.99%

Must Invest AS 280,075 21.75%

Fredrik Olsen AS 28,290 2.20%

Fr Falck Frås AS 23,513 1.83%

Sjøgress AS 23,167 1.80%

Pareto AS 21,475 1.67%

MP Pensjon PK 20,269 1.57%

Røed, Gunvor Jorunn H 15,200 1.18%

Amble Investments AS 14,236 1.11%

DNB Livsforsikring 14,144 1.10%

Straen AS 13,743 1.07%

Taconic AS 12,144 0.94%

M&G Invest AS 11,152 0.87%

Oak Management AS 5,750 0.45%

Tyin AS 4,480 0.35%

Belvedere AS 3,639 0.28%

Fjellbakke AS 3,292 0.26%

Øie, Odd Reidar 3,201 0.25%

Must, Annelise 3,150 0.24%

Meinich, Grethe 2,800 0.22%

Total largest shareholders 1,199,106 93.10%

Total other 44,067 3.42%

Own shares 44,752 3.47%

Total no. of shares 1,287,925 100.0%

 

* The number of shares related to Anette S. Olsen is based on the shares owned by Bonheur ASA where Anette S. Olsen is CEO.
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NOTE 17 | POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 

NOTE 18 | FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

NOTE 20 | ADJUSTMENTS OF PRIOR YEARS ESTIMATES Figures in NOK 1,000

NOTE 19 | TRANSACTIONS

As of 31.12.2018 the Group had no open currency contracts.
Currency contracts entered into in 2017 with termination date monthly through 2018.
The exchange rates were in the range 8,3088 - 8,3493 USD/NOK and 9,7558 - 9,8558 EURO/NOK 

As of Q1 2018, Mynewsdsk change their method for rvenue recognistion of subscriptions from months to days. 
Comparable 2017 numbers have been adjusted to reflect the change. The effects are shown below:

Mention was acquired with effect from 1. September 2018. Four months of operations are included in the consolidated accounts.

The consolidation and preliminary price purchase allocation is based on 100% ownership, through a put/call agreement which 
vest in 2021. Actual ownership on the acquisition date is 85%. The prelimiary acquisition value include a MEUR 2.5 element 
related to the last 15%. This element is booked as long term debt and will be continously evaluated against the sales* multiple 
valuation model for the last 15%.

The prelimiary PPA has estimated excess values to be MEUR 18.2. The acquisition and goodwill is booked oin EUR and will be 
adjustd for currencey changes. Deferred tax related to excess values was MEUR 1.8.

The prelimiary PPA has identified excess values related to customers, technology, trademarks and contracts and the residual  
is booked as goodwill. All the elements have been booked as intangible assets and is amortised over their lifetime

The identified intangibles values associated with customers contracts will negatively adjust revenues over 12 months from  
September 1 2018 with TEUR 172 per month. The remaining excess values are amortised with TEUR 112 per month.

In August 2018, the business of Nautisk Forlag was sold. The transaction date was Oct. 1 2018.
The assetsvalues comprised in the transaction were MNOK 37 and the net profit is part of other revenues.

31.12.18  31.12.17
USD NOK USD NOK

Nominal value 0 0 3,000,000

Unrealised gains/(losses) as of 31.12 (47,880)

EURO NOK EURO NOK
Nominal value 0 0 1,800,000 

Unrealised gains/(losses) as of 31.12 (63,721) 

Last years annual 
accounts Correction Adjusted 2017 Note

Balance sheet effects:
Deferred tax 4,864 2,336 7,200 12

Other equity 55,213 (8,284) 46,930 13

Prepayments from customers 308,466 10,620 319,086

Effects on the P&L
Sales income 1,275,715 (2,654) 1,273,061 2 

Tax costs (13,621) 584 (13,037) 12 

Information in associated notes are adjusted accordingly.

There are no material subsequent events after 31.12. On 1 February 2019, NHST entered into a new Revolving Credit Facility with DNB 
amounting to 250 millions. The facility runs until 1 February 2022.
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NHST Media Group AS’s (NHST) shares 
are unlisted, but stock transactions through 
brokers are reported and appear on the 
NOTC List (www.notc.no). The market cap 
thus also appears on the NOTC List, which 
is published daily. Trading in the stock is 
unrestricted, but there’s a very limited tra-
ding volume in the shares. 

The company’s ten largest shareholders are 
listed in Note 16 of the annual financial  
statement. The ten largest shareholders, 
including NHST by virtue of its treasury 
stock, control 91% of the shares. Aside 
from the treasury stock, the ten largest  
shareholders own 88% of the outstanding 
stock. As of December 31, there were 260 
shareholders in the company and the number 
of shares issued was 1,287,926.  
The company has 44,752 treasury shares 
from buybacks and thus 1,243,174 shares 
are outstanding.

The company’s custodian is DNB ASA,  
Corporate Services, Dronning Eufemias 
gate 30, N-0191 Oslo, Norway. The 
company’s Norwegian CSD number is ISIN 
NO 0005007807. NHST publishes its quar-
terly results via both NOTC notifications 
and the company’s website: www.nhst.no. 

NHST tries to follow NUES’ recommen-
dation on responsible corporate gover-
nance, which is described in more detail  
in both the annual report from the Board of 
Directors and the following pages. 

The company’s board consists of eight 
members, five of which are nominated by 
the shareholders. The shareholder-nomi-
nated representatives are elected for two-
year terms, with three, then two members 
selected, respectively, every other year. 
Three of the five representatives who were 
nominated by shareholders in 2018 were 
independent from the company’s main  
shareholders.

For 2018, no dividend will be proposed at 
the Annual General Meeting on 22 May 
2019. The company would like to provide 
its shareholders with the best possible 
returns over time through a combination of 
share price appreciation and dividends, but 
the profit growth in 2018 does not justify 
the payment of dividends this year.
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Every company depends on good relations-
hips to succeed. A good reputation and sound 
financial management are prerequisites for 
building and maintaining confidence among 
important target groups such as shareholders, 
customers, employees, suppliers, partners and 
public authorities. This calls for the business 
to be managed with proper supervision and 
control mechanisms. Open, honest communi-
cation and equal treatment of the company’s 
shareholders is also important in order to 
promote shareholder values and inspire 
confidence. To safeguard these conditions, 
wherever possible, NHST Media Group seeks 
to follow the majority of the recommenda-
tions of the Oslo Stock Exchange with respect 
to responsible corporate governance. 

Key issues and any non-conformities in  
relation to these recommendations are 
accounted for below. 

The Group has annual rolling strategic plans, 
an annual budget, a comprehensive set of 
rules for its journalistic activities and provides 
detailed information in the annual report on 
other matters relating to corporate gover-
nance. In addition, the company has specific 
instructions for the Board of Directors and 
the Group CEO. 

Activities
NHST Media Group AS is a holding com-
pany. The group includes a number of media 
and media-related subsidiaries. 

The Group’s articles of associations stipulates 
that NHST “is an independent media com-
pany whose main focus is publishing trade 
and business publications as well as associa-
ted activities with the primary goal of promo-
ting the interest of trade and industries.” 

Equity and dividends 
The share capital of NHST Media Group AS 
is NOK 12,879,250. At the end of the year, 
total equity amounted to NOK 50.9 million, 
an equity ratio of 9%. The equity ratio of the 
Group was 13%.

The number of treasury stock on the balance 
sheet remained unchanged from 2017. The 
company holds 44,752 shares of its own 
stock. 

NHST Media Group aims to finance its opera-
tions via equity and debt. It seeks to provide 
shareholders with competitive returns in the 
form of share price appreciation and divi-
dends. In evaluating the amount of the divi-

dend to be distributed, the Board weighs the 
following factors: the company’s dividend 
capacity, requirements in place to ensure  
adequate equity and sufficient financial 
resources to support future growth. The 
Board’s defined strategy is that over time  
the dividend should represent 30% of a  
normalised net profit after tax. 

The Board has been given two specific autho-
risations to increase the share capital. Both 
are normally renewed either for a period of 
one year at the General Meeting or until the 
time of the next annual General Meeting. 

The Board of Directors of NHST Media 
Group AS has been authorised, on behalf of 
the company, to acquire the company’s own 
shares in a total face value of up to NOK 
1,287,925, corresponding to 10% of the 
company’s current share capital. 

The Board is also authorised to increase  
the company’s share capital with up to  
NOK 1,287,925.

No issuance of new shares has occurred in 
2018 or has been proposed. 

Equal treatment of shareholders and 
related party transactions
There is one single share class, and each 
share carry one vote at the General Meeting. 

In accordance with Section 10-4 of the  
Limited Liability Companies Act, the board 
authorisation for an equity increase provides 
an exemption from the shareholders’  
pre-emptive right to new shares. 

There are no known shareholder agreements 
or commercial agreements with related parties. 

Unrestricted shares
The shares are freely transferable, but the 
Board has to accept and condone a transfer. 
The right to refuse a transfer or an acquisi-
tion of shares is based on the need for  
editorial and commercial independence. 

This is a deviation from the recommen-
dations on good corporate governance. 

General Meeting
The company's General Meeting is open to all 
registered shareholders and all registered sha-
res carry equal voting rights. All shareholders 
on record, listed in the Norwegian Central 
Securities Depository (VPS), receive a notice 
convening the General Meeting and are entit-

led to submit proposals and cast votes either 
directly or via a proxy. It is not possible to 
attend and/or vote via the Internet. 

According to the company’s articles of  
association, the notice convening a General 
Meeting must be given pursuant to the  
minimum deadline of the Limited Liability 
Companies Act, no later than eight days 
before the date of the General Meeting. 

The documents to be discussed at the  
General Meeting, including the recommen-
dations of the nominating committee, must 
be sent to shareholders no later than one 
week prior to the General Meeting date. The 
documents must contain all necessary infor-
mation pertaining to the items on the Gene-
ral Meeting agenda, they are able to decide 
and vote on all items on the agenda. 

According to the articles of association, the 
Chairman of the Board is to lead the General 
Meeting.

The company deviates from the recommen-
dations concerning both the time of notice 
and the chairperson of the General Meeting.

Nominating committee
The company’s articles of association do not 
contain any provisions about a nominating 
committee. This is a deviation from the 
recommendations.

Nonetheless, the General Meeting have  
elected a Nominating committee. The  
committee consists of Anette Olsen and 
Christian Must. 

Composition and independence of 
the Corporate Assembly and Board 
of Directors 

NHST Media Group AS does not hold a  
Corporate Assembly.

NHST aims to have a balanced composition 
of the Board of Directors that takes into 
account skills, experience and appropriate 
background for the company’s business, 
while also reflecting the composition of the 
company’s ownership. The company’s mana-
gement is not represented on the board. 

The Board normally consists of five represen-
tatives nominated by the shareholders. All 
representatives are nominated for two-year 
terms on a rotating basis. Two of the board 
members nominated by shareholders during 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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2018 either have direct or indirect sharehol-
dings in the company (see Note 16). Three of 
the board members nominated by sharehol-
ders are completely independent of the main 
shareholders. 

The General Meeting elects the Chairman  
and Vice-Chairman of the Board. None of the 
board members has significant business  
relationships with the company aside from 
their status as shareholders. There are no 
family ties to the CEO or others in the  
executive management. 

The Board of Directors’ work
There were fourteen board meetings in 2018. 

The Board periodically receives consolidated 
reports containing financial information 
about the group and its individual companies. 
In addition, the Board also receives 
management’s comments on corporate 
developments throughout the year. 

The overall corporate strategy is broadly  
reviewed at an extended board meeting each 
year. Moreover, subsidiaries are reviewed on  
a rotating basis during individual board 
meetings. 

The Board evaluates its work on an annual 
basis and guidelines exist concerning its  
tasks and duties. 

The NHST Media Group Board of Directors 
has two subcommittees. Anette Olsen chairs 
the compensation committee and the audit 
committee is chaired by Richard-Olav Aa. 

Risk management and internal  
controls
The Group is exposed to various types of 
risks associated with ordinary operations as 
well as strategic risk, primarily related to the 
ongoing digitalisation process in most of the 
Group’s markets. This brings about signifi-
cant changes in both the business models and 
the products. The Group’s strategy of focu-
sing on subscription-based revenue provides 
more predictability longer-term. The Group 
tries to offset the short-term risk associated 
with fluctuations in the sale of ads and servi-
ces by focusing on multiple products and 
revenue streams so that the dependency on 
one source is reduced. 

In addition, there is risk associated with  
regulatory changes in shipping, as well as 
with press subsidies for individual compa-
nies, but these risks are not material to the 
Group on a consolidated basis. The Group 
does not operate in markets that are subject 
to specific regulatory risk.

The Group is also exposed to various types of 
risk associated with its ordinary operations. 
This includes financial risk linked to curren-
cies, operating risk related to running a global 
organisation and credit risk associated with 
serving a portfolio of global customers. 

The Group is exposed to currency risk due to 
its global business with both revenues and 
expenses denominated in multiple currencies. 
In addition, investments are made in curren-
cies that are exposed to currency risk on an 
ongoing basis. A currency risk also exists in 
relation to current accounts receivable.  
Currency risk is assessed on an ongoing basis 
and hedging transactions are carried out as 
needed. Derivative assets and liabilities as of 
31/12 are described in more detail in the 
notes to the financial statements.

In addition to the currency risk associated 
with a global customer portfolio, the Group is 
also exposed to a credit risk with respect to 
these customers. The Group has a relatively 
diverse customer portfolio and monitors out-
standing receivables on an ongoing basis, 
with dedicated employees to monitor custo-
mers and past due receivables.

Management regularly prepares operating 
reports for the board, and the Group's overall 
financial risk profile is discussed by the Board 
at the annual meeting with the Group's auditor.

The majority of the Group’s activities are 
included in a common joint group account 
arrangement with centralised liquidity mana-
gement.

The Group’s profit centres are decentralised 
in line with the management model and the 
three business segments. The finance func-
tion is centralised, but some financial tasks 
are also handled on a decentralised basis at 
the line management level. Monthly profit 
and loss statements are prepared on a centra-
lised basis. The NHST board, group manage-
ment and subsidiaries level BoDs, with out-
side board members, follows the operations 
on an ongoing basis. 

Remuneration of the board of  
directors 
The General Meeting determines the compen-
sation to the board members for the next 12 
months on an annual basis. For 2018, the 
overall compensation to the board amounted 
to NOK 1,065,000. 

The General Meeting set board remuneration 
at NOK 230,000 for the chairperson of the 
Board, while the other board members recei-
ved NOK 200,000 each (proportionately redu-
ced in relation to their participation in board 

meetings). In addition, NOK 5,000 per 
meeting is paid out to subcommittees and 
NOK 7,500 to the chairperson of those  
subcommittees.

Profit-related board remuneration is not utilised. 

Remuneration of senior executives
The Group puts an emphasis on being an 
attractive employer and aims to attract talen-
ted employees with appropriate experience. 
Therefore, one of the goals of the Group is to 
have a competitive compensation system. In 
addition to a fixed salary, executives also 
receives a performance based salary element. 

The structure of the group’s compensation 
model is discussed periodically by the board 
or the compensation committee. 

Information and communication
NHST Media Group makes every effort to 
release factual and accurate information to 
external parties on a quarterly basis and 
strive to ensure that shareholders are provi-
ded equal access to information. Reports and 
announcements are available on NHST’s  
website, www.nhst.no, as well as through 
NOTC’s company notifications. 

The company does not provide specific  
guidance about future revenues and profits. 
NHST’s shares are listed on the NOTC List and 
the share price can be found in several daily 
news publications under “Børs og marked” as 
well as on NOTC’s website (www.notc.no).

Company takeover guidelines
The company has no defence mechanisms  
in its articles of association against a possible 
takeover bid and has likewise not prepared 
any guidelines with respect to how the com-
pany would react to a potential acquisition 
offer.

Auditor
The Group uses the same audit firm for all  
subsidiaries in all markets in which the com-
pany is active and obligated to carry out an 
audit, with the exception of Finland and the UK. 

The auditor is not used as a strategic adviser. 
The Group CFO approves any consulting tasks 
performed by the auditor.

The auditor is present at the board meetings 
dealing with the annual financial statement 
as well as at audit committee meetings and 
has held one meeting with the Board without 
management present.

The auditor’s compensation is accounted for 
at the annual General Meeting and described 
in the notes to the financial statements.
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ADDRESSES
NHST MEDIA GROUP

Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00
www.nhst.no

 NORWEGIAN PUBLICATIONS

DAGENS NÆRINGSLIV

OSLO 
Christian Krohgs gate 16
PO Box 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00

DN OFFICES
KRISTIANSAND
Tordenskioldsgate 9
N-4612 Kristiansand, Norway
Tel red +47 38 07 13 00

STAVANGER
Ryfylkegt. 13, PO Box 1538
N-4014 Stavanger, Norway
Tel red +47 51 51 10 10

MORGENBLADET

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 21 00 63 00

 MYNEWSDESK

MYNEWSDESK

STOCKHOLM
Rosenlundsgatan 40
118 53 Stockholm, Sweden
Tel +46 (0) 8 644 89 50

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 19

LEIPZIG
Hainstrase 20-24
04109 Leipzig
Tel +49 (0) 341/350 587-77

GOTHENBURG
Kungsgatan 23
411 19 Gøteborg
Tel +46 31 352 6500 

COPENHAGEN
Nordre Fasanvej 113-115, 3. th.
2000 Fredriksberg 
Tel +45 3812 3630

MALMØ
Stora Varvsgatan 6A
211 19 Malmø
Tel +46 40 608 4700

HELSINKI
Fredrikinkatu 61 A. 6. etg. 
00100 Helsinki, Finland
Tel +358 94 241 5440 

LONDON
7th Floor, 
125 Wood Street
London EC2V 7AN,
United Kingdom
Tel +44 (0) 20 7645 2355

MÜNCHEN
MesseCampus Riem
81829 München
Tel +49 341 350 587 13 

PARIS
16 Passage Jouffroy
75009 Paris
Tel +33 1 76 36 06 97

NEW YORK
WeWork, East 49th Street,
Tel +1 646 568 9834

 GLOBAL PUBLICATIONS

TRADEWINDS

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182 Sentrum
0107 Oslo, Norway 
Tel +47 22 00 12 00
 
LONDON
7th Floor, 125 Wood Street
London EC2V 7AN,
United Kingdom
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 4150

TRADEWINDS REPRESENTATION

ATHENS
Michalakopoulou 29 
GR 115 28 Athens, Greece 
Tel +30 210 724 5541

BERGEN
Sandbrogaten 5-7 
5003 Bergen, Norway 
Tel +47 55 30 22 38

SINGAPORE
20 Upper Circular Road
The Riverwalk 04-04 
Singapore 058416 
Tel +65 6557 0555

STAMFORD
1010 Washington Blvd.  
2nd Floor. 
Stamford, CT 06901. USA
Tel +1 203 324 2994 
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UPSTREAM

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16 
Postboks 1182 Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel red./salg +47 22 00 13 00

UPSTREAM REPRESENTATION

LONDON
7th Floor, 125 Wood Street
London EC2V 7AN,
United Kingdom
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 4150
 
HOUSTON
Two Memorial Plaza, 820 Gessner Suite 
775, Houston TX. 77024 USA
Tel +1 713 626 3113

SINGAPORE
20 Upper Circular Road
The Riverwalk 04-04
Singapore 058416
Tel 65 6557 0600

STAVANGER
Reidar Berges gate 9
N-4013 Stavanger, Norway
Tel +47 51 85 91 50

INTRAFISH MEDIA

BERGEN
Sandbrogaten 5-7
N-5003 Bergen, Norway
Tel +47 55 21 33 00

INTRAFISH MEDIA  
REPRESENTATION

OSLO
Chr. Krohgs gate 16, 
0186 Oslo, 
Norway
Tel +47 932 56 140

LONDON
125 Wood Street, 7th Floor, 
London, EC2V 7AN, 
United Kingdom
Tel +44 207 645 2334

PUERTO VARAS
PO BOX 1086 - Puerto Varas – Chile
Tel + 56 65 970123 

SEATTLE
701 Dexter Ave N ste 410, Seattle, WA 
98109, United States
Tel +1 206 282 3474 

SINGAPORE
20 Upper Circular Road, 
The Riverwalk #04-04, 
Singapore 058416
Tel +65 6557 0300 

FISKERIBLADET

BERGEN
Sandbrogaten 5-7
N-5003 Bergen, Norway
Tel +47 55 21 33 00

FBFI AVD. HARSTAD
Postboks 103, Sjøgata 7
9405 Harstad
Tel +47 77 05 90 00
 
FBFI AVD. TROMSØ 
Grønnegata 53, 9008 Tromsø
Tel +47 77 66 56 80
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RECHARGE

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182 Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 17 00
 
LONDON
7th Floor, 125 Wood Street
London EC2V 7AN
United Kingdom
Tel +44 (0) 20 7029 5700

EUROPOWER

OSLO
Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postboks 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00

ADDRESSES
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NHST MEDIA GROUP 
Christian Krohgs gate 16
P.O. Box 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Norge
Tlf +47 22 00 10 00
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